MASSACHUSETTS GAMING COMMISSION
PUBLIC MEETING# 340

March 25, 2021
10:00 a.m.

VIA CONFERENCE CALL NUMBER: 1-646-741-5293
PARTICIPANT CODE: 112488 7717

* % Kk Kk ok

Massachusetts Gaming Commission
101 Federal Street, 12'™ Floor, Boston, Massachusetts 02110 | TEL 617.979.8400 | FAX 617.725.0258 | www.massgaming._com




1SETTe
v i

4 :-‘“ M

NOTICE OF MEETING and AGENDA
March 25, 2021

PLEASE NOTE: Given the unprecedented circumstances resulting from the global
Coronavirus pandemic, Governor Charles Baker issued an order to provide limited relief from
certain provisions of the Open Meeting Law to protect the health and safety of individuals
interested in attending public meetings. In keeping with the guidance provided, the
Commission will conduct a public meeting utilizing remote collaboration technology. If there
is any technical problem with our remote connection, an alternative conference line will be
noticed immediately on our website: MassGaming.com.

Pursuant to the Massachusetts Open Meeting Law, G.L. c. 30A, §§ 18-25, notice is hereby
given of a meeting of the Massachusetts Gaming Commission. The meeting will take place:

Thursday, March 25, 2021
10:00 a.m.
Massachusetts Gaming Commission
VIA CONFERENCE CALL NUMBER: 1-646-741-5293
PARTICIPANT CODE: 112488 7717

All documents and presentations related to this agenda will be available for your review on the
morning of March 25, 2021 by clicking here.

PUBLIC MEETING - #340

1. Call to order.

2. Approval of Minutes
a. December 3, 2020
b. December 17, 2020

3. Administrative Update — Karen Wells, Executive Director

a. On-site Casino Updates — Loretta Lillios, Director of Investigations and
Enforcement Bureau; Bruce Band, Assistant Director, Gaming Agents Division
Chief

b. Gaming Agents Operation Update — Andrew Steffen, Sen. Supervising Gaming
Agent; Angela Smith, Sen. Supervising Gaming Agent; Luis Lozano, Sen.
Supervising Gaming Agent

c. TAGRA Conference Status Update — Karen Wells, Executive Director;
Commissioner Gayle Cameron

* % %k Kk
Massachusetts Gaming Commission
101 |‘1ttt{(fl';|| Hh'(f(‘.l‘, 1'.)."' |‘\[|'u'ar', Hrmmn, Mier;lL‘]'lllr:(“t'l'&Q 02110 | TEL 617.979.8400 | FAX 617.725.0258 | W \\4'.I(('\lf'\;l‘-‘;_:‘ﬁlltlaI:I:“,_"‘.&‘HEH



https://massgaming.com/news-events/article/mgc-open-meeting-March-25-2021-2/

4. Research and Responsible Gaming — Mark Vander Linden, Director of Research and
Responsible Gaming
a. MGM Springfield One Year Public Safety Report — Christopher Bruce, Crime
Analyst
b. Encore Boston Harbor One Year Public Safety Report — Christopher Bruce,
Crime Analyst

5. Community Affairs Division — Joe Delaney, Community Affairs Division Chief
a. Encore Boston Harbor Update on Workforce Employment Policy
b. MGM Springfield Update on Workforce Employment Policy

6. Investigations and Enforcement Bureau — Loretta Lillios, Director of Investigations and
Enforcement Bureau
a. MGM Springfield Individual Qualifier Determination of Suitability — Katherine
Hartigan, Senior Enforcement Counsel
VOTE
b. Report on IEB’s Assessment of Civil Administrative Penalty on MGM
Springfield — Loretta Lillios, Director of Investigations and Enforcement Bureau

7. Racing Division — Dr. Alex Lightbown, Director of Racing
a. Plainridge Park Racecourse Request for Approval of Racing Officials and Key
Operating Personnel - Dr. Alex Lightbown; Steve O’Toole, Director of Racing,
Plainridge Park Casino VOTE
b. Plainridge Park Racecourse Request for Waiver of 205 CMR 3.12(6)-Qualifying
Race Requirement — Dr. Alex Lightbown; Steve O’Toole, Director of Racing,
Plainridge Park Casino VOTE

8. Commissioner Updates

9. Other business — reserved for matters the Chair did not reasonably anticipate at the time of
posting.

10. The Commission anticipates that it will meet in executive session in accordance with G.L.
c.30A, §21(a)(7) to comply with G.L. ¢.23K, §21(a)(7) for the specific purpose of reviewing
the past and future capital expenditures [described in 205 CMR 139.09], and any
corresponding submitted multi-year plans, relative to Plainridge Park Casino, as discussion
of this matter in public would frustrate the purpose of the statute and associated legal
authorities. This matter is further governed by 205 CMR 139.02. The public session of the
Commission meeting will not reconvene at the conclusion of the executive session. VOTE

* Kk Kk Kk
Massachusetts Gaming Commission
101 Federal Street, 12 Floor, Boston, Massachusetts 02110 | TEL 617.979.8400 | FAX 617,725,0258 | WW \\4‘.'H:ﬂf‘\r"w}_:\”le'illi:‘.ﬂ"hﬁil




11. The Commission anticipates that it will meet in executive session in accordance with G.L.
c.30A, §21(a)(7) to comply with G.L. ¢.23K, §21(a)(7) for the specific purpose of reviewing
the past and future capital expenditures [described in 205 CMR 139.09], and any
corresponding submitted multi-year plans, relative to Encore Boston Harbor, as discussion of
this matter in public would frustrate the purpose of the statute and associated legal
authorities. This matter is further governed by 205 CMR 139.02. The public session of the
Commission meeting will not reconvene at the conclusion of the executive session. VOTE

12. The Commission anticipates that it will meet in executive session in accordance with G.L.
c.30A, §21(a)(7) to comply with G.L. ¢.23K, §21(a)(7) for the specific purpose of reviewing
the past and future capital expenditures [described in 205 CMR 139.09], and any
corresponding submitted multi-year plans, relative to MGM-Springfield, as discussion of this
matter in public would frustrate the purpose of the statute and associated legal authorities.
This matter is further governed by 205 CMR 139.02. The public session of the Commission
meeting will not reconvene at the conclusion of the executive session. VOTE

13. I certify that on this date, this Notice was posted as “Massachusetts Gaming Commission
Meeting” at www.massgaming.com and emailed to: regs@sec.state.ma.us,
melissa.andrade(@state.ma.us.

March 23, 2021 Cathy/fJutd fteud , Chair

Date Posted to Website: March 23, 2021 at 10:00 a.m.

* K Kk ok

Massachusetts Gaming Commission

101 Federal Street, 120 Floor, Boston, Massachusetts 02110 | TEL 617,979.8400 | FAX 617.725,0258 WWW, IASSZAMINE. COoMm



http://www.massgaming.com/
mailto:regs@sec.state.ma.us

Massachusetts Gaming Commission
Meeting Minutes

Date/Time: December 3, 2020 — 10:00 a.m.

Place: Massachusetts Gaming Commission
VIA CONFERENCE CALL NUMBER: 1-646-741-5292
MEETING ID: 111 141 8666

Present: Chair Cathy Judd-Stein
Commissioner Gayle Cameron
Commissioner Enrique Zuniga
Commissioner Bruce Stebbins
Commissioner Eileen O'Brien

Given the unprecedented circumstances, Governor Charles Baker issued an order to provide
limited relief from certain provisions of the Open Meeting Law to protect the health and safety of
the public and individuals interested in attending public meetings during the global Coronavirus
pandemic. In keeping with the guidance provided, the Commission conducted this public meeting

utilizing remote collaboration technology.

Call to Order

Chair Cathy Judd-Stein called to order public meeting #329 of the Massachusetts
Gaming Commission (Commission).

The Chair confirmed a quorum for the meeting with a Roll Call. The following
Commissioners were present:

Commissioner Cameron

Commissioner O'Brien

Commissioner Zuniga

Commissioner Stebbins

Chair Judd-Stein

Approval of Meeting Minutes

Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the minutes from the Commission
meeting of August 28, 2020, subject to correction for typographical errors and
other nonmaterial matters. Commissioner Cameron seconded the motion.

Page 1 of 11


https://youtu.be/hlGqJzhpzJ4
https://youtu.be/hlGqJzhpzJ4?t=33

Roll Call Vote:

Commissioner Cameron: Aye.
Commissioner O'Brien: Aye.
Commissioner Zuniga: Aye.
Commissioner Stebbins: Aye.
Chair Judd-Stein: Aye.

The motion passed unanimously.

Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the minutes from the Commission
meeting of September 3, 2020, subject to correction for typographical errors and
other nonmaterial matters. Commissioner Cameron seconded the motion.

Roll Call Vote:

Commissioner Cameron: Aye.
Commissioner O'Brien: Aye.
Commissioner Zuniga: Aye.
Commissioner Stebbins: Aye.
Chair Judd-Stein: Aye.

The motion passed unanimously.

Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the minutes from the Commission
meeting of November 9, 2020, subject to correction for typographical errors and
other nonmaterial matters. Commissioner O'Brien seconded the motion.

Roll Call Vote:

Commissioner Cameron: Aye.
Commissioner O'Brien: Aye.
Commissioner Zuniga: Aye.
Commissioner Stebbins: Aye.
Chair Judd-Stein: Aye.

The motion passed unanimously.

Administrative Update

Staffing Update

Executive Director Karen Wells introduced Nakisha Skinner as the new Licensing
Division Chief for the Commission. She noted Ms. Skinner's credentials, and the
Commission welcomed her to the agency.

Ms. Skinner stated that she is excited to be on board with the Commission and is
looking forward to working with the team and the casinos. She thanked everyone
for the warm welcome. Ms. Wells also offered thanks to CFAO Derek Lennon
for his temporary oversight and management of the Licensing Division.

On-Site Casino Updates

Interim IEB Director Loretta Lillios and Assistant IEB Director and Gaming
Agents Division Chief Bruce Band updated the Commission on current casino
operations.

Page 2 of 11


https://youtu.be/hlGqJzhpzJ4?t=205

Ms. Lillios stated that casino operations continued to go well over Thanksgiving
weekend. She described the closing process for the casinos to comply with the
Governor's 9:30 p.m. closing order, noted that hotels remain closed, and indicated
that three restaurants at Encore are offering beer and wine to go. She reported on
the communications plan for the casinos to inform the public about what to expect
when on-premises.

Ms. Lillios noted that MGM has been opening two hours earlier beginning at 8
a.m. She did note that MGM had its closing time posted as 10:00 p.m. on
Facebook and Instagram in error; however, that has been updated to 9:30 p.m.
However, MGM has been closing at 9:30 p.m. regardless of the posting error.

Mr. Band stated that things have been going very smoothly. He did clarify for
Commissioner Zuniga that any issues with entrance and exit procedures have
been resolved.

Racing Update

Executive Director Wells thanked everyone for a successful season. Director of
Racing Dr. Alexandra Lightbown thanked the staff, horsemen, and horsewomen
at Plainridge Park Casino (PPC) for the safe and sustainable reopening of the
racetrack. She provided an update of the recent meet and no catastrophic
accidents with the horses and a few human injury incidents that occurred. She
also reported on the successful $1.3 million Sire Stakes program, as well as other
programs that have also yielded successful payouts. There will be a carryover in
purse money into next year. This happened last year, which created the
opportunity to offer sizeable purses.

Dr. Lightbown noted several state records were broken this year, despite the
pandemic. The Chair noted the success of PPC's drive-in betting program to
continue operation during the pandemic.

Monday, April 12,2020, will begin the 110-day racing season that will conclude
after Thanksgiving 2021. Dr. Lightbown discussed the potential protocols for that
time and hoped they could open without restrictions.

Community Affairs Division

MGM Quarterly Report

With Division Chief Delaney out, Executive Director Wells introduced the MGM
Quarterly Report. MGM Vice President and General Counsel Seth Stratton;
MGM Director of Compliance, Daniel Miller, MGM Director of Human
Resources Jason Randall; and MGM Director of Finance Arlen Carballo
presented MGM's Q3 report to the Commission.

Page 3 0of 11


https://youtu.be/hlGqJzhpzJ4?t=1736

MGM staff presented a PowerPoint presentation, a copy of which is in the
Commissioners’ packet, to the Commission that illustrated each category of the
MGM Q3 Report.

Director Miller reviewed the compliance slides. Concerning the Compliance
category, Commissioner Cameron remarked that adverse incident numbers have
reduced significantly. She also commended MGM for their success here.

Next, Ms. Carballo reported on MGM's Operating Spend category. She stated
that the casino has a new Veteran Business Enterprise (VBE) vendor, which
accounts for growth in that category.

Ms. Carballo then corrected the Commonwealth spend, which is closer to 8% and
is $10M instead of $12.5M.

Mr. Randall reported on Employment Numbers for MGM concerning minorities,
veterans, women, Springfield residents, Western Massachusetts residents,
Commonwealth residents. Mr. Randall pointed to a drop in the number of women
employees. The Chair asked whether women were challenged because of the
need to be at home for childcare during this pandemic. He replied in the
affirmative.

Commissioner Stebbins asked about ongoing communications with furloughed
employees. Mr. Randall stated that management has been maintaining
communication with employees who have been furloughed and laid off, and that
there are a substantial number of employees who are moving on to employment
elsewhere.

Mr. Stratton reported on the Community Engagement category, citing
philanthropic goals and boosting employee morale. He summarized activities
carried out by staff in the third quarter, such as water donation at cooling centers,
books for Springfield Public Schools, and a backpack giveaway.

Next, Mr. Stratton updated the Commission on development projects. He stated
that the City of Springfield is completing renovation and remediation of the 31
Elm Street project. He added that Wahlburgers is on track for an opening in the
spring of 2021, and this will be mutually beneficial for them and the property. He
also reported on the progress of the Armory's activation, stating that there will be
no events until COVID-19 restrictions are lifted.

The Chair noted that July, August, and September are covered here so that the
next report will illustrate the impact of the updated COVID-19 restrictions on
MGM.

Plainridge Park Casino (PPC) Quarterly Report

Page 4 of 11


https://youtu.be/hlGqJzhpzJ4?t=3327

PPC General Manager North Grounsell; PPC Vice President of Marketing,
Michele Collins, PPC Vice President of Finance, Dana Fortney; PPC Vice
President of Operations, Mike Muller; PPC Vice President of Human Resources,
Kathy Lucas presented PPC's Q3 Quarterly Report to the Commissioners.

PPC staff presented a PowerPoint presentation, a copy of which is in the
Commissioners’ packet, to the Commission that illustrated each category of the
MGM Q3 Report. Mr. Grounsell provided a high-level overview of PPC's Q3
report.

Ms. Fortney led the slide presentation, reporting on the categories of gaming
revenue taxes, lottery sales, spend-by-state, local spend, vendor diversity (met or
exceeded all goals for this quarter), diverse spend. She noted new Women
Business Enterprises (WBE) have created an uptick in those numbers.

The Chair noted a decline of 53% in Minority Business Enterprises (MBE)
spending in Q3, and Ms. Fortney explained that this number is just a change in
what PPC's needs at this time.

Ms. Lucas reported on Compliance incidents and employment goals concerning
veterans, women, and minorities. Commissioner Stebbins noted the employment
differences between this quarter and the previous year. Commissioner Cameron
thanked PPC for their efforts on compliance.

Next, Mr. Lucas reported on PPC employment numbers for the supervisor level
and above. This concluded PPC's presentation.

Community Mitigation Reserve Grant and Workforce Modification
Program Manager Mary Thurlow; Director of Workforce, Supplier and Diversity
Development, Jill Griffin; and Program Manager Crystal Howard presented the
following items:

Melrose Reserve Grant

Ms. Thurlow described the application from the City of Melrose requesting the
use of its Reserve Grant balance. She stated that reserve applicants must come
before the Commission with their proposed project once it has been determined.
She stated that this grant relates to recommendations that arose out of the
Washington/Pleasant/West Wyoming Corridor Study, which is in close proximity
to the Oak Grove MBTA station.

She recommended that the Commission approve Melrose's request to use its
reserve balance for the purposes outlined in its application. She noted that
Commission staff will execute a grant agreement with the City of Melrose
following the Commission's approval.

Page 5 of 11


https://youtu.be/hlGqJzhpzJ4?t=4312

The Commissioners all concurred that this is an appropriate use of the funds. The
Chair stated that this could be used as an example in their workshops.

Commissioner O'Brien moved that the Commission approve the City of Melrose's
request to use the balance of its Reserve for the purposes outlined in its
application and execute a grant agreement with the City of Melrose, as included
in the Commissioners' Packet and as discussed at the meeting. Commissioner
Stebbins seconded the motion.

Roll Call Vote:

Commissioner Cameron: Aye.
Commissioner O'Brien: Aye.
Commissioner Stebbins: Aye.
Commissioner Zuniga: Aye.
Chair Judd-Stein: Aye.

The motion passed unanimously.

Proposal to Reconsider Approving Funding for BEST Hospitality via Mass
Hire Metro North

Ms. Griffin presented Mass Hire Metro North’s request that the Commission
reconsider a portion of the initial decision on this grant on June 25, 2020, to fund
English Language Training (ELT) programming run by BEST Hospitality
Training (BEST) in the amount of $60,000. The (unfunded) BEST line item in the
applicant's proposal included both occupational hospitality training and English
language training classes.

Ms. Howard further described the consideration for funding of the language
classes for a $350,000.00 award total. The Commissioners all concurred that this
IS an important item to approve.

Commissioner Stebbins moved that the Commission approve Mass Hire Metro
North's request to receive funding toward BEST's English Language Training
program in the amount of $60,000.00, as described in the Commissioners' Packet
as discussed at the meeting. Commissioner Cameron seconded the motion.

Roll Call Vote:

Commissioner Cameron: Aye.
Commissioner O'Brien: Aye.
Commissioner Stebbins: Aye.
Commissioner Zuniga: Aye.
Chair Judd-Stein: Aye.

The motion passed unanimously.

Legal Division and Investigations and Enforcement Bureau (IEB)

205 CMR 134.01: Key Gaming Employee Licensees and 205 CMR 134.02:
Gaming Employee Licensees

Page 6 of 11


https://youtu.be/hlGqJzhpzJ4?t=5079
https://youtu.be/hlGqJzhpzJ4?t=5079

Associate General Counsel Carrie Torrisi presented the proposed regulation
amendments to the two separate sections of the regulations and recommended that
they be adopted by emergency. She described the amendments including how
they will allow a gaming licensee to bring in staff from a sister property in an
emergency situation to work as key gaming employees and gaming employees,
respectively, without requiring Massachusetts licensure.

Commissioner Cameron moved that the Commission approve the Small Business
Impact Statement for 205 CMR 134.01: Key Gaming Employees, as included in
the Commissioners' Packet. Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.

Roll Call Vote:

Commissioner Cameron: Aye.
Commissioner O'Brien: Aye.
Commissioner Stebbins: Aye.
Commissioner Zuniga: Aye.
Chair Judd-Stein: Aye.

The motion passed unanimously.

Commissioner Cameron further moved that the Commission adopt the
amendments to 205 CMR 134.01: Key Gaming Employees on an emergency basis
as included in the Commissioners' Packet and authorized the staff to take all steps
necessary to begin the regulation promulgation process. Commissioner Stebbins
seconded the motion.

Roll Call Vote:

Commissioner Cameron: Aye.
Commissioner O'Brien: Aye.
Commissioner Stebbins: Aye.
Commissioner Zuniga: Aye.
Chair Judd-Stein: Aye.

The motion passed unanimously.

Commissioner Cameron moved that the Commission approve the Small Business
Impact Statement for 205 CMR 134.02: Gaming Employee Licensees, as included
in the Commissioners' Packet. Commissioner O’Brien seconded the motion.

Roll Call Vote:

Commissioner Cameron: Aye.
Commissioner O'Brien: Aye.
Commissioner Stebbins: Aye.
Commissioner Zuniga: Aye.
Chair Judd-Stein: Aye.

The motion passed unanimously.
Commissioner Cameron further moved that the Commission adopt the

amendments to 205 CMR 134.02: Gaming Employee Licensees on an emergency
basis as included in the Commissioners' Packet and authorized the staff to take all

Page 7 of 11



steps necessary to begin the regulation promulgation process. Commissioner
O'Brien seconded the motion.

Roll Call Vote:

Commissioner Cameron: Aye.
Commissioner O'Brien: Aye.
Commissioner Stebbins: Aye.
Commissioner Zuniga: Aye.
Chair Judd-Stein: Aye.

The motion passed unanimously.
Commissioner O'Brien left the meeting.
Legal Division

Legislative Filings Update

Todd Grossman, General Counsel, Jill Griffin, Director of Workforce, Supplier
and Diversity Development; Crystal Howard, Program Coordinator, Workforce,
Supplier and Diversity Development presented a comprehensive overview of a
number of legislative initiatives to the Commission.

Mr. Grossman reviewed a chart with the Commission of the legislation in
progress. The first item pertains to HB 301 which relates to charitable gaming
and the oversight of bazaars. He noted that the Commission is empowered to
regulate and enforce bazaars. Mr. Grossman confirmed that this bill is not a live
bill at this time. The Chair stated that it is worth revisiting this bill, and
Commissioner O'Brien concurred. She would like to review and see if it needs to
be resubmitted. Commissioners Zuniga, Stebbins, and Cameron also agreed.

Next, Mr. Grossman reviewed H.B. 13 related to parimutuel and simulcast
wagering. He described the most recent activity to this bill and noted that the
Commission has expressed its support for this proposal. Commissioner Zuniga
remarked that the legislature has chosen to address this one year at a time. But
given the industry's state, stakeholders have expressed the need for greater
certainty. He opined that it might be worthwhile to revisit, as much thought went
into it. Commissioner Cameron suggested that Commissioner O'Brien and the
Chair need the opportunity to review this in more detail.

Mr. Grossman then clarified the difference between H.B. 13 and H.B. 9 for the
Chair. He noted a different version proposed by Senator Boncore, based on the
model that the Commission proposed. The Chair is in favor of re-examining the
details of the bill and the original filing.

Commissioner O’Brien stepped away from the meeting.

Page 8 of 11


https://youtu.be/hlGqJzhpzJ4?t=5614

Commissioner Stebbins would like to begin outreach after January 1, 2021, to
hopefully refile the bill this year. Mr. Grossman will confirm the filing deadline
for the Commission.

Next, Mr. Grossman reviewed the status of the bill designed to address the
application of the Conflict of Interest Law to certain subcommittee members.
Several municipal officials have been selected to serve on these committees. The
State Ethics Commission worked with Commission staff to construct proposed
language to the law that would allow members to participate without conflict.
The latest version of this legislation is H.R. 14.

The Chair requested that the Commission continue a recurring cadence for the
review of legislative initiatives, and any other matters of interest to the
Commission. The Chair asked the commissioners to coordinate with her and Ms.
Griffin and designated Ms. Griffin as the point person for the outreach to external
stakeholders.

Commissioner O'Brien rejoined the meeting.
Finance Division

First Quarter Budget Update

Chief Financial Accounting Officer Derek Lennon and Revenue Manager Doug
O'Donnell presented the FY21 budget approved by the Commission. Mr. Lennon
then reviewed the projected expenses and first quarter review without any
necessary changes by the Commission.

Mr. Lennon noted that licensing fees might not meet projections for the first time,
namely employee licensing, as a result of business closures. The Commission
may need to make expenditure reductions in other areas in the future. Mr.
O'Donnell reported on the billing for all casinos and the independent monitor. He
stated that they have all been excellent with timely monthly payments throughout
the pandemic.

Commissioner Cameron stated that Massachusetts State Police Captain Brian
Connors is keenly monitoring the Massachusetts State Police's overtime. Mr.
Lennon said that they have been meeting with Captain Connors and the licensees
on this, and the collaboration with the casinos has been excellent.

Commissioner Updates
Annual Report

Commissioner Zuniga reviewed the revised version of the Annual Report. The
Chair offered some edits to the Chair’s letter.

Page 9 of 11


https://youtu.be/hlGqJzhpzJ4?t=7840
https://youtu.be/hlGqJzhpzJ4?t=8556

NogakowdhE

10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.

Commissioner O'Brien commented on edits made and other items she wants to
see in this report. She stated sports betting should be on the agenda regularly to
discuss and stay informed, even though it is not appropriate to have it in this
report.

Commissioner Stebbins added that he would like to elevate the profile of PPC's
relicensing in the annual report.

After all edits are received, the Director of Communications will work with the
vendors to finalize the report.

With no further business, Commissioner Zuniga moved to adjourn. Commissioner
Cameron seconded the motion.

Roll Call Vote:

Commissioner Stebbins: Aye.
Commissioner O'Brien: Aye.
Commissioner Zuniga: Aye.
Commissioner Stebbins: Aye.
Chair Judd-Stein: Aye.

The motion passed unanimously.

List of Documents and Other Items Used

Notice of Meeting and Agenda dated December 3, 2020

Draft Commission Meeting Minutes dated August 28, 2020

Draft Commission Meeting Minutes dated September 3, 2020

Draft Commission Meeting Minutes dated November 9, 2020

MGM Q3 2020 Report dated December 3, 2020

Memorandum re: Melrose Reserve Grant and attachments, dated November 30, 2020
City of Melrose Public Works Department Specification & Contract Documents 2019-
2020

Memorandum: 2020 Community Mitigation Fund — Workforce Development: Proposal
to reconsider approving funding for BEST Hospitality via Mass Hire Metro North dated
November 18, 2020, and related documents

205 CMR 134.01: Key Gaming Employee Licensees Draft Small Business Impact
Statement

205 CMR 134.01 Regulation Cover Sheet

205 CMR 134.01 Draft Regulation

205 CMR 134.02: Gaming Employee Licensees Draft Small Business Impact Statement
205 CMR 134.02 Regulation Cover Sheet

205 CMR 134.02 Draft Regulation

Legislative Initiatives Chart

FY21 First Quarterly Update

Attachment A FY21 Actuals Spending and Revenue dated October 1, 2020

Page 10 of 11






Massachusetts Gaming Commission
Meeting Minutes

Date/Time: December 17, 2020 — 10:00 a.m.

Place: Massachusetts Gaming Commission
VIA CONFERENCE CALL NUMBER: 1-646-741-5292
MEETING ID: 112 738 6776

Present: Chair Cathy Judd-Stein
Commissioner Gayle Cameron
Commissioner Enrique Zuniga
Commissioner Bruce Stebbins
Commissioner Eileen O'Brien

Given the unprecedented circumstances, Governor Charles Baker issued an order to provide
limited relief from certain provisions of the Open Meeting Law to protect the health and safety of
the public and individuals interested in attending public meetings during the global Coronavirus
pandemic. In keeping with the guidance provided, the Commission conducted this public meeting

utilizing remote collaboration technology.

Call to Order

Chair Cathy Judd-Stein called to Order public meeting #330 of the Massachusetts
Gaming Commission (Commission).

The Chair confirmed a quorum for the meeting with a Roll Call. The following
Commissioners were present:

Commissioner Cameron
Commissioner O'Brien
Commissioner Zuniga
Commissioner Stebbins
Chair Judd-Stein

The Chair made remarks regarding the year with COVID-19. She also announced
that this was the final scheduled meeting for Commissioner Stebbins. The
Commissioners provided their sentiments about Commissioner Stebbins's
departure.

Page 1 of 13



https://youtu.be/iE6qcmBIwOQ

Approval of Meeting Minutes

Commissioner Stebbins moved to approve the minutes from the Commission
meeting of November 3, 2020, subject to correction for typographical errors and
other nonmaterial matters. Commissioner Cameron seconded the motion. No
edits were recommended.

Roll Call Vote:

Commissioner Cameron: Aye.
Commissioner O'Brien: Aye.
Commissioner Zuniga: Aye.
Commissioner Stebbins: Aye.
Chair Judd-Stein: Aye.

The motion passed 5-0
The Chair also remarked on the departure of Paralegal Shara Bedard.
Administrative Update

Staffing Update

Executive Director (ED) Karen Wells recognized Commissioner Stebbins and
Paralegal Shara Bedard's departure from the office. General Counsel Todd
Grossman offered a farewell message to Shara as well.

ED Wells commented on COVID-19 Order #57 issued by Governor Baker and
reported that Massachusetts SJC recently upheld the Governor's use of emergency
powers in Desrosiers v. Governor of Massachusetts.

On-Site Casino Updates

Investigations and Enforcement Bureau (IEB) Interim Director/Chief
Enforcement Counsel (ID) Loretta Lillios, with IEB Assistant Director/Gaming
Agents Division Chief (AD) Bruce Band, reported on current casino operations to
the Commission.

Per Ms. Lillios, the three casino properties and their patrons continued to comply
with COVID-19 health and safety measures. Ms. Lillios reported her observations
while on-site at Encore Boston Harbor (EBH) on December 11, 2020, and
believed they are consistent with the properties' reports.

Mr. Band reported the Gaming Agents' observations over the past few weeks and
noted that the three properties had not exceeded capacity limits. Mr. Band
commended the efforts of all the casino properties to uphold COVID-19
protocols.

Page 2 of 13


https://youtu.be/iE6qcmBIwOQ?t=1311

Ms. Lillios provided an update on the positive COVID-19 cases reported by the
licensees and provided a brief overview of the protocols followed when positive
cases are reported. Since June 23, 2020, the IEB has received notification of 80
positive cases across the three properties. Ms. Lillios noted that many employees
believed they contracted COVID-19 from a household member, and there are no
concerning trends in employee outbreaks in any particular area of the casinos. The
Chair, Commissioner Cameron, and Commissioner O'Brien provided remarks.

Ms. Lillios also provided information on a Notice of Non-Compliance issued by
the IEB to EBH on December 4, 2020. The Notice addressed over-service of
alcoholic beverages to patrons on three instances that occurred August 2, 2020,
August 29, 2020, September 4, 2020. All three incidents had similar fact patterns,
and each patron exhibited observable signs of intoxication. Notice of Non-
Compliance is a prerequisite to a monetary penalty, and any future incidents will
result in a fine.

Mr. Band and Senior Enforcement Counsel (SEC) Katherine Hartigan further
addressed the steps that EBH will take to prevent alcohol over-service in the
future. Recommendations to ensure compliance fall into four categories: training,
enhanced communication, physical improvements, and employee discipline.
Commissioners Cameron made inquiries regarding the licensee's responsiveness
to corrective actions, and Commissioner O'Brien made additional suggestions
regarding enhanced communication amongst employees. Mr. Band is reviewing
submissions to determine whether approved internal controls memorialized a
communication protocol between dealers at the end of their shift.

EBH Senior Vice President and General Counsel (SVP) Jacqui Krum informed
the Commission that they share their concern over this issue, and overservice is
not acceptable.

Ms. Lillios described an incident that occurred at Mystique inside EBH, on
December 6, 2020. In identifying the COVID-19 compliance issues, management
closed the restaurant early, and on December 14, 2020, Mystiqgue management
ultimately decided to close the restaurant until 2021. Due to management's
decision, the IEB will not need to take any corrective action. According to Ms.
Lillios, management was cooperative with GEU and the Gaming Agents. The
2021 reopening of Mystique will be subject to IEB approval. Commissioners
O'Brien and Cameron provided remarks regarding floor configuration and
training, and the Chair clarified that management decided to close and it was not
the result of an IEB investigation.

Page 3 of 13



Research and Responsible Gaming

Encore Construction Report

Director Mark Vander Linden, Principal Investigator Dr. Rachel VVolberg, and
Senior Research Manager Rod Motamedi from the UMass Donahue Institute were
present to provide an overview of the Encore Construction Report. As directed by
Section 71 of Chapter 23K, MGC develops an annual research agenda to
understand gambling's social and economic effects in Commonwealth. The
Encore Construction Report is an analysis of $1.6 billion direct costs associated
with building the casino. It measures the economic ripple effect across the state
and reports on critical aspects of the construction workforce.

Mr. Motamedi provided a presentation regarding the key points of the report. The
objective study focused on $1.6 billion of construction, not the total investment of
EBH, which was $2.1 billion. This report did not focus on license application
fees, land purchase, preopening expenses, furniture fixtures & equipment. The
data provided was current at the time of the delivery; however, they may have
slight modifications due to the conclusion of construction.

Key findings included the following: almost 75% of construction spending went
to Massachusetts businesses, firms meeting a least one diversity criteria received
13% of the expenditures, $1.6 billion created $2.6 billion of total economic
activity, the average worker received $36,500 in compensation for the project
with a $47.89/hour wage, and Massachusetts has a 30% or higher wage than the
national average for construction workers.

Mr. Motamedi also reported that workers on this project as a whole were more
diverse than other Massachusetts construction sites; 75% of the workforce was
white, 7% were women, and 6% were veterans.

Commissioner Zuniga inquired about costs that had been excluded from the
analysis, such as licensing fees and land purchase. Commissioner Cameron made
additional comments about the female workforce percentage. SVP Krum provided
comments and expressed gratitude for the valuable data this project revealed.
Commissioner Stebbins remarked on the data and inquired about the 4% overseas
costs. SVP Krum confirmed that these costs are from unique items made overseas.

Racing Division

Suffolk Downs Request for 2020 Premium Free Period

Dr. Alex Lightbown presented Suffolk Downs' request for a premium free period
from October 10, 2020, through December 31, 2020 as described in G.L. c. 128C.

Page 4 of 13


https://youtu.be/iE6qcmBIwOQ?t=4245
https://youtu.be/iE6qcmBIwOQ?t=8085

Commissioner Cameron moved that the Commission approve Suffolk Downs’
request for a premium free period from October 10, 2020, through and including
December 31, 2020. Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.

Commissioner Zuniga asked for clarification on this request. Dr. Lightbown
explained that due to a lack of new racing legislation, they wanted to record what
this year would have been like, and the 2021 season will be addressed at a later
date.

Roll Call Vote:

Commissioner Cameron: Aye.
Commissioner O'Brien: Aye.
Commissioner Stebbins: Aye.
Commissioner Zuniga: Aye.
Chair Judd-Stein: Aye.

The motion passed unanimously.
Suffolk Downs Request for Approval of Simulcast Import Location

Dr. Lightbown presented the simulcast locations that Suffolk Downs would like to
use in 2021 and recommends that the Commission approve the request.

The Chair inquired about the timing of this request and simulcast legislation. Dr.
Lightbown explained that until Suffolk Downs is not allowed to simulcast, they
would use the specified locations for simulcast.

Commissioner Stebbins moved that the Commission approve the simulcast import
locations requested by Suffolk Downs and identified in the attachment to its
November 2020 letter. Commissioner Cameron seconded the motion.

Roll Call Vote:

Commissioner Cameron: Aye.
Commissioner O'Brien: Aye.
Commissioner Stebbins: Aye.
Commissioner Zuniga: Aye.
Chair Judd-Stein: Aye.

The motion passed unanimously.

Suffolk Downs Request for Approval of Account Wagering Providers

Dr. Lightbown presented the account wagering providers request from Suffolk
Downs and noted that the Commission had approved these providers in the past.
Additionally, she stated that due to the rebranding of Xpressbet, that name and
1/ST Bet are included in the request to avoid future confusion. Dr. Lightbown
recommended approval of this request.

Page 5 of 13



Commissioner Zuniga moved that the Commission approve the Suffolk Downs
request for approval of Xpressbet also known as 1/ST Bet, TVG, Twinspires,
NYRA Bets, and FanDuel Racing as their account wagering providers.
Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.

Roll Call Vote:

Commissioner Cameron: Aye.
Commissioner O'Brien: Aye.
Commissioner Stebbins: Aye.
Commissioner Zuniga: Aye.
Chair Judd-Stein: Aye.

The motion passed unanimously.
Suffolk Downs Request for Approval of Mbet

Dr. Lightbown presented another request from Suffolk Downs to the Commission.
This request pertained to the use of Mbet, a web-based mobile betting platform.
Senior Financial Analyst Chad Bourque and COO of Suffolk Downs Chip Tuttle
were also present to discuss this request. Dr. Lightbown explained the Mbet
application, which would allow a patron to access the MTote system from
wherever they are inside Suffolk Downs. Mbet provides convenience for patrons
and allows for a primarily touchless experience that is helpful due to COVID-19.

Mr. Bourque further explained MBet and reported that the MBet application
would only be accessible via Suffolk Downs Wi-Fi network to keep wagering
within the property's confines.

Commissioner Cameron inquired about the reach of Wi-Fi network into the
facility's parking lot. Mr. Tuttle stated that the Wi-Fi would work on the apron but
not out in the parking lot; however, he offered to run additional tests if the
Commission requested. Commissioner Cameron did not feel that was necessary.

Commissioner Stebbins sought clarification on the availability of funds if a patron
forgot to cash out their account before leaving the facility. COO Tuttle explained
that a ticket is provided to a patron when using MBet, and redeemed in the same
way as a regular ticket.

Commissioner O'Brien queried what would happen if a patron did not spend all of
the money they initially deposited with the cashier and what difference if any,
there was between the money spent and money not used. COO Tulttle stated that
the balance would remain on the patron's ticket, like a regular ticket, and reports
there is no distinction between the funds that remain on the ticket.

Page 6 of 13



Dr. Lightbown described the ticket claim process that the patron would have to
complete. Mr. Tuttle added that this not like an ADW account and is essentially
turning one’s mobile device into a self-service betting terminal for the day.

Commissioner Cameron moved that the Commission approve the use of MBet by
Suffolk Downs as discussed at the meeting. Commissioner Stebbins seconded the

motion.

Roll Call Vote:

Commissioner Cameron: Aye.
Commissioner O'Brien: Aye.
Commissioner Stebbins: Aye.
Commissioner Zuniga: Aye.
Chair Judd-Stein: Aye.

The motion passed unanimously.
2019 Annual Racing Report

Dr. Lightbown presented the 2019 Annual Racing Report, which included
milestones such as the last year for live racing at Suffolk Downs, and Chief
Commission Steward Susan Walsh’s receipt of the Peterson Outstanding Steward
Award from the Racing Officials Accreditation Program. Dr. Lightbown reported
that the PPC racing statistics were similar to the year before, and Suffolk Downs
statistics were based on six days of racing versus eight days of racing in 2018. It
also notes that the Commission adjudicated two appeals, a hearing officer denied
one appeal, one appeal request was withdrawn, one waiver was granted, and one
matter is ongoing.

Mr. Bourque reviewed the report's financial information with the Commission and
made a note of two adjustments. The first adjustment was to the amount
distributed to the Thoroughbred Accounts from the Racehorse Development
Fund. The amount will be $4,427,000, bringing total disbursements to
$15,421,154. The second adjustment is the Suffolk Downs Capital Improvement
Fund, which will be $1,062,000, and that RFR payments will be $101,000,
bringing the ending balance to $2,590,000. These adjustments will be reflected in
the report and posted to the Commission’s website.

Legal Division

Associate General Counsel Carrie Torrisi presented three regulations to the
Commission for a final vote to complete the promulgation process.

205 CMR 146.13: Blackjack Table; Card Reader Device, Physical
Characteristics; Inspections

Page 7 of 13


https://youtu.be/iE6qcmBIwOQ?t=11156

The first regulation presented was 205 CMR 146.13, which addresses table
characteristics for the blackjack tables. It clarifies that the blackjack table layout
is required to read that the game pays at odds of 3:2 or 6:5 depending on what
odds are being offered at that particular table. The Commission voted on October
8, 2020, to begin the promulgation process for this regulation. A public hearing
was held on December 17, 2020, and presided over by Commissioner Stebbins.
No comments were received at the public hearing, and no written comments were
submitted. Attorney Torrisi sought a Commission vote on the amended Small
Business Impact Statement and the regulation to finalize the promulgation
process.

Commissioner Stebbins moved that the Commission approve the amended Small
Business Impact Statement for 205 CMR 146.13: Blackjack Table; Card Reader
device; Physical Characteristics; Inspections as included in the Commissioners’
packet. Commissioner Cameron seconded the motion.

Roll Call Vote:

Commissioner Cameron: Aye.
Commissioner O'Brien: Aye.
Commissioner Stebbins: Aye.
Commissioner Zuniga: Aye.
Chair Judd-Stein: Aye.

The motion passed unanimously.

Commissioner Stebbins further moved that the Commission adopt the final draft
of 205 CMR 146.13: Blackjack Table; Card Reader device; Physical
Characteristics; Inspections as included in the Commissioners’ packet, and
authorize the staff to take all steps necessary to finalize the regulation
promulgation process. Commissioner Cameron seconded the motion.

Roll Call Vote:

Commissioner Cameron: Aye.
Commissioner O'Brien: Aye.
Commissioner Stebbins: Aye.
Commissioner Zuniga: Aye.
Chair Judd-Stein: Aye.

The motion passed unanimously.

Adoption of 205 CMR 153.00: Community Mitigation Fund

This new regulation codifies the procedures and guidelines for the administration
of and distributions from the Community Mitigation Fund, including an annual
review of the guidelines, a procedure for entities seeking emergency
appropriations, minimum requirements for the execution of the grant instrument,
and the assessment of reasonable administrative costs to the Fund. The
Commission voted on October 22, 2020, to begin the promulgation process. A
public hearing for this regulation was also held on December 17, 2020, and was

Page 8 of 13



also presided over by Commissioner Stebbins. Again, no verbal or written
comments were received.

Commissioner Stebbins added that the regulation changes were brought before the
Local Community Mitigation Advisory Committees and the Subcommittee on
Community Mitigation. At all three meetings, there was support expressed by the
committee members for the changes.

Commissioner Zuniga moved that the Commission approve the amended Small
Business Impact Statement for 205 CMR 153: Community Mitigation Fund as

included in the Commissioners’ packet. Commissioner Cameron seconded the

motion.

Roll Call Vote:

Commissioner Cameron: Aye.
Commissioner O'Brien: Aye.
Commissioner Stebbins: Aye.
Commissioner Zuniga: Aye.
Chair Judd-Stein: Aye.

The motion passed unanimously.

Commissioner Zuniga further moved that the Commission approve the final draft
of 205 CMR 153: Community Mitigation Fund as included in the Commissioners’
packet and authorize the step to finalize the regulation promulgation process.
Commissioner Cameron seconded the motion.

Roll Call Vote:

Commissioner Cameron: Aye.
Commissioner O'Brien: Aye.
Commissioner Stebbins: Aye.
Commissioner Zuniga: Aye.
Chair Judd-Stein: Aye.

The motion passed unanimously

Amendments to 205 CMR 133.00: Voluntary Self-Exclusion

Several administrative changes were proposed to this regulation to ensure
uniformity in managing and maintaining the voluntary self-exclusion list. These
changes included specifying who may be deemed a designated agent and have
access to the list, clarifying the application’s contents, and refining the
qualification requirements for the providers of services offered by the voluntary
self-exclusion program. This regulation was initially before the Commission on
October 22, 2020. At that meeting, the Commission voted to begin the
promulgation process. This regulation was also part of the public hearing held on
December 17, 2020. No verbal or written comments about the proposed changes
were received. Attorney Torrisi requested a vote by the Commission on the

Page 9 of 13



amended Small Business Impact Statement and amendments to the regulation
included in the Commissioners packet.

Commissioner O'Brien moved that the Commission approve the amended Small
Business Impact Statement for 205 CMR 133: Voluntary Self-Exclusion as
included in the Commissioners’ packet. Commissioner Stebbins seconded the
motion.

Roll Call Vote:

Commissioner Cameron: Aye.
Commissioner O'Brien: Aye.
Commissioner Stebbins: Aye.
Commissioner Zuniga: Aye.
Chair Judd-Stein: Aye.

The motion passed unanimously.

Commissioner O'Brien further moved that the Commission approve the final draft
of 205 CMR 133: Voluntary Self-Exclusion as included in the Commissioners’
packet and authorize staff to finalize the regulation promulgation process.
Commissioner Stebbins seconded the motion.

Roll Call Vote:

Commissioner Cameron: Aye.
Commissioner O'Brien: Aye.
Commissioner Stebbins: Aye.
Commissioner Zuniga: Aye.
Chair Judd-Stein: Aye.

The motion passed unanimously

Ms. Torrisi also informed the Commission that the VVoluntary Self-Exclusion and
petition for removal forms were edited to align with these changes to the
regulations. No formal action was required regarding these changes.

Review of Proposed Comprehensive Amendments to the Enhanced Code of
Ethics for adoption as part of an update Third Edition

Mr. Grossman provided a review of the proposed revisions to the Enhanced Code
of Ethics. The Chair, Commissioner Stebbins, and Mr. Grossman worked in
collaboration to review the Code and propose edits. The edits generally
clarify/update existing language, remove any unnecessary language, and
reorganize the presentation of information.

The Commissioners and Mr. Grossman had an in-depth discussion regarding the
proposed amendments as reflected in the document in the Commissioners’ packet.
There was specific discussion about the language in Section 7, "Definitions"
pertaining to "an individual's interests in less than one percent of publicly traded
companies . .. ." Mr. Grossman proposed possibly removing the language as

Page 10 of 13


https://youtu.be/iE6qcmBIwOQ?t=11756
https://youtu.be/iE6qcmBIwOQ?t=11756

superfluous, as there is already existing law that prohibits certain stock
ownership. Commissioner Zuniga sought clarification on the language's intent, as
he interprets this to apply to all publicly traded companies. Mr. Grossman
suggested discussing this matter at a later date as it is not an urgent matter.

Extensive discussion took place relative to conflicts of interest and specifically
when certain disclosures are/will be required. In Section 9, "Conflicts of Interest,"”
a noteworthy edit was made that required Commissioners to file any disclosures
with their appointing authority rather than with the executive director. Under the
amendment, Commissioners would be required to publicly announce that a
disclosure was filed. All the Commissioners agreed with the changes.

Additionally, in reference to Section 11, "Gifts," the Chair reiterated the need for
Commissioners to file a disclosure in advance of receiving any outside travel
related funding or waiver of fees.

While reviewing Section 24, "Violations," Commissioners discussed the duty to
report certain matters pertaining to another Commissioner to the Governor. The
Commissioners agreed with the changes as presented in the Commission meeting
materials.

Commissioner O'Brien moved that the Commission vote to adopt the proposed
comprehensive amendments to the Enhanced Code of Ethics. Commissioner
Zuniga seconded the motion and noted that there will be a future discussion about
the publicly traded company's matter.

Roll Call Vote:

Commissioner Cameron: Aye.
Commissioner O'Brien: Aye.
Commissioner Stebbins: Aye.
Commissioner Zuniga: Aye.
Chair Judd-Stein: Aye.

The motion passed unanimously.
Commissioner Updates

Discussion of Executive Director Evaluation Form and Process

Commissioner O'Brien led the discussion on the Executive Director Evaluation
Form and evaluation process. She explained that the form was changed to reflect
the calendar year 2020 and proposed adding three new sections to this year's
evaluation. Commissioner Stebbins added that the additional sections would allow
the Commission to understand where the ED wants to improve professionally and
what goals she intends to set for the agency.

The Chair inquired about the change from fiscal to calendar year review. Further
discussion was recommended for January 14, 2021, regarding the review cycle

Page 11 of 13


https://youtu.be/iE6qcmBIwOQ?t=16444

and whether it will change back to a fiscal cycle in the future. Commissioner
Zuniga believes that the cycle type is a matter of preference.

Commissioner O'Brien recommended individual assessments from each
Commissioner rather than just one summarized review. Commissioner Zuniga
inquired whether there would still be a compilation of reviews from HR.
Commissioner O'Brien explained that having a numerical scoring system plus
comments from each Commissioner would be more helpful than having someone
in HR trying to decide how to merge everyone's comments subjectively.

The Chair asked Commissioner O'Brien to provide further input on the forms
during the January 14, 2021 Commission meeting and to discuss timing and next
steps at the next agenda setting meeting. Commissioner O'Brien stated that she
would also like to get input from ED Wells on how long it would take to complete
her self-evaluation.

Commissioner Stebbins offered farewell remarks.

3:28 p.m. With no further business, Commissioner Stebbins moved to adjourn.

Commissioner Zuniga seconded the motion.

Roll Call Vote:

Commissioner Stebbins: Aye.

Commissioner O'Brien: Aye.

Commissioner Zuniga: Aye.

Commissioner Stebbins: Aye.

Chair Judd-Stein: Aye.

™=

The motion passed unanimously.

List of Documents and Other Items Used

Notice of Meeting and Agenda dated December 17, 2020

Draft Commission Meeting Minutes November 3, 2020

PowerPoint Presentation: The Construction of Encore Boston Harbor: Spending,
Employment, and Economic Impacts dated December 17, 2020

The Construction of Encore Boston Harbor: Spending, Employment, and Economic
Impacts Report dated November 17, 2020

Memorandum Re: Suffolk Downs Request for Premium Free Period dated December 17,
2020

Memorandum Re: Suffolk Downs Request for Approval of Simulcast Import Locations
dated December 17, 2020

Memorandum Re: Suffolk Downs Request for Approval of Account Deposit Wagering
Providers dated December 17, 2020

Memorandum Re: Suffolk Downs Request for Approval of MBet dated December 17,
2020

Division of Racing 2019 Annual Report Year Ending December 31, 2019

Page 12 of 13


https://youtu.be/iE6qcmBIwOQ?t=17385

10.

11.

12.

13.
14.

15.
16.
17.
18.

Amended Small Business Impact Statement relative to the amendment to 205 CMR
146:00: Gaming Equipment in its Section 13: Blackjack Table; Card Reader Device;
Physical Characteristics; Inspections

205 CMR 146:00: Gaming Equipment in its Section 13: Blackjack Table; Card Reader
Device; Physical Characteristics; Inspections and Regulation Review Checklist
Amended Small Business Impact Statement relative to the amendment to 205 CMR
153:00: Community Mitigation Fund

205 CMR 153:00: Community Mitigation Fund and Regulation Review Checklist
Amended Small Business Impact Statement relative to 205 CMR 133.00: Voluntary Self-
Exclusion

205 CMR 133.00: Voluntary Self- Exclusion

Massachusetts Voluntary Self-Exclusion Enrollment Form

Massachusetts Voluntary Self-Exclusion Petition for Removal

Enhanced Code of Ethics, Third Edition dated December 17, 2020

Page 13 of 13



Assessing the Impact of
Gambling on Public
Safety in Massachusetts

UPDATES ON MGM SPRINGFIELD AND

ENCORE BOSTON HARBOR
Christopher W. Bruce

Crime analysis consultant




Agenda

Review of MGM 18-month findings through February 2020

Review of Encore 8-month findings through February 2020
COVID closure period for both casinos (March —July 2020)
COVID reopening for Encore (July — December 2020)s

Future of the project




Hotetd
Anbiesd

Souts Al

Lo

£ Uil My

T T
_ Town ol "—/1
Thema Iy
3 ‘ Ludiose
5 MG M Springfield
\ 1




General Trends

Shoplifting high, driven by stores in Chicopee and Holyoke [874 vs. pred.
746-814]

Drunk driving mostly seems to suggest greater enforcement with some
extra contributions from MGM [312 vs. pred. 133-254].

Liquor laws increased, mostly open containers, consistent with extra
stops/enforcement [111 vs. pred. 73-97]

Fraud and identity theft are high, but seem to be statewide issues

Trends that disappeared
° Any increases in traffic collisions (“winter without a winter”)

° Increases in domestic violence
o West Springfield suspicious activity/disturbances near bridges
o Springfield/Longmeadow/East Longmeadow residential thefts



Purse Snatching in West Springfield
September-December 2018

=T M AYE -

12 famed

o WEST SF’RII\

#nwaad | n
.
3
<)

Skylina Dr

Apple Ridgy py

rﬂ"ql@




p e/

-
Emiy
B

Purse Snatching in Springfield

\) DY
N
4, B
) 090‘?0 %) _‘%‘
. - \S % () 5
08/26/20 1903. 09:00 et % O ©
& 40,, e -
& %" < =
* S a
eptemper -deptemper & -
& »
& 5
o =\ o
* 8 RN » v
N N
iy {
2 > 08
-+ = S 2
¥h = \ - 3
S ﬁl141203&,'08:57:00 % 2
Z
WG e, 7]
Armmarty Nato sl N ":‘:::"T:m‘ —3- -
Simmciaa Pyt Hiswre Sie P:“’ w
\"‘ e
o g s
* 5
=% o »
Ca - w
7% o =
%
S Orlean3 ch
.\,
<
&
> carpente! e
-
V
%, o5 \(\e\
3, % % &
“ g N % >
¢ 5 " 04/10/2018 15:01;00
& o 09/04/2018 18:18:00 101 &
5 ‘3 7 Cundrang s o 12
y ¢ i® > Sk « 4 Old Hill
3 Cant Pam S %, - O
@Q Cantor o e . o, < %
S Sauam ‘)\° > o, + < ol <
o 2 o o 8
Phark 3 5 % 2
& ¥ % 3 = &
Mar ok ! 2 ~IET - 'S
oll_ Pad c"’h Spn nghokl % P
¥, @, ! o~ Cematary ® =
e rquae 2 % G " v
; L7 eo\v =
4 > P &
vd & A N & +2 7 $
& Springfield ) & ¢® 24
5 &
o
\.‘s \,‘3‘ s, 2 b‘, .
N \,//() 40,0 Q\ 4 " = Ashiey St
¢ i > $ 2 v w 3
& % :’ ‘ <0 & i1 =
<& o YL 3 -3
< & & g
& [ [ Z
< ™
>F % Ceay,, florence S
5 o Ly
3 MGM Springfield S RATK & e L
Riverfunt e S & & & '~
Ptk & o & & & & P
g < & o < !.4 &
4\\\" 4\@ ‘}0\ o=
ALY o & 08/21/2019 03:31:00 Pine 8t ce
i & ‘r— .~ & o >
S ‘\\‘Lo 6‘6 Q‘d &
TS &

2
2 S,

o

South End >

g
N

Rt‘/leQ

12

Windsor St

IS 18104
M
"r'es



Mitchell ' 82
4

r - .
< “ - F ot P ~ W 2
' - - g 2 mwah ik
L4 <t W \ &

Purse Snatching in Holyoke Q°§£2°’2°19 04:11:00
i 07119/2019 1580500 Sy

© September 2018-September 2019 ® &%

=

5
43 it o O o o
5 ‘ &
a “ T Sutsis St G;- .
o o
; g 7 -
'S R Y S6c sz
< b”.’\ Lo 7)0 Za. =ark
A o RN
& 5% % ,
. 2 ‘e <
; 2y PR 3 ¥4 -r,,/;'
) ~ ) - s
g £ / €3 3
ot S, v < Hampden < ‘
& e ‘o & = O <
] o 03 ! 84; < ::—',v 'S‘),’ Park fa y S :" ’_.\'T'.
& Gl 7 y S @ & o p R -
& 4 G .S‘\P v /‘)/ /)‘ ~x '\; < J
o 7 < o
4 v .
4 S ‘. 05/07/2019 18:40:0 e
s/ & v 5 N5 T N N
. & Holyo® s, & 3
¢ < ’
S 07/28/2019 13:26: 00 & oy ol
rd -~ 7 © &
% ® 3 @ 05/17/2019 16:17:00 .. &
-~ R o v
141 _~;~‘? + A of .";\
i . < ) ! “»
% HOLYOKE RO
(LYY 11/10/2018 07:53:00 five)
4".'\ N v “?;‘n \ -t
N e X o
,_\w & "/;/'} 2 A
\)"P-' ] ~ o mge Park
" o )
L= 0‘. . 4
R Y
& s
& 7 i/ o
’v, ,fl v
A %
> o~ s
‘i'{. > $
& i,
Q> q
[
05 I
)
~ar Lo, 2 11
T
l?"
y
4 g
3 Mg
) 1 ®hp =
o, b’/,. 4] ,
/}' j’, -
. ‘Yo, ,"f;,". % %
2 7 Do ¥ A v
h @ %, ), 11¢ Souwy H
“hy .,-j-l £ Sy Pa 0 <
2 ’«-
¥

et
5
K




5 g
'3‘“1
. W s . .
. 11/26/2019 23:19:00 Purse Snatching in Holyoke
H : £ / & September 2019-February 2020
e £ : o &% &
H E 3 2 s & s
5 ° : 5 2 £
3 =

Faresidak Ava
|| |

Saint Sérama Ayh

/
/

Crescent St



i
N
I

E



250

200

150

100

5

=

=

Traffic Complaints on Area Highways

[-391 [-291

mAvg m 2020

Hwy 5

Hwy 57



Drunk driving evidence

* Many communities reported increases in arrests, particularly in early
months of 2020

* Crashes with drunk driving offense are slightly high

* MGM appears 7 times amid “last drink” adjudications




il

Legend

Encore Area Towns
PStatus

[ ]included in Study

E= Invited to Participate but Declined
[ invited to Participate but Did Not Supply Data in Time for Report

| [__] not Part of stuay

7 __'__ N - g \B‘_ﬁsﬁg‘?’

s Lynnfi P

125 s
=)

ynn

inchestér_ Y -;

[54)

P

eha

So

aie

38

)

=]

P
LL

augus

ose

de (5

99
80

Everett =

Winthro

9

/

Sale

hant




General Trends
July 2019 - February 2020

Thefts from vehicles higher in Boston and Everett.
° Not so much “high” as not as low as trend predicted

> Both patterns continued into COVID period

Statutory rape: high in Chelsea, Somerville, Lynn.
Prostitution: high for region based almost solely on Lynn figures.
Liquor laws high in Lynn (crimes) and Everett (calls)

Melrose saw increase in assault, drugs, fraud at Melrose-Wakefield
Hospital.

Some evidence of general increase in calls in areas north and east of
casino

Other crimes, calls, collisions all normal.



AproLues

; Te

Garcden 'v"l"..v
I &

Little Mystc

Access Area

A
Y2,
¥/
S
2 S
° y: ar
= Y
‘1 L =
& 4 Claateso wi BS
oy \ s 3 X
MHists Flade GhoreatwnHE
Pl i Floe
. Littla lyatia
Qg
[ =ston <A
Py S eston . N3ty W
¢ it ay
. = Olg § -
Long,
W, » ing |
2/ < WVay
'8 2y
L 3
@ L
Echwaree { = B
g 1 - Darker
Pliygrouna bt Hill Biryim -
o =)
r’ cirourn 25
4 Q 6"""-. 8 Mediord St
N Bigy g »
& o 8 5 3 £
@ i, S :
: o 3 o 2
= ~ -
e Way Count ﬁb < " o
~ e 3 > . o o
% “Cek = Walford way 9 Y
O £y = =
- G )
Gl 4 =
¢ @
-Q ~
o 3 - (4]
< & 2
&
) H"’l ~
) ‘op . >y
o &
.
& S
- & ! 7
& 4 4,
A /]
% & ', /
2% & & e
Sy &) '8,
@
&
' Bunker &
\ Phopp's Stre st e g ,:-f”,
Biryro Coura ) {10 A ST ’/r,,.,
" »
&, s
& <
teston Natora © . =
o Hiatrical Park ~ X
& o~ [
t ® -
» S5 BN J
& o 1= ; * atre
’ & - & Park
@ = < %
& x . g \
< o s s,
N\ . s . : 2 25
: 2] (o = - £, "
\ o - o % )
& & a 8 s, %
& £ \ 4, 53 o
> by Oy - .
- LN < W
Y
. A",

v .
MBTA

A “ommurly ~an ¢ -
\ . \ % ¢
L VAN Co'bxy By e ® 3
A a 4 4
= oy » A
. * \\\- Victhiop ¢ 0
& fqunre

X &

W Grources




Incidents at Melrose-Wakefield Hospital, July-February
20

18
16
14
12

10

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020



¥ Corporauon

Miscellaneous theft
g W ,. Auto theft
Qi ———" Gen. property crime
A ,Bujlgwou"d iiE Traffic complaints
Traffic collisions

Absolutely B eion ©
Nothing

Quealy Towing 9

. 5

leltington®
«Q 4
Total Wine & More o
Target o Party City o
S.Strock 8 Co, Inc °
The Home Depot 9
Arrowlarms of
5 Costoo Wholesale o Massachusetts
., 9
o ' W Yell-0-Gl
\;'r and Gt ,,
L

Kote Boston Harbor
‘ Street assaults
K Drunk driving

= A8 Suspicious activity

lortheast General call increase

Distrigas of Masgachuselts 9

4

by

Srpy




Drunk driving evidence

Everett’s arrests for drunk driving were up by more than 100% during
first 8 months

o Went down 50% during closing

17 incidents in drunk driving arrests reported as crashes (+467%)
o Went down 75% during closing

Concentration of incidents on Broadway Street
o But Everett PD reports no “last drinks” at Encore

EBH listed as “last drink” location by 7 drunk drivers adjudicated in
2019-2020

All other communities normal in statistics.



Crashes caused by drunk driving, July 2019-February 2020




COVID Closures: March-June
Categoy | MoMAea|  tenAres

Violent Crime -28% -16%
Property Crime -9% 0%
Crashes -51% -43%

Percentages are compared to predicted location on trendline.




Encore Area Limited
Reopening (July-December)

Violent crime still very low
Thefts from vehicles still high (Boston and Revere)

Miscellaneous theft, fraud, credit card fraud, identity theft all high
Collisions still down (-27%)

No comparative data yet from other agencies




Next steps

Try for more data
° Malden
> Medford
> Boston calls for service and crashes

Better method of reporting incidents at the casino

Create model to figure out how to analyze COVID-era dataset once
statewide NIBRS data is available in the summer

Multi-area drunk driving analysis



Thank You!

Christopher W. Bruce

Crime analyst consultant to the
Massachusetts Gaming Commission

978-853-3502
cwbruce@gmail.com



Assessing the Influence of Gambling on Public
Safety in Massachusetts Cities and Towns

Analysis of changes in police data following 18 months of
activity at MGM Springfield plus 3 months of COVID-
related closures

Christopher W. Bruce

Crime Analysis Consultant to the Massachusetts Gaming Commission
24 March 2021
V.1.5






Table of contents

EXE@CUTIVE SUMMIATY .coiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeee ettt 5
Background and methodology ... 7
Analysis of crime and calls for service for 18 months after MGM opening ...........ccccoeevenne 16
REGION ... e e e 16
SPIINGIIEI. . 21
6 1= 107 o o PP 25
(@ Yo o< S STRR 28
EQst LONGMEATOW ...ttt e 31
[ 0] o T =T o SRR 34
0] 17 SRR 37
LONGMEAAOW ...ttt 43
LUAIOW <.t e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e aaarraees 46
[N\ ToT g o F=T o1 o] oo OSSR 49
West SPringfield.... ..o 52
WILDraham ...t 55
Massachusetts State PoliCe. ... .o i 58
Analysis of impact of COVID-19 related cloSUre.........oouieiiiiiieieeee e 61
GEOGraphiC @NalYSiS......ooiuiiiiiie e 64
Preliminary analysis of drunk driving data .........coccoiiiiiiiii e 72
SPECIAl @VENT ANAIYSIS ...ttt 75
Conclusion and FULUIE PIaNS.......oo i 77
Appendix: Abbreviation and definitions ...........cooiiiiiiiiiii 78

Important note

This report was prepared for the Massachusetts Gaming Commission and Springfield-area police agencies by a
contracted consultant. Although both the Commission and the chief executives of the agencies were allowed to
review, comment, and offer alternate viewpoints, the final conclusions are the consultant’s and do not necessarily
reflect the views of the Gaming Commission nor the contributing police agencies.

Many statistics are offered in this report that show increases and decreases in certain categories in Springfield and
surrounding communities. In all cases, when aberrations have appeared, | have done my best to analyze them and
determine their cause. Until analyzed, statistics that indicate notable increases or decreases in activity are simply
indicators worthy of further analysis, and not proof of any particular “cause” of the changes. No statistic offered in
this report should be taken, by itself, as proof of a casino cause. Anyone who cites or reports the statistics without
a thorough consideration of additional factors is using this report irresponsibly.







Executive summary

Summary

MGM Springfield opened on 24 August 2018 in the midst of a dense, urban area with a historically higher-than-
average, but decreasing, crime rate. This report covers changes in crime statistics for the surrounding cities and
towns during the 18 months after the opening of the casino, with a particular focus on the six months between
September 2019 and February 2020 (the first 12 months were covered in a previous report). The report shows that
only a few crimes increased in surrounding agencies during this period. While some of these increases have possible
links to MGM, there is no general consistency across the surrounding agencies and very little definitive proof of a
casino connection among specific offenders.

The analysis period ends only two weeks before COVID-19 necessitated the closure of MGM and other
Massachusetts facilities. Data was collected through 31 May 2020 for all agencies, however, giving us an
opportunity to see how crime changed during the first three months of COVID closures. It dropped—a lot.

About this report

e The primary purposes of this report are to conduct an analysis of the increases and decreases in activity in
the communities surrounding MGM Springfield since the casino opened, to identify which changes in
activity might be attributable to the casino, and to triage trends for more detailed analysis and response
among the participating agencies.

e Data was collected from the records management systems of the Springfield, Agawam, Chicopee, East
Longmeadow, Hampden, Holyoke, Longmeadow, Ludlow, Northampton, West Springfield, and
Wilbraham Police Departments and the Massachusetts State Police. Crimes, calls for service, and collisions
during the period of September 2018-February 2020 were compared to the same months over the
previous 5 to 7 years, depending on the data quality of the participating agencies.

e Any significant increases were analyzed in more detail with available quantitative data.

e To determine likelihood of a casino relation, | used a rubric of my own design that analyzes the data for
several variables: logical connection to a casino, complementary increases in other communities,
complementary increases in similar crimes, evidence of increased participation from individuals outside
the local area, spatial proximity to the casino, comparison to control communities, and specific mention of
the casino or gambling in the police reports.

e Because many of the crimes in these communities were on downward or upward trends, the report
compares the eight post-casino months to a range of “expected” values depending on the strength of the
past trend.

Major findings

e The surrounding communities saw some increases and decreases but very few consistent trends to which
MGM Springfield serves as a clear source. Issues most likely influenced by the casino include:

0 Afairly smallincrease in drunk driving.

0 An increase in shoplifting and other crimes at 24-hour facilities in the immediate block of the
casino, including a CVS and a Pride gas station.

0 Increases in traffic-related complaints in some communities and along State Police roads.



0 Anincrease in activity at Union Station in Springfield specifically. (The facility had been closed
between 1973 and 2017, but crimes and calls increased even in comparison to the combined values
at the previous train station and bus stations.)

e  There were several common trends among the agencies for which no direct MGM nexus could be identified
(e.g., an arrested offender known to visit the establishment) but which have a logical connection, a spatial
connection, or both:

0 Increases in shoplifting among several of the communities.

0 Continued patterns of purse snatching, this time in Springfield and Holyoke (West Springfield has
been affected in the past).

0 Higher-than expected residential burglary totals in the area surrounding Springfield’s Metro
Center.

0 Patterns of fraud and confidence swindles, particularly in East Longmeadow and Longmeadow.

e Although previous reports identified increases in traffic collisions along routes that suggested a casino
cause, any such increases in the fall and winter of 2019—2020 were wiped away by favorable weather
conditions that caused crashes to plummet.

e Despite hypotheses from before the casino opened, there is so far no sign that the presence of the casino
has increased crime or calls for service at hotels, restaurants, bars, and gas stations (excepting the one
mentioned above), nor has it increased activity specifically within the radiuses of highway exits to and from
the facility.

e Other patterns identified in previous reports did not continue into this period. These include a residential
theft-from-vehicle pattern in Springfield, East Longmeadow, and Longmeadow; suspicious activity and
disturbance calls near the bridges in West Springfield; and domestic violence increases in several
communities.

e A preliminary investigation into crime during special events (such as concerts) showed no significant
impact.

e Crime fell like a rock during the COVID closures—less because of MGM's closure specifically and more
because of general societal changes during the period. In future analyses, it will become very difficult to
untangle any MGM-specific influence from the changes brought by COVID and other societal factors.



Background and methodology

This analysis is the latest in an effort by the Massachusetts Gaming Commission (MGC) to assess the social and
economic influences of new gaming facilities across the state. Primary work in this area is being done by the Social
and Economic Impacts of Gambling in Massachusetts (SEIGMA) study at the University of Massachusetts Amherst
School of Public Health & Health Sciences, drawing upon research and experiences in many other states.

Although many studies have attempted to study the effects of gambling on overall rates of serious crimes,
aggregated annually, hardly any studies have attempted to analyze more specific and minute changes in public
safety activity following the opening of casinos, including variations by hour, month, and season, changes in
patterns and hot spots, and changes in non-crime activity such as traffic collisions and calls for service. The MGC
was interested in the answers to these questions—in analyzing public safety at a level of detail that would actually
help police agencies anticipate and respond to emerging and changing problems.

In 2014, the MGC contracted with a career crime analyst, the author of this report, to extract data from the agencies
likely to be affected by the opening of Massachusetts’s new casinos, and to design a process for assessing changes
in those agencies’ activity on a periodic basis. Work began in 2015 with baseline and first-quarter analyses of the
Plainville area, where Plainridge Park opened in June. As of this date, four years’ worth of reports have been issued
covering changes in crime and other public safety issues since Plainridge Park opened.

MGM Springfield opened in late August 2018. This is the fourth report that investigates that casino’s influence on
the surrounding community. The period covered by the core part of this report ends just as the general public
became aware of the growing COVID-19 menace and just before MGM Springfield (along with most large-capacity
facilities) was forced to shut down to help stop the spread of the virus. Data was also collected for the three months
that the casino was completely closed and is offered as a supplement to this report.

Publicly-issued and planned reports on changes in crime and police activity from this project

Issued Report Notes
Report on baseline activity at Plainville Established statistical measures for post-
August 2015 . . .
area agencies casino comparison
November Evaluation of change in police data after Few changes discernible in immediate 3
2015 the first three months of Plainridge Park months.
Analysis of changes in police data after the  Identified traffic-related calls for service as
April 2016 first six months of operation at Plainridge likely related to PPC. Noted increases in fraud-
Park Casino related crimes.
Analysis of changes in police data afterthe  Continued to note increases in traffic-related
December , . o . . .
2016 first year of operation at Plainridge Park calls; established credit card fraud increases as
Casino “likely related.”
December Analysis of changes in police data afterthe  Most comprehensive report so far. Included
2017 first 2 years of operation at Plainridge Park  comparative analysis of control areas.
June 2018 Report on baseline in Springfield area. First report in preparation for MGM casino.
Three-year analysis of Plainridge Park Found no additional major trends not present
March 2019 .
area. in two-year report
Showed patterns of thefts from vehicles,
March 2019 Four-month analysis of MGM Springfield traffic collisions in some communities, other
scattered patterns
mber . . - h incr in traffic collisions an
Septembe Eight-month analysis of MGM Springfield > owec.| ncreases | t.a Ic collisions & d
2019 complaints but few crime increases.




Issued Report Notes
September Baseline analysis of Encore Boston Harbor

First report on this casino
2019 area

Final Plainridge Park reports shows few public
safety issues attributable to the casino.
MGM is shown to be potentially related to

October 2019 Four-year analysis of Plainridge Park

February 2020  One-year analysis of MGM Springfield some traffic issues and small patterns in
specific communities.
Six-month analysis of Encore Boston Like MGM, Encore itself is busy, but has few
March 2020 . .
Harbor detectable influences on surrounding area.
February 20212 18-month analysis of MGM Springfield This report.
February 2021 1-year analysis of Encore Boston Harbor
April-June Special reports on drunk driving, casino-
2021 based crime, and the MGM 2-year report
Methodology

The data used in this report were extracted from the individual records management systems of the Springfield,
Agawam, Chicopee, East Longmeadow, Hampden, Holyoke, Longmeadow, Ludlow, Northampton, West
Springfield, and Wilbraham Police Departments. | established an Open Database Connectivity (ODBC) connection
to each of these agencies’ records management and computer-aided dispatch databases, connected to the
databases via Microsoft Access, and used a series of “make table” queries to copy the data into Access data tables.
I then copied the Access databases to my own computer, password-protecting them in the process, but leaving the
originals on the agencies’ networks so they could be updated by designated agency members when necessary. No
personal identifying information (PIl) was collected about any person (offender or victim), and | complied with
various agency requests to exclude particular data elements of concern to them. These requests did not affect the
integrity and completeness of the overall dataset.

After extracting the data from each individual system, | combined each table into a series of "master” tables. This
required translating each dataset into a common set of codes. The uniformity imposed by the National Incident-
Based Reporting System (NIBRS), and the fact that all 11 agencies use the same records management and
computer-aided dispatch systems, made the translation fairly easy for crime tables; it was a bit more difficult for
computer-aided dispatch (CAD) tables, which have no uniform coding even among agencies using the same
system. These master tables formed the data pool for most of the statistics in this report, except where indicated.

Casel ~ ReportDT - [Agency - IBR - Streetl =~ | LocType -~ | Weapon -
17-4793- 12/31/2017 22:37:00 5P 134 KEMNSINGTON £ Residence Knife/Cutting
17-1377- 12/31/2017 22:30:00 5P 13A LIBERTY 5T Bar Handgun
17-1540: 12/31/2017 19:08:00 5P 134 CHESTNUT ST  Other/Unknow Personal
17-5419- 12/31/2017 13:42:00 5P 120 WALDEN 5T Street Blunt Object
17-1539¢ 12/31/2017 15:07:00 5P 134 WEST ALVORD Residence Firearm
17-2072: 12/31/2017 14:44:00 WS 120 ELM ST Residence Personal
17-5412- 12/31/2017 13:17:00 HO 134 NEWTOM ST  Residence Mone
17-5411- 12/31/2017 12:59:00 HO 13A ADAMS 5T Street Firearm
17-2071. 12/31/2017 08:52:00 WS 134 ELM 5T Other/Unknow Knife/Cutting
17-2071: 12/31/2017 08:32:00 WS 13A BALDWIN ST  Other/Unknow Personal
17-1538¢ 12/30/2017 22:19:00 5P 120 WALNUT 5T Convenience S Handgun
17-20A7 12/3n/2n17 15-n0-nnN wWe 170 FI M ST ac Statinn ¥nifal/Cutting

Figure 1: The result of a query using the combined dataset, provided here as an example.



Interpreting the statistics in this report

Most of the statistics in this report look at the six months between September 2019 and February 2020 (when just
a year is given, it is the ending year for this period), comparing the actual volume of crime, traffic collisions, and
other public safety issues experienced by the contributing agencies with a hypothetical “expected” volume given
past trends in those agencies. The results are given alongside the same results for the one-year period between
September 2018 and August 2019, as discussed in a previous report.

Throughout these reports, my goal has been to present the data using the simplest statistics possible, ensuring a
reader without statistical education can still interpret the results. Understanding the statistics in this report requires

first understanding two simple ways of predicting future volumes of crime, calls for service, and collisions. Consider
one agency, where crime has remained static over a long period:

Forecasting a Crime by Average and Standard Deviation

170
160 .
150 ‘

&

140

130 .

120

110

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

® C(Crime s Trend Window Window

Figure 2: If a crime shows no trend over time, expected values are predicted using its average and standard deviation from the
average.

In such cases, crime may vary considerably from year to year around its average, but not in a way that indicates a
clear direction over the years. In such cases, we can “forecast” future activity by calculating the average (mean) of
the datapoints and then using a number of standard deviations (how much the data typically varies from the
average in a given year) to create upper and lower boundaries in which we would expect the data to fall a given
percentage of the time. If the data for the following year falls outside this boundary, it's a good sign that something
is affecting that category other than just the normal ebb and flow of yearly crime statistics.

This particular method for creating a “prediction window” doesn’t work well when the data exhibits a clear trend
over the time period in question. Consider the example in Figure 3. Here, forecasting based on the crime’s average
and standard deviation results in a poor prediction because average and standard deviation tell us only where the
crime has been, whereas in this case, the crime is clearly going somewhere. Hence, we need different math to
forecast future activity when there’s a clear trend.



Forecasting a Crime by Average and Standard Deviation

180

170 o

R

160 ®

150 '
140 ®

130

120

110

100
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

® C(Crime e=—Trend == === Window == = = Window

Figure 3: This method works poorly when the crime shows an increasing or decreasing trend over the period.

Forecasting a Crime with a Trend

190

180

170

160

150

140

130

120

110

100
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

® (Crime eeTrend == === \Window == = == Window

Figure 4: Trends require an alternate method of prediction that take into consideration the trendline and the normal variance
around the trendline.

10



To create prediction windows when a past trend is evident (either up or down), | used basic linear regression
analysis. Although this method also works for static crimes, it tends to create prediction windows too large to be
useful when the number of crimes is poorly correlated to the progression of years.

Thus, although most statistics offered in this report contain a “window” of predicted activity for the September
2019—-February 2020 time period, the method used to create that window varies depending on whether the
category exhibited a previous trend. In both cases, the confidence window is set to 85%, meaning that barring any
significant external influence, the 2020 figure had an 85% probability of falling within that window. If it does not fall
within that window, it could be just a statistical fluke, but it could also be evidence of some new factor influencing
the category, of which MGM is one possibility. Further analysis helps determine how likely it is that MGM is the
cause.

The following is a typical table in this report:

Crimes reported to Gotham, 1 September-29 February

Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year

Avg Type Window Result
Murder g o} C 3—7 5 Expected Expected
Sexual Assault 65 -7 T 18-67 77 High Expected
Kidnapping 18 ) C 16-20 23 High High
Robbery 201 -21 T 75—215 163 Expected  Expected
Aggravated Assault 317 -15 T 205-334 331 Expected Low
Simple Assault 1065 -27 T 884—-1093 1042 Expected  Expected
Threats 606 -8 C 569-643 536 Low Low
Arson 13 -2 C 2-24 5 Expected  Expected
Burglary 551 -112 T 161367 310 Expected High

The columns can be interpreted as follows:

® Pre-MGM Avg: The mean of the years (2012—2018 for most agencies, 2014—2018 for Springfield and the
total) prior to MGM, for years beginning 1 September and ending 29 February.

e  Slope: Over the same range of years, the amount by which the crime has increased or decreased each year
on the crime’s trendline. For instance, robbery had an average of 201, but that was roughly the midpoint
in a trendline that shows a steady decline (averaging -21 incidents per year) over the period.

e  Window Type: Designates the method used for the predictive window. If the crime shows little or no trend
(i.e., @ small slope compared to the mean), | used the central tendency/standard deviation method
designated by a “"C.” If it showed a strong trend, | used the regression method designated by a “T.”

e Predictive Window: The window in which we would have expected the 2020 figure to fall, with roughly
85% confidence. The more erratic and unpredictable the past data, the wider this window will be.

e 2020. The actual number of that crime observed between 1 September 2019 and 29 February 202o0.

e Result: "High” if the crime is outside its predictive window on the high end; “Low” if it's outside on the low
end; “Expected” if it's within the window. Please note that even “High” and “Low” crimes are not proof of
a casino influence; other factors could be at work in these communities, or 2020 could be that rare 15% of
the time where natural fluctuations cause the crime to fall outside its normal bounds. When the crime is
“High,” | have done my best to analyze it later in the section.

e 1-Year Result: The result of similar calculations from the period of 1 September 2018 to 31 August 2019,
as covered in the previous report on MGM Springfield. This is offered to help establish if any trend seen
during the September 2019—February 2020 period is new or a continuation of an existing post-MGM trend.

11



Determining likelihood of a casino relation

Past studies have generally limited themselves to a purely quantitative determination of whether a casino was a
contributory factor in a crime increase. This study—which blends quantitative and qualitative approaches—is not
content to use statistics alone to determine the likelihood that any increase in activity was “caused” by the presence
of MGM Springfield. Instead, | have created a model to better explain causality when increases are observed. The
model demands a more in-depth analysis of the individual cases that make up “increased” activity during the study
period, including a qualitative analysis of police narratives.

The model considers seven factors:

1. Whether the type of activity increasing has a logical relation to a casino. Causality is more certain when it “makes
sense” that such a crime or other activity would increase in the surrounding area in a particular way. Because casinos
draw a large number of people to an area, and because cash plays a large role in their operation, there are very few
crimes that would not fit this definition, but it’s still worth considering. An increase in theft or traffic issues has a
logical connection to a facility like a casino; an increase in harassing telephone calls or animal complaints does not.

2. Whether more offenders and victims are from outside the local area. A 2019 SEIGMA study of MGM patrons showed
that 59% are from outside Springfield and the surrounding communities. If an increase in crime or other public
safety issues shows a similar increase in out-of-area participants, it provides circumstantial evidence that the “new”
offenders, victims, and drivers were drawn to the area by the casino.

3. Whether multiple agencies are reporting an increase in the same category. If only one agency reports a major
increase in a particular crime and call for service, the cause is more likely to be related to another factor specific to
that jurisdiction than to MGM Springfield. Complementary increases reported by multiple agencies strengthen the
likelihood of a casino relation.

4. Whether related offenses also report increases. Some crime and call-for-service categories are closely related to
each other, so that a factor that influences one is likely to influence the others. If the casino were to cause an
increase in traffic collisions, for instance, we might expect a corresponding increase in disabled vehicles, traffic
complaints, and other traffic-related calls for service. An increase in a single category without increases in
complementary categories is more likely to suggest a fluke specific to that category than a casino relation.

5. Whether the spatial distribution of offenses is related to the casino location. For certain crimes and calls for service,
if the presence of the casino caused their increase, we would expect to see a spatial distribution of incidents either
near the casino or on routes to and from the casino. An increase in “disorderly conduct” in a residential
neighborhood 15 miles from MGM Springfield is less likely to be caused by the casino than an increase in such
activity at hotels and restaurants within 1 mile of the casino.

6. Whether the casino is specifically mentioned by victims and offenders involved in cases. If an increase in activity is
causally tied to the casino, we would expect a certain percentage of victims to say that they were in town to visit
the casino, or a certain percentage of offenders (if arrested) to admit that their crimes had something to do with
the casino. If we cannot find any such evidence across multiple offenses, a casino relation is less likely.

7. Whether comparison agencies have failed to report a similar increase. If a certain crime increased only in the MGM
Springfield area and not at identified control areas in eastern Massachusetts, this provides stronger evidence of a
casino relation. Unfortunately, statewide data collection lags behind our data collection for the MGM Springfield

1 University of Massachusetts School of Public Health and Health Sciences. (2020). 2019 MGM Springfield patron survey: A look
at who is visiting. Retrieved 26 December 2020 from https://www.umass.edu/seigma/sites/default/ files/FactSheet-
MGMSpringfield-CasinoPatrons.pdf

12



area, and thus it is only possible to assess changes in control areas for 2016 and 2017. Note also that we cannot
consider this factor with non-crime calls for service because there is no standardized reporting of these data on a
statewide basis.

(One is tempted to add an eighth factor, available only because of the extraordinary circumstances brought on by
the pandemic: whether a trend reversed itself during the period of casino closure. However, it's important to recognize
that MGM was not the only facility to close during this period. Hundreds of restaurants, bars, theaters, museums,
and other entertainment venues were forced to shut down or operate at limited capacity. Other places such as
grocery stores saw surges of activity. Separating the effects of the casino’s closure specifically amidst this
unprecedented sea of changing data is a task that we're still trying to work out. This report makes no attempt at it.)

The table below summarizes the factors in this model and provides hypothetical examples of when they might
argue for or against a casino relation. The “hypothetical examples” provided are just that—those particular changes
were not actually observed.

Factor Hypothetical example (likely to Hypothetical opposite (not likely
be related) to be related)

Type of crime is logically tied to
activity at casino (LOG)

More offenders and victims are
from outside the local area (COM)

Same category is increasing in
multiple agencies (REG)

Complementary increases in
related offenses (REL)

Increase is spatially related to
location of casino (MAP)

Casino is specifically mentioned by

offenders/victims (NAR)

No similar increase in comparison
communities (OTH)

Increase in robberies in
surrounding area

Increase in domestic dispute and
violence calls at area hotels

3 of 5 communities see increase in
thefts from cars

Theft, robbery, and fraud all
increase in area

Traffic collisions increase on Route
5 in Agawam, West Springfield

Drunk drivers mention they were
last drinking at casino

Burglary is up 10% in the
Springfield area but down 5%
across the state

Increase of thefts of property at
schools

Increase in domestic dispute and
violence calls at area homes

1 community reports increase in
burglary while 4 report decreases

Only identity theft increases in
area

Traffic collisions increase on
residential streets in Northampton

Serial burglar admits to stealing
for heroin

Shoplifting increased 15% in the
Springfield area but also increased
15% in three control areas

Figure 5: A rubric for determining whether an increase in a crime is likely related to the new casino.

Application of this model helped us reach a conclusion as to whether the likelihood of an increase in crime or calls
for service was related to the presence of MGM Springfield. However, the model is not quantitative and the
determination of the likelihood of a casino relation is not simply a matter of adding up the number of factors
present. For certain incident types, one factor may outweigh the others. For instance, the spatial relation is fairly
important in considering the likelihood that an increase in traffic collisions is related to MGM Springfield, but it is
less important for property crimes that depend on particular location types, and hardly important at all for family
violence.

13



Limitations and threats to validity

The primary threat to the validity of the statistics in this report is the data structure of the IMC records management
system, which makes it difficult to calculate precise crime statistics. All of the participating agencies use this
system?.

Almost every other commercial records management system on the market stores crime incidents and their
associated offenses in a master table. All crimes, whether they resultin an arrest, go into the same table. If an arrest
accompanies the incident, immediately or sometime after, additional data elements specific to the arrest are
entered in supplemental arrest tables that link to the master tables. Crime statistics are calculated from the master
tables. The IMC system, in contrast, stores criminal incidents in two separate tables: arrests and non-arrests. (There
is technically a third table, storing warrants, but agencies that use this table seem to duplicate those crimes in the
incidents table.) Some incidents appear in only one table; an arrest made at the time that an incident is reported,
for instance, goes in the arrest table.

This immediately creates a problem when multiple individuals are arrested for the same incident. Two offenders
arrested for a single robbery “incident” should count as a single robbery, but there no unique index that ties two
arrest records to the same crime. We must rely on the arresting officer filling in a related case number field that
does not always get filled in.

Accurate statistics cannot be calculated by simply adding the two tables, as it is possible for a single incident to
appearin bothtables. Forinstance, anincident may be reported on Monday. Lacking any evidence to make an arrest
or issue a warrant, the reporting officer enters data into the incident table. On Tuesday, evidence points to a
particular offender, he is arrested, and the officer enters the data into the arrest table.

To account for such situations, the records system contains a field in the arrest table for the original incident
number. Both the arrest and incident tables also contain the original call number, which should help deconflict
duplications. However, in practice, few agencies use these fields with any fidelity. Moreover, different crime types
can appear associated with the same incident in each of the two tables.

Finally, the TriTech/IMC system does not appear to enforce National Incident-Based Reporting System (NIBRS)
standards when it comes to the recording of secondary offenses. NIBRS recognizes “lesser included offenses.” For
instance, it is assumed that every robbery is accompanied by an assault and a theft, and that almost every burglary
is accompanied by a theft and a vandalism. Thus, no single crime should report both a burglary and a theft nor a
robbery and an assault. Such extraneous offenses co-exist frequently in the IMC system. Indeed, by failing to
distinguish between arrest charges and incident offense codes, the system creates a situation in which multiple
extraneous charges often accompany an arrest.

To account for these problems, the statistics in this report adopt the following conventions:

1. Arrests and non-arrests are combined into a single record when the proper cross-indexing values were entered
by the reporting officer in the system.

2.Even in absence of the index value entries, arrests and non-arrests are assumed to be part of the same incident if
the reporting date/time and address are the same.

3. Multiple arrests are combined into the same “incident” if they happened at the same location and time.

2 The original system was from a locally-owned company called IMC. This company was bought by Zuercher
Technologies, which was bought by TriTech Software Systems, which merged with several other companies to form
CentralSquare Technologies. The current name of the RMS seems to be “Records Pro,” but locally it is still universally
known as “IMC.”

14



The IMC system also makes a mistake—although this one is replicated among many RMS vendors—of trying to
resolve Massachusetts General Law codes directly to NIBRS incident type codes. This allows officers to enter the
statute violated by the offender (a code list with which they are familiar because of training and practice) and have
the system itself convert it to the appropriate NIBRS code. Although this seems a valuable shortcut, in truth there
is a poor relation between statutes and NIBRS codes, and such a system ensures that many crime types—principally
in the theft and fraud categories—will be under-reported and a few crime types will be consistently over-reported.

Finally, there are a number of issues with agency coding practice that affect the validity of the baseline statistics
and the consistency of data going forward. Common issues include:

e Overreliance on the “All Other” (90Z) IBR code instead of a more specific crime code that applies to the
circumstance.

e Overuse of the "Other Theft” (23H) IBR code instead of a more specific theft type—for instance, shoplifting
(230Q), theft from a vehicle (23F), or theft from a building (23D).

e Rare use of the “Alcohol Involved” flag in the crash reporting module, making the data field essentially
useless.

e Overuse of the “"Other/Unknown"” location type and property type categories.

e Under-use of the “Family Offenses” (9oF) code to record restraining order violations and child neglect
cases.

e Rampant confusion among the codes for fraud (26A), credit card fraud (26B), impersonation (26C), identity
fraud (26G), forgery and counterfeiting (250), and bad checks (90A).

Discussions with agency representatives

Throughout the life of this series of reports, the Massachusetts Gaming Commission has repeatedly convened
meetings with the police executives in the Springfield area to review the results of these analyses and receive their
comments and feedback. No information about changes in the area is published without giving the local chiefs a
chance to comment first. Their feedback has been incorporated into each version of the report. General agreement
with these findings has been widespread, and where anyone has disagreed or offered an alternative perspective, it
has been noted in this report.

About the author

Christopher W. Bruce is a professor of criminal justice at Husson University in Bangor, Maine. He is also a career
crime analyst with previous service at the Cambridge Police Department (1994—2001) and the Danvers Police
Department (2001—-2010). He was president of the Massachusetts Association of Crime Analysts from 2000 to 2004
and president of the International Association of Crime Analysts from 2007 to 2012. He has served as an instructor
in criminal justice and crime analysis topics at Suffolk University (2001—-2010), Westfield State University (2009—
2010), the University of Massachusetts Lowell (2009—2010), Middlesex Community College (2007-2011), Western
Oregon University (2012-2016), and Tiffin University (2006—2018).

Professor Bruce is an internationally-recognized expert in police data systems and police data analysis. He has
trained, consulted, and provided technical assistance for various programs of the U.S. Department of Justice,
Bureau of Justice Assistance; the U.S. Department of Transportation, National Highway Traffic Safety
Administration; the Texas Department of Transportation; the U.S. Department of Justice, International Criminal
Investigative Training Assistance Program; and the International Association of Directors of Law Enforcement
Standards and Training. He lives in Maine.

15



18-month Comparison: All agencies

This section analyzes changes in crimes and calls for service in the Springfield area after MGM was built, primarily
focusing on the six-month period between 1 September 2019 and 29 February 2020, in comparison to the same
period in the years prior to MGM. The outcome of each calculation (low, normal, or high) is given alongside the
same result for the one-year period between 1 September 2018 and 31 August 2019 as reported in the previous
report. The comparison period, establishing the “predicted” values for each community, runs from 2014—2018, as
Springfield reports that it had poor data quality controls prior to 2014. For most of the individual agencies, the
comparison period runs from 2012-2018. For Springfield and the region as a whole, the numbers exclude MGM
Springfield specifically, as they are meant to help assess notable changes in the surrounding area.

treriensiie

Hafizdd

Themm T2 v

Wees b ald

Wil
Hpringins

MG M Springfield
Bl

Figure 6: The communities contributing to this analysis.

16



The goal here is not simply to identify what crimes increased or decreased in comparison to their norms. Crimes
fluctuate all the time for any number of reasons. Our goal is:

1. To determine which crimes increased significantly enough that some external factor—and not just random
fluctuations in data—is likely to be responsible for those increases; and

2. To analyze those significant increases for evidence that MGM Springfield is that “external factor.”
3. To identify trends to be investigated more thoroughly in the next report.

On advice from the Springfield Police Department regarding changes in their data quality control, this analysis uses
only the years ending 20142019 to determine past trends and the predictive window for that agency’s crime.
Because Springfield’s total makes up so much of the region total, the report also uses only those years to calculate
the regional trend. For other agencies, the report considers the full 2012—2019 data series.

Summary of all communities’ activity

The 11 contributing communities saw expected totals of overall crime, commensurate with what they would have
received if MGM had never opened. The totals for the region were all lower than average, but consistent with the
historical trend of decreases in these crimes.

In prior reports, we saw an increase in traffic collisions that might be attributable to extra traffic to MGM, but even
that was wiped out during this reporting period by favorable weather and other factors influence driving behavior.
The few increases are analyzed individually below.

Incidents reported to region, 1 September—29 February

Category Pre-MGM Slope  Window Pred. Window 2020 Result 1-Year

Avg Type Result

Murder 10 -1 T 2-12 12 Expected Expected
Sexual Assault 190 -3 C 168—212 178 Expected Expected
Kidnapping 42 -1 C 37-47 48 High Expected
Robbery 368 -34 T 210-319 282 Expected Expected
Aggravated Assault 806 -6 T 763-814 746 Low Expected
Simple Assault 2557 -1 C 2454—2660 2368 Low Expected
Threats 1359 -4 T 1070-1326 1146 Expected Expected
Arson 23 -2 C 13-33 20 Expected Expected
Burglary 1266 -156 T 664—931 818 Expected Expected
Theft from Persons 34 1 C 2939 38 Expected Expected
Purse-Snatching 16 4 T 13—46 37 Expected High

Shoplifting 780 0 C 746-814 874 High High

Theft from Building 613 5 C 505—721 546 Expected Expected
Theft from Machine 7 3 C 0—16 1  Expected Expected
Theft from Vehicle 687 -12 C 643-731 511 Low Expected
Theft of MV Parts 191 3 C 112-270 187 Expected Expected
Other Theft 2047 -431 T 0-1655 1413 Expected Expected
Auto Theft 497 -33 T 265-529 468  Expected Low

Forgery 176 -7 T 124—183 167 Expected Expected
Fraud 353 19 T 377-443 419 Expected High

Credit Card Fraud 165 19 T 126-319 167 Expected Low

17



Category Pre-MGM Slope  Window Pred. Window 2020 Result 1-Year

Avg Type Result

Identity Theft 319 -16 T 164—378 330 Expected Expected
Employee Theft 30 3 C 19—41 12 Low Low

Extortion 13 6 T 15—48 15 Expected High

Stolen Property 137 -1 C 120-154 124 Expected Expected
Vandalism 1993 -91 T 1377-2061 1678 Expected Expected
Drugs 702 -39 T 354814 568 Expected Expected
Statutory Rape 32 -1 C 26—38 37 Expected Expected
Pornography 36 7 T 4274 42 Expected High

Prostitution 19 -7 T 0-15 10 Expected Expected
Weapons 266 27 T 322369 348 Expected Expected
Bad Checks 35 -6 T 9—28 11 Expected Low

Disorderly 320 -1 C 279-361 287 Expected Expected
Drunk Driving 240 -16 T 133-254 312 High Expected
Drunkenness 113 -15 T 20-119 104 Expected Expected
Family Offenses 141 41 T 113-416 291 Expected Expected
Liquor Laws 85 -1 C 73-97 111 High Expected
Trespassing 238 36 T 284408 378 Expected High

Violent Total T 4663-5398 4780 Expected Expected
Property Total T 6184-8391 7825 Expected Expected
Total T 13210-16041 15104 Expected Expected

Kidnapping
The kidnapping increase is driven entirely by Springfield and is discussed among its statistics. The incidents do not
seem to have anything to do with MGM.

Shoplifting

Reports of shoplifting increased in Chicopee and Holyoke. The increases are highly localized in these communities;
five stores account for about 80% of it: two Family Dollars in Chicopee, Victoria’s Secret at the Holyoke Mall, an
Ulta Beauty in Holyoke, and a CVS in Chicopee. In discussions, local agencies report a major increase in organized
retail theft at these locations, with suspects coming from out of state. They could not identify an MGM connection.
Shoplifting is volatile crime, anyway, with statistics prone to wild swings based on changes in security staffing or
security policies at individual stores.

Drunk driving

Enough agencies reported increases in drunk driving arrests that this crime is analyzed in a later section of the
report. The conclusion is that drunk driving may have increased in the area slightly, but the bulk of the increase in
drunk driving offenses can be tied to more agency enforcement.

Liquor laws

The liquor law increases in the agencies that reported it are almost all related to open containers of liquor discovered
during traffic stops. Coupled with the drunk driving increase, this trend suggests extra proactive enforcement.

Selected calls for service reported to region, 1 September-29 February

Category Pre-MGM  Slope  Window Pred. Result 1-Year
Avg Type Window Result

Abandoned Vehicle 468 Expected Expected

18



Category Pre-MGM  Slope  Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year
Avg Type Window Result
Disabled Vehicle 1418 56 T 1278-2005 1457 Expected  Expected
Disturbance 10519 210 C 9500—11538 12261 High Expected
Domestic Dispute 5341 85 T 5315—-6047 4574 Low Low
General Service 8624 -217 C 7291-9957 8036 Expected  Expected
Gunshots 468 -23 T 301-538 694 High Expected
Hunting 17 1 C 12-22 20 Expected  Expected
Liquor 196 A C 155—237 167 Expected Low
Lost Property 299 -2 C 258-340 272 Expected Low
Medical 11425 644 T 12657-15342 8924 Low Expected
Psychological 1314 312 T 2294—2636 2228 Low Expected
Suspicious Activity 8378 100 C 7529-9227 8728 Expected  Expected
Traffic Collision 8619 380 T 9356-10921 9075 Low Expected
Traffic Complaint 2293 135 T 2543-3121 2607 Expected Expected
Vagrancy 181 5 C 131231 141 Expected Expected

The increase in gunshot calls is seen in both Holyoke and Springfield, although the explanations are a bit different.
See the individual agency analyses for more. The disturbance increase mostly evaporates when we get to the
individual agency level, leaving no consistent pattern across the region.

Collisions reported to region, 1 September—29 February

Category Pre-MGM  Slope  Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year
Avg Type Window Result
Vehicle in traffic 4072 188 T 4436-5214 4296 Low Expected
Parked vehicle 869 46 T 955—-1155 988  Expected Expected
Pedestrian 158 -1 C 144-172 167  Expected Expected
Bicyclist 54 0 C 45—63 61  Expected Low
Animal 100 10 T 88-190 118  Expected Expected
Fixed object 496 30 T 534—698 492 Low Expected
Curb/barrier 254 8 T 255-317 223 Low Expected
Rollover/Jackknife 23 1 C 17-29 14 Low High
Other/Unknown 149 -7 T 96-161 139  Expected Expected
Total 6174 275 T 67997751 6498 Low Expected

Collisions were much lower than expected during this period, reversing a historical trend of increases. The cause is
likely related to far fewer “hazardous” days than in the typical winter. The Boston Globe called the 2019—2020 winter
“a winter without a winter” because of the lack of snow and ice.

Previous reports had observed small increases in traffic collisions directly around the casino and along some West
Springfield and Agawam routes to MGM. Any such continuing increases were undetectable during this period.




Summary of crimes in each community, 1 September 2019-29 February 2020
H=High E=Expected L=Low

Category SP AG CH EL HA HO LO LU NH WS Wi ALL
Murder E

Sexual Assault

Kidnapping

Robbery

Aggravated Assault

Simple Assault
Threats
Arson

Burglary

Theft from Persons

Purse-Snatching
Shoplifting

Theft from Building
Theft from Machine
Theft from Vehicle
Theft of MV Parts
Other Theft

Auto Theft

Forgery

Fraud/Con Games
Credit Card Fraud
Identity Theft
Employee Theft

Extortion

Stolen Property

Vandalism

Drugs

Statutory Rape

Pornography

Prostitution

Weapons
Bad Checks
Disorderly

Drunk Driving

Drunkenness

Family Offenses

Liquor Laws

Trespassing
Violent Total
Property Total
Total

=iy | T[T | |m|m|mmmm|r|m|mMm|—|—|mMm|—|mMm|Z|m|m|m|Z|—[mMm|m|ZT{m|m|m|m|mmm|ZT|mMm|m
il T | T|mMm|mMm|T|mMm|—|T|mMm|—|mmmmm|mMm|—|mmm|m|m|ZT|m|mMm|—c|mm|mMm|mMm|mMm|—|—|—|—|mMmM|mMm|m
il | M| mMm|m|T|m|lemMm|mmMm|m|m|{|m|mMm||mMm|mMmmMm|T|mMm|ZT|— | |mMmmMm|ZT|mMm|m|m{mm|mMm|{mMm|—|mM|{—|m
Ul — | M| m|m| | —|mmmmmmmim|mm|mm|IZ|ZT|mmmmmmmMm|mMm|m|m{m{m|jm{m|m{m|{m|m
il — |mMm|mMm|m|mMmm|mmMm|mm|m|m|{em|m|m|m|mmm|mm|mm|m{m|m|m|m|m{mMm|e|m{mMm|m{m|{m|m
il T | T | T mMm|T | |mMmmmm|TmMmmMm|r|mm|IT|T|ZT|mMm|mMmmMm|— | |mM|IT|IT|T|T|mMm|{M|—|—|M|—|{—|[m|m
el M| T | T mmMmmmMmmmMm|{ZT|mmmmmmmMm|{IT|c|m|mmmimmMmmMmmMmmMm|mMmmMmmm|mMm|m|m|{—|m
Uil M | — | M| |mMm|m|mMmmMm|mmMm|m|e|mMm|e|mMm|mmmmmMm|mm|mm|mMm|{|m|mMm|IT|mMmmMmm|m{mMm|m{m|{m|m
Ul M | M| T m|mmmmmmmm{mim|jm|m|m|{m|[Z|m|mm|m|c|m{mm|ZT|m|—|{mMm|—|mMm|{—|mMm{mMm[{m|m
Ul | T| T m|T|lT]|Z(m|m|mmm{mm|m|e|m|mMmmMm|e|mm|mm|m|{—c|m|m|m|m{mm|mMm|{—|m{m|{m|m
il M | M| mmmmmmm|T|mmmm|m|m|IZ|{—|mm|m|IZmmmMmmMmmMmmMmmMm|mMm{mMmm|m|m|m|{m|m
Ul | T m|m|T|m|mm|mm|mm{mm|m|er|m|mMmmm|mm|mMm|{|m{mMm|ZT|mMm|m|m{mmMm|—|—|m|Z|[m|m

20



18-month comparison: Springfield

Population (est. 2019):
154,306

Area: 33.1 square miles

Police officers: 489

City center distance from
MGM: 2.77 miles

MGM's host agency is the third largest city in Massachusetts and the fourth-largest in New England. Dense, urban,
low-income, and historically reporting a higher-than-average rate of crime and violence, Springfield is poised to see
numerous changes from the MGM Springfield casino. The first of those—an additional 59 police officers—has
already taken place (and is reflected in the total above).

MGM opened on 24 August 2018 and has averaged 10,000 to 15,000 visitors per day. It swiftly became Springfield’s
top location for crimes, calls for service, and arrests, even considering the fact that the State Police take most of
the reports. But not even a facility with as much activity as MGM can make much of a dent in a city with so much
else going on. The casino is ultimately responsible for around a 1% increase in Springfield’s crimes, a number barely
perceptible amidst the yearly fluctuation of crime in the city.

Most patterns seen during the first 12 months of operation did not continue into the next 6. However, there is some
evidence of at least a minor MGM contribution to a few trends, including drunk driving arrests and perhaps purse
snatchings. See below for more detail. Overall, however, the Metro Center seems to have absorbed the extra
visitors without a corresponding increase in crime.

Crimes reported to Springfield, 1 September-29 February

Category Pre-MGM Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year
Avg Type Window Result
Murder 7 o} C 5—9 9 Expected Expected
Sexual Assault 92 A C 68-116 88 Expected  Expected
Kidnapping 24 1 T 23-33 37 High High
Robbery 252 -26 T 155-210 207 Expected  Expected
Aggravated Assault 429 -19 T 305-439 388 Expected Expected

21



Category Pre-MGM Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year
Avg Type Window Result

Simple Assault 1450 -24 T 1258-1501 1388 Expected  Expected
Threats 856 -38 T 611-871 719 Expected  Expected
Arson 15 -3 C 3—27 8 Expected Expected
Burglary 647 -111 T 290—339 361 High Expected
Theft from Persons 25 -1 C 21-29 16 Low Expected
Purse-Snatching 4 0 C 2-6 8 High High

Shoplifting 159 16 T 142-273 217 Expected  Expected
Theft from Building 305 41 T 253-606 343 Expected  Expected
Theft from Machine 7 2 C 0-16 1 Expected Low

Theft from Vehicle 373 C 311435 327 Expected High

Theft of MV Parts 131 15 C 69-193 161 Expected  Expected
Other Theft 822 -369 T 0-692 321 Expected  Expected
Auto Theft 298 -35 T 107—-280 264 Expected  Expected
Forgery 78 -1 C 65—91 69 Expected High

Fraud/Con Games 127 6 C 104—150 116  Expected High

Credit Card Fraud 92 24 T 104—225 99 Low Expected
Identity Theft 152 -32 T 0-148 115 Expected  Expected
Employee Theft 14 4 T 16—37 9 Low Expected
Extortion 8 4 T 12-30 10 Low Expected
Stolen Property 50 -2 C 43-57 57 Expected Expected
Vandalism 982 -34 T 657-1102 800 Expected Expected
Drugs 271 -8 C 211-331 202 Low Low

Statutory Rape 7 -4 T 0-10 6 Expected Low

Pornography 11 2 T 7-27 17  Expected High

Prostitution 15 -6 T 0—18 6 Expected Expected
Weapons 175 14 T 181-252 237 Expected  Expected
Bad Checks 14 -4 T 0-14 o Expected Low

Disorderly 131 1 C 113-149 114 Expected  Expected
Drunk Driving 24 -3 T 0-34 35 High Expected
Drunkenness 2 -1 T 0-3 3 Expected  Expected
Family Offenses 116 60 T 138-454 269 Expected  Expected
Liquor Laws 23 1 C 15-31 37 High Expected
Trespassing 160 T 182-322 234 Expected  Expected
Violent Total T 2591-2953 2836 Expected Expected
Property Total T 2089-3682 3302 Expected High

Total T 6029-7681 7305 Expected Expected

Kidnapping

Kidnapping can involve any number of scenarios in which one person abducts another or confines another.
Although the category includes the rare stranger abduction, it more commonly consists of parental abductions or
instances in which a domestic violence offender confines or restrains a victim. The latter scenario seems to make
up the bulk of the kidnapping incidents in the last 18 months. 2018 showed a 5-year high for this offense, both
before and after MGM opened. The Springfield Crime Analysis Unit has investigated each of the 2018 cases and
finds no plausible link to MGM.

22



Burglary

Burglary has been declining rapidly throughout Massachusetts since 2015. Only one other agency participatingin a
casino study has reported an increase in burglaries during any study period. In Springfield’s case, the “increase” is
actually a 40% decrease from the pre-MGM average, but the crime had been going down so rapidly that the formula
predicted an even lower figure for 2019—2020. The bulk of this failed expectation is seen in the neighborhood
directly around the Metro Center, where daytime residential burglaries are higher than predicted. Most of the
identified offenders are from Springfield. Without more evidence of any specific gambling motivations, and no
corroborative increases from other agencies or time periods, | am reluctant to suggest even a possible link to MGM
just yet.

Figure 7: Burglaries in the Metro Center area, September 2019 to February 2020.

Purse snatching

Unlike Holyoke's similar increase, Springfield’s show no geographic pattern, scattered all over town. One, however,
is directly across the street from MGM at the CVS. This is a cash crime, with gives it a logical connection to a casino,
and it has been consistently high in Springfield and Holyoke and intermittently high in West Springfield. We have
no definite proof of a purse snatcher with a casino motive, but the connection makes sense logically and
geographically.

Drunk driving and liquor laws

Almost all of the liquor law violations this period are related to the crime of open containers in a motor vehicle. This
is not a crime that anyone calls the police about. It is the result of more traffic stops in which the police find the open
containers, and thus the increase indicates more proactive enforcement on the part of the police department. Such
proactive enforcement is bound to catch drunk drivers as well, and is likely to credit for most of the increase that
Springfield has seen in this category. | say *most,” but that does not mean “all.” As the later section on drunk driving
shows, there is some evidence that drunk driving (and related crashes) has increased mildly in the area, and analysis
points to a likely MGM connection with at least a small number of them.

23



Selected calls for service reported to Springfield, 1 September—29 February
Category Pre-MGM  Slope  Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year

Avg Type Window Result

Abandoned Vehicle 224 YA T 337-454 350 Expected Expected
Disabled Vehicle 386 21 T 341-596 446  Expected Expected
Disturbance 5221 331 T 5568—7525 7242  Expected Expected
Domestic Dispute 4576 43 C 43274825 3814 Low Low

Gunshots 397 -20 T 258-459 572 High Expected
Medical 5148 224 T 4963-7128 2718 Low Expected
Psychological 1291 259 T 1692-2226 1918  Expected Expected
Suspicious Activity 3426 123 T 31494686 3582  Expected Expected
Traffic Collision 3357 224 T 3996—4508 3845 Low Expected

All of Springfield’s call-for-service types showed normal or low volume in the year after MGM opened. Increases in
disabled vehicles and medical aids during the fall of 2018 and winter of 2019 did not continue into the following
year. The increase in gunshot reports has been previously tied to an expansion of the “ShotSpotter” gunshot
detection technology and not to an actual increase in shots fired.

Collisions reported to Springfield, 1 September—29 February

Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1 Year
Avg Type Window Result
Vehicle in traffic 1628 88 T 1792-2167 1782 Low Expected
Parked vehicle 305 20 T 344—425 398 Expected Expected
Pedestrian 87 o} C 74—100 93 Expected Expected
Bicyclist 29 1 C 2434 31 Expected Expected
Animal 5 0 C 2-8 4 Expected  Expected
Fixed object 195 15 T 209—299 164 Low Expected
Curb/barrier 84 4 T 74—125 96 Expected Expected
Rollover/Jackknife 6 -1 T 2-§ 3 Expected Low
Other/Unknown 39 -3 C 22-56 25 Expected Low
Total 2378 124 T 2722-3024 2596 Low Expected

All signs at this point suggest that while MGM may have brough a minor increase in traffic collisions during the first
year (extra traffic inevitably means extra collisions), that effect was not large enough to survive the much stronger
influence of good weather during the fall and winter of 2019—2020.



18-month comparison: Agawam

Population (est. 2019): 28,736
Area: 24.2 square miles
Police officers: 54

City center distance from
MGM: 7.97 miles

Just across the river from the new casino, Agawam'’s northeast corner practically touches MGM Springfield. There
is some evidence that, like West Springfield, Agawam's increase in traffic collisions in 2018 can be at least partly
attributed to the extra traffic brought by MGM. For crime, however, the agency had little that suggested an MGM
nexus.

Crimes reported to Agawam, 1 September—29 August

Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year

Avg Type Window Result

Murder 0 ) C 0—0 o Expected Expected
Sexual Assault ) C 4—11 5 Expected  Expected
Kidnapping 0 ) C 0—1 o Expected Expected
Robbery 1 T 5—9 1 Low Expected
Aggravated Assault 24 4 T 33—43 26 Low Expected
Simple Assault 71 11 T 87-147 72 Low High

Threats 23 4 T 26—44 18 Low Expected
Arson 0 ) C 0—1 1 Expected Expected
Burglary 72 4 C 39—-105 56 Expected  Expected
Theft from Persons 0 ) C 0—1 1 Expected Expected
Purse-Snatching ) C 0—2 1 Expected Expected
Shoplifting 10 2 C 3-19 14 Expected Low

Theft from Building 17 2 T 13-31 9 Low Low

Theft from Machine 0 o) C 0—0 o Expected Expected
Theft from Vehicle 3 o) C 2—4 3 Expected  Expected
Theft of MV Parts 2 ) C 0-5 6 High Expected
Other Theft 86 7 T 87-142 108 Expected Low

Auto Theft 14 -1 C 9-19 11 Expected Low

Forgery 9 1 C 5—13 12 Expected  Expected

25



Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year

Avg Type Window Result
Fraud/Con Games 22 4 T 2444 39 Expected Expected
Credit Card Fraud 6 ) C 2-10 3 Expected Low
Identity Theft 17 6 T 32—43 28 Low Low
Employee Theft ) C 0—2 2 Expected Expected
Extortion 0 T 1-4 1 Expected  Expected
Stolen Property 1 T 3-16 9 Expected Low
Vandalism 55 7 T 52—110 69 Expected  Expected
Drugs 17 -3 T 6—20 18 Expected  Expected
Statutory Rape 4 1 C 0-8 2 Expected Low
Pornography 2 1 T 2—9 1 Low Expected
Prostitution 0 0 C 0—0 0 Expected Expected
Weapons 4 0 C 1—7 8 High High
Bad Checks 3 1 T 2—9 o Low Expected
Disorderly 14 -1 C 7—21 10 Expected  Expected
Drunk Driving 15 ) C 10-20 31 High High
Drunkenness 3 ) C 0—7 1 Expected Expected
Family Offenses 14 -3 C 0-50 2 Expected Expected
Liquor Laws 5 -1 T 2-6 13 High Expected
Trespassing 6 C 4—8 High Expected
Violent Total T 155—255 122 Low Expected
Property Total T 352-525 373 Expected Low
Total T 559-834 593 Expected Expected

Agawam saw increases in thefts of vehicle parts, weapons violations, drunk driving, liquor laws, and trespassing
during this period but did sustain a troubling increase in simple assault reported in the one-year analysis.

Theft of vehicle parts

There are no commonalities among the six incidents that make up this small trend; the do not concentrate by time,
date, or location. Barring more information or any corroborative increases from other areas and time periods, it is
likely a temporary fluke.

Weapons

This category has been high throughout the 18-month period, with most incidents at residents. Charges show
offenses related to both firearms and ammunition, including both possession and unlawful discharge. There are no
corroborative increases in assault or homicide, and the agency is the only one to report such a trend.

Drunk driving and liquor law violations

Agawam was one of several agencies to report a significant increase in drunk driving arrests. Drunk driving in the
region is analyzed in a later section of this report. However, a simultaneous increase in possession of open
containers of alcohol (reported as liquor law violations) suggests extra police enforcement of these crimes, or of
traffic violations in general.

Trespassing
The trespassing increase during this period involves several repeat locations, including Kosak Court, Griffin Place,
and Maynard Street.

26



Selected calls for service reported to Agawam, 1 September-29 February

Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year
Avg Type Window Result
Disabled Vehicle 182 21 T 178-346 187 Expected Expected
Disturbance 187 6 C 156—218 148 Low Expected
Domestic Dispute 149 -1 C 112-186 136  Expected Expected
General Service 547 62 T 616—977 722  Expected Expected
Hunting 10 -1 C 6—-14 14 Expected Low
Lost Property 9 2 T 6—30 22 Expected High
Medical 851 71 T 889-1320 969  Expected Expected
Psychological 8 1 T 7—18 1 Low Expected
Suspicious Activity 609 28 T 540-874 719  Expected Expected
Traffic Collision 413 23 T 437-569 435 Low Expected
Traffic Complaint 176 8 T 159—257 210 Expected High

Increases seen in the first year evaporated in the next six months, leaving Agawam with normal call-for-service

volumes during the analysis period.

Collisions reported to Agawam, 1 September-29 February

Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1 Year
Avg Type Window Result
Vehicle in traffic 189 14 T 200—288 220 Expected Expected
Parked vehicle 26 5 T 31-64 51 Expected High
Pedestrian 5 o C 3—7 3 Expected Expected
Bicyclist 1 ) T 0—2 2 Expected Low
Animal 4 ) C 17 3 Expected  Expected
Fixed object 30 5 T 31-69 44, Expected Expected
Curb/barrier 16 2 T 16—31 13 Low High
Rollover/Jackknife 2 ) C 0—4 o Expected Expected
Other/Unknown 7 2 T 8-18 9 Expected High
Total 280 28 T 314—468 345 Expected High

Although exhibiting high figures during the first year post-MGM, Agawam'’s collisions dropped to expected totals
during the following six months. As with the other reporting agencies, the city benefited from a mild winter with

few days with harsh conditions.



18-month comparison: Chicopee

Population (est. 2018): 55,293
Area: 23.9 square miles
Police officers: 130

City center distance from MGM:
5.52 miles

In some ways a northern extension of Springfield, Chicopee has long experienced higher-than-average crimes rates,
although the city saw a significant reduction in crimes in the 2000s and has maintained that reduction through the
2010s. Prior to MGM opening, we hypothesized that MGM might see increases at businesses, restaurants, and
hotels on travel routes to MGM, but so far such trends have not surfaced. But we have seen increases in various
types of thefts and fraud that are worth exploring.

Crimes reported to Chicopee, 1 September-29 February

Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year
Avg Type Window Result

Murder 1 o C 0—2 1 Expected Expected
Sexual Assault 26 1 C 1834 16 Low Low
Kidnapping 8 o C 3-13 4 Expected  Expected
Robbery 37 0 C 28-46 22 Low Expected
Aggravated Assault 78 4 T 76—114 107 Expected Expected
Simple Assault 343 7 C 274412 314 Expected  Expected
Threats 148 7 C 109-187 172 Expected Low
Arson 1 0 C 0—3 3 Expected Expected
Burglary 195 -15 T 128-214 134 Expected  Expected
Theft from Persons 3 o C 1-5 3 Expected Expected
Purse-Snatching 5 1 T 3-13 5  Expected High
Shoplifting 82 -3 C 68-96 98 High High
Theft from Building 83 -11 T 24-74 59 Expected Low
Theft from Machine ) 0 C 0—0 o Expected Expected
Theft from Vehicle 62 3 C 28-96 22 Low Low
Theft of MV Parts 52 -9 T 9-48 7 Low Low

28



Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year

Avg Type Window Result
Other Theft 159 14 T 159—274 334 High High
Auto Theft 56 2 C 39-73 63 Expected Low
Forgery 22 -1 T 14—25 33 High Expected
Fraud/Con Games 76 -2 C 63-89 79 Expected  Expected
Credit Card Fraud 10 -2 T 3-12 6 Expected Low
Identity Theft 49 7 T 61-89 89 Expected Expected
Employee Theft 5 -1 T 2—4 1 Low Expected
Extortion 1 0 C 0—2 2 Expected Expected
Stolen Property 13 -1 C 9—18 17 Expected  Expected
Vandalism 215 -2 C 186—244 185 Low Expected
Drugs 46 -2 C 31-61 55 Expected  Expected
Statutory Rape 6 1 T 4—16 10 Expected High
Pornography 6 T 2-21 10 Expected Expected
Prostitution 1 C 03 o Expected Expected
Weapons 20 T 16-36 29 Expected Expected
Bad Checks 6 -1 C 3-9 o Low Low
Disorderly 36 -1 C 27-45 33 Expected Expected
Drunk Driving 23 2 C 1433 49 High High
Drunkenness 41 -4 T 13-54 42 Expected High
Family Offenses 1 C 0—2 2 Expected Low
Liquor Laws 10 T 8-33 17 Expected High
Trespassing 21 C 11-31 26  Expected High
Violent Total C 508-808 Expected Expected
Property Total C 9611215 Expected Expected
Total C 1731-2159 Expected Expected

Shoplifting
The increase during this six-month period is composed entirely of two Family Dollar locations. Identified offenders

have all been from the Chicopee/Holyoke/Springfield area, minimizing a likelihood of an MGM connection. It may
be that the chain simply adjusted its security practices or polices for reporting shoplifters to the police.

Other theft

Miscellaneous thefts began increasing in Chicopee starting in November 2018—about the same time that other
theft categories started to decrease. The Walmart on Memorial Drive accounts for about one-third of the increase.
Unfortunately, these facts suggest that the “increase” is simply greater use of the “other theft” code to record
crimes that would be better recorded as shopliftings, thefts from persons, thefts from vehicles, and so forth. We
would ask the agency to review its use of this code.

Forgery

This period saw a large jump in counterfeiting offenses and check forgery. There are a few repeat locations with
two to four cases each, but no obvious hot spot. Restaurants seem to be popular in general. While about half the 13
identified offenders are from the local area, a fair number are from much farther away, including two from New
York.

Drunk Driving

Chicopee nearly doubled its normal number of drunk driving arrests and summonses in the post-MGM 18 months.
The increase was spread throughout the period, but concentrated between 21:00 and 03:00. The incidents are

29



scattered about the west side of town and while many of them could plausibly be on MGM routes, there is no
particular concentration in that direction. See the analysis of drunk driving in a later section.

Selected calls for service reported to Chicopee, 1 September-29 February
Category Pre-MGM Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year

Avg Type Window Result
Abandoned Vehicle 25 4 T 23-60 49 Expected High
Disabled Vehicle 221 22 T 196420 251 Expected  Expected
Disturbance 1422 -31 C 1222-1622 1412  Expected Low
General Service 1101 54 T 963-1670 1231 Expected Expected
Medical 894 116 T 1000-1596 665 Low Expected
Overdose 48 19 T 75134 95 Expected Expected
Suspicious Activity 840 40 T 763-1237 897 Expected Expected
Traffic Collision 1193 82 T 1207-1834 1182 Low Expected
Traffic Complaint 946 81 T 1015-1438 1108 Expected Low

There were no increases in any selected call-for-service type during this period.

Collisions reported to Chicopee, 1 September-29 February

Category Pre-MGM Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year
Avg Type Window Result
Vehicle in traffic 586 YA T 545—981 646 Expected Expected
Parked vehicle 168 12 T 182-250 157 Low Expected
Pedestrian 18 o C 1422 24 High Expected
Bicyclist 7 0 C 4—10 7 Expected Expected
Animal 5 2 T 8-18 2 Low High
Fixed object 65 5 T 55-109 80 Expected Expected
Curb/barrier 40 3 T 33-67 23 Low Expected
Rollover/Jackknife 5 1 T 5—10 2 Low Expected
Other/Unknown 22 o) C 15-29 18 Expected Expected
Total 916 66 T 893-1468 959 Expected Expected

Chicopee had the same experience as other agencies. Favorable weather during the 2019—2020 winter kept crashes
low or within normal bounds, except for pedestrian crashes, which may have increased for the same reason that
others decreased.



18-month comparison: East Longmeadow

Population (est. 2019): 16,269

Area: 13.0 square miles

Police officers: 27

pam—— City center distance from MGM:
5.28 miles

As with most communities in this study, we did not see any major increases on travel routes through the town. A
pattern of thefts from vehicles in residential neighborhoods seen during the first year post-MGM did not continue
(at least, not at significant volume) through the fall and winter of 2019-2020. Most crimes and calls for service were
at expected volumes except for fraud—a pattern the agency shares with neighboring Longmeadow.

Crimes reported to East Longmeadow, 1 September-29 February

Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year
Avg Type Window Result

Murder 0 0 C 0—0 0 Expected Expected
Sexual Assault 4 0 C 1-8 4 Expected  Expected
Kidnapping 0 0 C 0—1 1 Expected Expected
Robbery 2 0 C 13 2 Expected High
Aggravated Assault 8 -1 C 3-13 4  Expected Expected
Simple Assault 30 -2 C 19—41 27 Expected  Expected
Threats 21 -5 T 7—20 19 Expected  Expected
Arson 0 o) T 0-1 1 Expected  Expected
Burglary 23 -3 T 10—23 15 Expected Low
Theft from Persons 1 0 C 0—2 1 Expected  Expected
Purse-Snatching 1 o) C 0—2 1 Expected  Expected
Shoplifting 25 -2 T 10—30 23 Expected  Expected
Theft from Building 12 -1 C 4—20 8 Expected Low
Theft from Machine 0 o) C 0—0 o Expected Expected
Theft from Vehicle 18 -2 C 6-33 19 Expected High
Theft of MV Parts 2 -1 T 0—2 o Expected Expected
Other Theft 49 2 C 37-61 38 Expected  Expected
Auto Theft 6 -1 C 2-10 8 Expected Expected

31



Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year

Avg Type Window Result

Forgery 3 o) C 1-6 6 Expected  Expected
Fraud/Con Games 16 -2 T 5—17 19 High Expected
Credit Card Fraud 4 0 C 2-6 2 Expected Low

Identity Theft 6 1 C 2-11 11 Expected  Expected
Employee Theft 1 ) C 03 o Expected Expected
Extortion 0 0 T 0-1 1 Expected  Expected
Stolen Property 4 -1 C 1-9 2 Expected  Expected
Vandalism 43 -7 T 21-40 25 Expected  Expected
Drugs 14 -3 T 4—16 12 Expected Expected
Statutory Rape 2 0 C 0—4 1 Expected High

Pornography 2 1 T 0—6 1 Expected High

Prostitution 0 o) C 0—0 0 Expected Expected
Weapons 4 ) C 1-6 2 Expected Expected
Bad Checks 2 ) C 0-6 o Expected Expected
Disorderly 7 -1 T 2—7 1 Low Expected
Drunk Driving 16 ) C 12-20 6 Low Expected
Drunkenness 3 ) C 0-6 2 Expected Expected
Family Offenses o) ) C 0—1 o Expected Expected
Liquor Laws 4 0 C 1-7 1 Expected Low

Trespassing 6 0 C 1-11 0 Low Low

Violent Total T 31-86 Expected Expected
Property Total T 124-232 Expected Expected
Total T 196-352 Expected Expected

Fraud/con games

This category had been trending down in East Longmeadow until recently. In October, the police department
warned residents of a scam in which a con artist posed as a deliveryman and got residents to swipe their credit cards
through a card reader, ostensibly to pay a small fee. Thousands of dollars were later taken from their accounts. The
agency seems to be experiencing problems with the same telephone scams reported to Longmeadow, too. So far,
we haven't seen a direct MGM connection, and the crime seems to be increasing throughout the state.

Selected calls for service reported to East Longmeadow, 1 September—29 February

Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year
Avg Type Window Result
Disabled Vehicle 23 -2 C 8—38 14  Expected Low
Disturbance 13 -1 C 4—22 13  Expected Expected
Domestic Dispute 48 16 T 67-120 55 Low Expected
General Service 603 5 C 482724 771 High Expected
Lost Property 12 -2 T 2-11 0 Low Low
Medical 892 YA T 980-1160 661 Low Low
Suspicious Activity 448 -13 T 322471 389 Expected Low
Traffic Collision 285 -5 C 243-327 269  Expected Expected
Traffic Complaint 1 o) C 0—2 1 Expected Expected
Vagrancy 2 -1 T 0—4 o Expected Low

32



East Longmeadow'’s call for service types were all low or within expected volumes for the one year post-MGM, with
the exception of “general service” calls. Most of this increase is made up of calls marked “Transport,” which
suddenly shot up in 2019 and 2020. There are few common locations and no clear explanation.

Collisions reported to East Longmeadow, 1 September—29 February
Window

Category Pre-MGM

Slope

Pred.

2020

Result

1-Year

Avg Type Window Result

Vehicle in traffic 173 -2 C 152-194 145 Low Expected
Parked vehicle 36 o C 27-45 45  Expected Expected
Pedestrian 4 ) C 2-6 3 Expected  Expected
Bicyclist 1 ) C 0—2 1 Expected  Expected
Animal 20 -1 C 14—26 24 Expected  Expected
Fixed object 27 o C 15-39 19 Expected Expected
Curb/barrier 11 -1 C 7-15 5 Low Expected
Rollover/Jackknife 2 0 C 0—4 2 Expected High

Other/Unknown 13 A T 4—12 12  Expected Expected
Total 286 -7 C 244328 256 Expected Expected

There are no increases in East Longmeadow’s collision reports for his period. Instead, an existing trend of
decreasing collisions accelerated for the agency, producing the second-lowest total in at least a decade (2016 had

233).

33



18-month comparison: Hampden

Population (est. 2019): 5,199
Area: 19.7 square miles

Police officers: 11

City center distance from MGM:
9.06 miles

The most geographically isolated of the 11 communities in this study (the town has no highways, major state routes,
or PVTA bus routes), it was always a long shot that this low-crime community would see much activity post-MGM.
During the year after MGM opened, the agency saw expected volumes of violent crimes and set a 10-year low (at
least) for both property crime and total crime. It had no significant increases in any crime category. The only calls
for service to see significant increases were traffic complaints, which seem to have a local cause.

Crimes reported to Hampden, 1 September-29 February

Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1 Year

Avg Type Window Result
Murder 0 ) C 0—0 o Expected Expected
Sexual Assault 0 0 C 0—0 o Expected Expected
Kidnapping ) 0 C 0—0 o Expected Expected
Robbery 0 0 C 0—0 o Expected Expected
Aggravated Assault 1 0 C 0-2 1 Expected Expected
Simple Assault 4 0 C 0-8 2 Expected  Expected
Threats 2 0 C 1-4 0 Low Expected
Arson o) o) C 0—0 o Expected Expected
Burglary 6 -1 C 1-12 2 Expected Expected
Theft from Persons ) ) C 0—-0 o Expected Expected
Purse-Snatching ) ) C 0—-0 o Expected Expected
Shoplifting ) ) C 0—1 o Expected Expected
Theft from Building 3 -1 T 0—4 2 Expected Expected
Theft from Machine ) ) C 0—-0 o Expected Expected
Theft from Vehicle 3 C 0-8 o Expected Expected
Theft of MV Parts ) C 0—-0 o Expected Expected

34



Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1 Year

Avg Type Window Result

Other Theft 11 -2 C 2-21 3 Expected Low

Auto Theft 2 o) C 0—4 1 Expected Expected
Forgery o) 0 C 0-1 1 Expected Expected
Fraud/Con Games 1 0 C 0-3 3 Expected  Expected
Credit Card Fraud 0 0 C 0-1 o Expected Expected
Identity Theft 1 0 C 03 1 Expected Expected
Employee Theft ) ) C 0—0 o Expected Expected
Extortion o) o) C 0—0 o Expected Expected
Stolen Property 1 o) T 0-1 o Expected Expected
Vandalism 11 -1 C 5—17 3 Low Expected
Drugs 1 o) T 0-1 o Expected Expected
Statutory Rape 0 0 C 0—0 o Expected Expected
Pornography ) ) C 0—-0 o Expected Expected
Prostitution ) 0 C 0—-0 o Expected Expected
Weapons ) ) C 0—1 1 Expected Expected
Bad Checks ) ) C 0—1 o Expected Expected
Disorderly 1 ) T 0—1 1 Expected Expected
Drunk Driving 5 ) C 2—9 4 Expected  Expected
Drunkenness 1 ) C 0—3 1 Expected Expected
Family Offenses ) ) C 0—-0 o Expected Expected
Liquor Laws 3 ) C 1-6 3 Expected Expected
Trespassing 3 -1 C 0 Low Expected
Violent Total 7 C 3 Expected Expected
Property Total C 6 Low Low

Total T 29 Low Low

Hampden reported some of its lowest crime totals in a decade, showing no influence from MGM or indeed any other
influences.

Selected calls for service reported to Hampden, 1 September-29 August
Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year

Avg Type Window Result
Abandoned Vehicle 1 0 C 0—2 1 Expected  Expected
Disabled Vehicle 20 -2 T 11-21 19 Expected  Expected
Disturbance 15 -2 C 6—24 12 Expected High
Domestic Dispute 12 0 C 7—17 11 Expected Expected
General Service 401 -9 T 305—425 403  Expected  Expected
Hunting 2 C 0-5 1 Expected High
Medical 142 T 144—211 181  Expected High
Suspicious Activity 89 -3 T 59—97 81 Expected Expected
Traffic Collision 49 1 C 38-60 47  Expected Expected
Traffic Complaint 3 ) C 0-6 10 High Expected

Most call types rated “high” for the first year did not continue into the subsequent 6 months. One new call type
emerged as unusually high during that later period.

35



Traffic complaints
Seven of the 10 incidents that make up this increase are complaints of a recreational vehicle on Potash Hill Lane
between 1 September and 6 October. The increase thus seems unique to this specific situation.

Collisions reported to Hampden, 1 September—29 February

Category Pre-MGM Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year
Type Window Result
Vehicle in traffic 10 1 T 10-19 7 Low Low
Parked vehicle 4 0 C 2-6 1 Low Expected
Pedestrian 0 C 0-0 o Expected Expected
Bicyclist 0 ) C 0-0 o Expected Expected
Animal 11 1 C 4—21 14 Expected Expected
Fixed object 10 0 C 8-12 8 Expected Expected
Curb/barrier 3 -1 T 1-§ 3 Expected Low
Rollover/Jackknife ) 0 C 0—-0 o Expected Expected
Other/Unknown C 14 2 Expected Expected
Total 40 C 30-50 35 Expected Expected

Hampden was essentially dead average with its collision total during this period.

36



18-month comparison: Holyoke

e N e N

Population (est. 2019): 40,178
Area: 22.8 square miles

Police officers: 112

City center distance from MGM:

J L 7.97 miles

Holyoke was the only participating city to have significant decreases in violent crime, property crime, and total
crimeinthe one year post-MGM. Violent crime continued to decrease within the next six months, although property
crime and total crime leveled out. Yet amid those decreases in broad categories, the agency also showed many
sustained increases in individual crimes. Those increases are analyzed below, but it's important to keep in mind that
Holyoke seems to have embarked on a mission to improve its coding in 2019, and so many of the increases may just
be shifts from historically bad codes to correct ones.

Holyoke has a lot of bars, restaurants, hotels, convenience stores, and gas stations that might ultimately see an
increase in activity from MGM patrons, but this has not been reflected in the crime statistics so far. We will continue
to monitor.

Crimes reported to Holyoke, 1 September-29 February

Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year

Avg Type Window Result
Murder 1 o C 0—2 2 Expected Expected
Sexual Assault 14 C 8-20 20 Expected High
Kidnapping 4 -1 T 2—4 0 Low Expected
Robbery 50 A C 31-69 28 Low Low
Aggravated Assault 122 3 C 103-141 114 Expected Low
Simple Assault 355 -5 C 304—£406 273 Low Expected
Threats 192 -5 C 163-221 113 Low Low
Arson 5 0 T 2-6 2 Expected Low
Burglary 175 -21 T 79-134 120 Expected Low
Theft from Persons 0 0 C 0—0 5 High High
Purse-Snatching ) o) C 0—1 8 High High
Shoplifting 237 -23 T 144—186 207 High High

37



Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year

Avg Type Window Result
Theft from Building 7 0 C 3-11 16 High High
Theft from Machine o) 0 C 0-0 o Expected Expected
Theft from Vehicle 99 -10 T 48-125 45 Low Low
Theft of MV Parts 4 -1 T 1-4 0 Low Expected
Other Theft 561 -49 T 242-547 275 Expected Low
Auto Theft 58 C 43-73 53 Expected Expected
Forgery 18 C 11-25 14 Expected  Expected
Fraud/Con Games 6 3 C 0-21 26 High High
Credit Card Fraud 26 -1 C 20-32 48 High Low
Identity Theft ) 0 C 0—-0 2 High Expected
Employee Theft C 0—-1 o Expected Expected
Extortion C 0—3 o Expected Expected
Stolen Property 33 -1 C 25—41 8 Low Expected
Vandalism 394 -31 T 204359 322 Expected Expected
Drugs 243 -13 T 146-263 173 Expected  Expected
Statutory Rape ) 0 C 0—0 7 High Expected
Pornography 1 T 2-6 2 Expected High
Prostitution 0 C 03 3 Expected Expected
Weapons 37 5 T 41-69 50 Expected High
Bad Checks 0 o) T 0—3 o Expected Expected
Disorderly 81 -3 C 63-99 58 Low Expected
Drunk Driving 19 C 12-26 36 High Expected
Drunkenness ) C 0—0 o Expected Expected
Family Offenses 1 C 0—3 10 High High
Liquor Laws 1 0 T 0—1 9 High High
Trespassing T 0—26 56 High High
Violent Total C 611-863 Low
Property Total T 8741340 Expected
Total T 1784—2380 Expected

Thefts from persons and purse snatchings
These offense categories are often confused, and it seemed to make sense to report on them together since
Holyoke had a high incidence of both throughout the 18-month period post-MGM. Victims were almost all from
Holyoke or immediate surrounding towns; only one offender was identified among the 13 incidents during the six-
month period; he was a 40-year-old man from Southampton.

There is a fairly clear geographic concentration in the north end of downtown, though spread throughout this
period.

38



g
=1

15
wyalde
Nanal

Pa,
Ta

E]
a0
o
3
i

11/26/2019 23:19.00

e

Tharpa Ave
C'Cannar e
iy i
4 ~,
)“[ 0
(7

Ple.

Cottage fiva

iconnar Ave
Schoal 5t

aluy oL

iy Crass|fva

"y B

Manrag gy | onY M0 | 1549450

Couny,

Saint Hramg Ayl

LT
sw
250
<

=

Q 02/15/2020 21:287
Vs

Crescent 5t
Y
&
N
\

Shoplifting

This increase continues from the previous year and is largely explained by a few locations, including Victoria's Secret
at the Holyoke Mall, Ulta Beauty on Holyoke Street, and Save-a-Lot on South Street. Enough agencies are reporting
similar increases that | am persuaded as to the existence of a regional trend, but this category is heavily influenced
by security practices at the reporting stores, changes to which have not yet been sufficiently researched.

Thefts from buildings

There are no commonalities in the businesses affected by this increase, which started in April 2019, about the same
time that the agency started improving its coding in other categories. A comparable drop in “all other” thefts
suggests a shifting of categories rather than a real trend.

Fraud/con games

There are coding problems with this category. The agency reported single-digit totals in this IBR code (26A) until
the end of 2018; then it reported 63 in the one year post-MGM. A review of the charges associated with the codes
shows that they are almost all mis-coded credit card fraud (26B) or larceny by check (90A). There are a couple of
repeat locations, including the Holyoke Mall and a local package store. It will take a bit longer to untangle the data
to see if there are any real increasing trends in these categories.

Credit card fraud

Here again we have a likely coding issue. Most of the incidents are occurring at residences, where it is tough to
commit credit card fraud, and the offense associated with the incidents indicates “identify fraud” rather than credit
card fraud. | am designating this a coding error pending further investigation.

Identity theft

39



The agency used this code for the first time in the dataset in November 2019 and once more in February 2020.
Under-use of the code almost certainly occludes the actual number of incidents occurring in Holyoke, in both the
past and present (see “credit cad fraud”), and thus nothing can be drawn from the fact of the “increase.” Both
incidents involved men from the city of Holyoke.

Statutory rape

The seven incidents in this category represent a significant increase given that the agency has only used this code
once before, in 2010. The increase during this period is probably not a “real” increase, then, but rather a result of
better coding. Still, seven incidents, even given those circumstances, is a bit high. The available data suggests
incidents happening at residences and schools, making an MGM connection unlikely. The agency itself will have to
report otherwise.

Drunk driving
Holyoke made a lot more drunk driving arrests than normal during this period, which doesn‘t necessarily correspond
with increases in drunk driving. See the special section later in this report for a full analysis of area drunk driving.

Family offenses

Between February and 2015 and May 2019, the agency reported no crimes in this category, so the sudden increase
seems to be a matter of improved coding rather than an actual increase. There is notably no corresponding increase
in domestic violence or domestic dispute calls.

Liquor laws
As with Chicopee and Springfield, the increase seems to exclusively involve charges of open containers of alcohol
in vehicles stopped during traffic enforcement.

Trespassing

A massive increase in this crime category began in March 2019, after several years of virtually no use of this code.
All evidence points to under-reporting in previous years rather than an actual increase in the number of trespassing
incidents. There is a high concentration at several apartment buildings on EIm Street and Essex Street.

Selected calls for service reported to Holyoke, 1 September—29 February

Category Pre-MGM Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year
Avg Type Window Result
Abandoned Vehicle 45 -2 C 32-58 54  Expected Expected
Disabled Vehicle 177 -2 C 136—218 154  Expected Expected
Disturbance 1518 -35 T 1189-1569 1360 Expected Low
Domestic Dispute 169 -1 C 136—202 115 Low Low
General Service 662 0 C 592-732 609 Expected Low
Gunshots 58 -2 C 41—75 111 High High
Hunting 0 o) C 0—1 o Expected Expected
Liquor 37 -1 C 25—49 25 Expected Low
Lost Property 46 -3 C 30-62 18 Low Expected
Medical 831 42 C 617—-1045 523 Low Low
Overdose 39 15 T 50-113 163 High Expected
Psychological 107 43 T 121350 267 Expected Expected
Suspicious Activity 572 -22 C 441—703 423 Low Low
Traffic Collision 1058 15 T 1027-1212 1035 Expected Expected
Traffic Complaint 97 -9 T 50—119 61 Expected Expected
Vagrancy 165 4 C 123-207 133 Expected Expected

40



Gunshots

Reports of shots fired increased in Holyoke throughout the 18-month period after MGM opened. Unlike
Springfield’s similar increase, Holyoke’s cannot be blamed on gunshot detection systems. Fortunately, there is no
corresponding increase in murder or aggravated assault, indicating that no one is getting hit. Unlike the 2019
increase, which was concentrated late at night, the increase during this period seems to be spread throughout the
day. The geographic concentration remains in the downtown, between Beech Street and the canal. There is no
logical connection between this type of activity and MGM.

!- a3 o -.‘
e | & 3 >

Figure 9: Gunshots reported in Holyoke from September 2019 to February 2020

Overdoses

Holyoke was the only agency to report such an increase in this tragic category. A lack of corroborative increases (in
both other regions and other drug-related incidents) suggests that this is likely a local problem. Incidents are heavily
concentrated in the downtown and waterfront.

Collisions reported to Holyoke, 1 September-29 February

Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1 Year
Avg Type Window Result
Vehicle in traffic 601 17 T 591—750 565 Low Expected
Parked vehicle 173 6 T 164—231 186 Expected Expected
Pedestrian 18 0 C 11-25 19 Expected Expected

41



Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1 Year
Avg Type Window Result
Bicyclist 4 -1 T 2—4 3 Expected Expected
Animal 4 0 C 1-7 7 Expected Low
Fixed object 40 1 T 37-55 50 Expected Expected
Curb/barrier 28 0 C 19-37 31 Expected High
Rollover/Jackknife 2 ) C 0—4 2 Expected Expected
Other/Unknown 17 0 C 15—-19 20 High Expected
Total 887 25 T 896-1076 883 Low Expected

Only the “other/unknown” category showed an unusual increase during this period (and just by one). Overall,

collisions were extremely low in Holyoke during this period.

42



18-month comparison: Longmeadow

Population (est. 2019): 15,737
Area: 9.7 square miles

Police officers: 27

City center distance from MGM:
3.67 miles

Longmeadow is physically close to Springfield and MGM, and the northern part of the town has often seen a
spillover of crime from Springfield’s summer neighborhoods. In the year post-MGM, we saw a pattern of increased
thefts from vehicles and residences within several northern Longmeadow neighborhoods, suppressed for a while
by DDACTS deployments but returning in the summer of 2019 and then disappearing again in the fall and winter.
Traffic collisions had also been high in the last four months of 2018 but not in 2019 or 2020, bringing the total just
barely into the “expected” range. Traffic related complaints, on the other hand, remained high.

Crimes reported to Longmeadow, 1 September—29 February

Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year
Avg Type Window Result
Murder ) 0 C 0-0 o Expected Expected
Sexual Assault 2 0 T 1-4 0 Low Expected
Kidnapping 0 0 C 0-1 o Expected Expected
Robbery 1 0 T 0—1 o Expected Expected
Aggravated Assault 3 0 C 1-6 3 Expected Expected
Simple Assault 7 0 C 5—9 5 Expected Expected
Threats 9 -2 T 3-5 5 Expected Expected
Arson 0 0 C 0—1 1 Expected Expected
Burglary 15 1 C 9—22 21 Expected Expected
Theft from Persons 1 0 C 0—2 o Expected Expected
Purse-Snatching 0 C 0—1 o Expected Expected
Shoplifting 0 C 0—7 4 Expected  Expected
Theft from Building 17 -1 C 7—28 12 Expected Expected
Theft from Machine ) 0 C 0—0 o Expected Expected
Theft from Vehicle 17 -2 C 8—26 19 Expected High
Theft of MV Parts 0 0 C 0—1 1 Expected Expected

43



Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year

Avg Type Window Result
Other Theft 25 -2 C 1535 29 Expected Expected
Auto Theft 4 0 C 1-8 6 Expected High
Forgery 2 0 T 13 0 Low Expected
Fraud/Con Games 12 -1 C 6—18 25 High Expected
Credit Card Fraud 3 0 C 1-5 1 Expected Low
Identity Theft 13 1 C 5—21 18 Expected Expected
Employee Theft 0 C 0—-0 o Expected Expected
Extortion 0 C 0-0 o Expected Expected
Stolen Property 0 C 0—4 2 Expected Low
Vandalism 21 -2 T 7—26 17  Expected Low
Drugs 3 -1 T 1-2 1 Expected Low
Statutory Rape 1 0 C 0-2 4 High Expected
Pornography ) 0 C 0—1 1 Expected Expected
Prostitution ) 0 C 0—0 o Expected Expected
Weapons 1 0 C 0—2 1 Expected Expected
Bad Checks 1 o) T 0—1 o Expected Expected
Disorderly 1 0 C 0—2 o Expected Expected
Drunk Driving 11 -2 T 6—16 6 Expected Expected
Drunkenness ) T 0—1 2 High Expected
Family Offenses 0 C 0—0 2 High Expected
Liquor Laws 4 -1 T 0—4 2 Expected Expected
Trespassing C 1 Expected Expected
Violent Total T 10-24 14 Expected Expected
Property Total T 92-143 156 High Low
Total T 118-176 190 High Low

Fraud/con games

Like many agencies in the region, Longmeadow saw an increase in the code used for various types of fraud and
confidence schemes, reporting record highs for the six-month period ending in February 2020. As Longmeadow
Police reported themselves in 2020 to the media, they have identified a pattern of these scams that target elderly
residents by telephone, often claiming that the resident has won the lottery, or that his children or grandchildren
are in trouble and need financial assistance. There is some evidence that this increase is statewide. We have seen
no specific casino nexus yet.

Statutory rape

There were four such incidents between September 2019 and February 2020. Due to the sensitive nature of such
reports, the Longmeadow Police will have to report if there are any likely MGM connections, but given that all are
tagged as happening at residences (as opposed to hotels or places where visitors would stay), it seems unlikely.

Drunkenness

The agency reported two protective custodies in early 2020, which is two more than it usually has during this period.
The locations are not inconsistent with travel routes from MGM.

Family offenses
A pair of incidents in November and February seem to involve residents with no MGM connection.

44



Selected calls for service reported to Longmeadow, 1 September—29 February

Category Pre-MGM Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year
Avg Type Window Result
Disabled Vehicle 57 -2 T 36—61 59 Expected Expected
Disturbance 51 -2 C 36—66 53 Expected Expected
Domestic Dispute 33 -1 C 24—42 0 Low Expected
General Service 425 3 C 384—466 424 Expected Low
Medical 530 27 T 560—717 635 Expected Expected
Suspicious Activity 228 -5 C 204—252 243 Expected Expected
Traffic Collision 210 2 C 185—235 198 Expected Low
Traffic Complaint 70 4 T 73-99 119 High Expected

Traffic complaint

Longmeadow showed a slightly high value for erratic, improper, and annoying driving and parking behaviors, but
with no particular geographic or temporal concentration. As noted in several of the other communities’ profiles,
this is a call type that almost inevitably increases with extra traffic in a community. A repeat issue on Grassy Gutter

Road accounted for 7 of the increased incidents.

Collisions reported to Longmeadow, 1 September—29 February

Category Pre-MGM Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year
Avg Type Window Result
Vehicle in traffic 138 5 C 107-169 121 Expected Expected
Parked vehicle 40 1 C 3149 39 Expected High
Pedestrian 1 o) T 13 1 Expected Expected
Bicyclist 1 ) T 1-3 1 Expected Low
Animal 14 1 C 6—22 9 Expected Expected
Fixed object 16 1 T 13-25 14 Expected High
Curb/barrier 5 1 C 1-10 7 Expected High
Rollover/Jackknife 0 0 T 0—-1 o Expected High
Other/Unknown 5 o C 37 6 Expected Expected
Total 221 8 C 171271 198 Expected High

Increases seen during the first year reversed during the “winter without a winter,” keeping everything in normal

range.



18-month comparison: Ludlow

LUDLOW

Population (est. 2018): 21,395

Area: 28.2 square miles

Police officers: 42

City center distance from MGM:

9.55 miles

A largely residential community, Ludlow showed no increases in crime along the travel routes to MGM that we
hypothesized might see greater activity. Nor did it see any changes in traffic collisions. A brief increase in domestic
violence and disputes in 2018 seems to have fallen off; it was unlikely that this trend was related to MGM

Springfield.

Crimes reported to Ludlow, 1 September—29 February

Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1 Year
Avg Type Window Result

Murder 0 0 C 0—0 0 Expected Expected
Sexual Assault 2 -1 T 0-3 3 Expected  Expected
Kidnapping 1 ) C 0—2 o Expected Expected
Robbery 2 -1 T 0—4 1 Expected  Expected
Aggravated Assault 15 3 T 19-31 26  Expected Expected
Simple Assault 34 6 T 34—78 5o Expected High
Threats 19 1 C 12-27 26 Expected  Expected
Arson 0 o) C 0-1 1 Expected  Expected
Burglary 37 -6 T 16—39 17 Expected  Expected
Theft from Persons 1 ) C 0—2 5 High Expected
Purse-Snatching 1 o) C 0-1 1 Expected  Expected
Shoplifting 14 2 T 9—38 18 Expected  Expected
Theft from Building 21 -2 C 9-33 5 Low Low
Theft from Machine 0 ) C 0—-0 o Expected Expected
Theft from Vehicle 20 -1 C 6—40 13 Expected  Expected
Theft of MV Parts 0 ) T 0—3 2 Expected Expected
Other Theft 60 -4 T 3464 55 Expected  Expected
Auto Theft 10 1 C 3-17 11 Expected Low

46



Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1 Year

Avg Type Window Result
Forgery 8 ) C 4—12 6 Expected Low
Fraud/Con Games 16 2 T 13-28 17  Expected Low
Credit Card Fraud 6 ) C 0-13 2 Expected Low
Identity Theft 14 1 C 6—22 14 Expected Low
Employee Theft ) C 03 o Expected Low
Extortion 0 0 C 0—0 o Expected Expected
Stolen Property 4 -1 C 1-8 o) Low Expected
Vandalism 59 -3 T 41-64 5o Expected  Expected
Drugs 20 0 C 12—28 10 Low Expected
Statutory Rape 1 0 C 0—3 o Expected Low
Pornography 1 o) C 0—2 o Expected Expected
Prostitution 0 o) C 0—0 0 Expected Expected
Weapons 5 1 T 3-10 4 Expected  Expected
Bad Checks 2 ) C 0—4 o Expected Low
Disorderly 10 -1 C 3-17 9 Expected Low
Drunk Driving 21 1 C 14—28 22 Expected  Expected
Drunkenness 6 -1 T 2-6 1 Low Expected
Family Offenses C 0—-0 o Expected Expected
Liquor Laws 7 C 5—9 2 Low Expected
Trespassing C 2-8 2 Expected Expected
Violent Total T 65-145 Expected High
Property Total C 223-323 Low Expected
Total @ 371-479 Expected Low

Theft from persons

This category includes pocketpicking and theft of property directly from the area of control of an individual, such
as a purse stolen from the back of a chair while dining or a smartphone swiped from a bar while the victim isn’t
paying attention. The nature of the crime means that it rarely occurs at houses, which makes it all the more
confusing that four of the five incidents reported by Ludlow have “residence” as the location type.

Selected calls for service reported to Ludlow, 1 September—29 February

Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1 Year
Avg Type Window Result
Abandoned Vehicle 4 1 C 1-8 5 Expected High
Disabled Vehicle 90 1 C 81—99 86 Expected Expected
Disturbance 391 -26 T 240338 400 High Expected
Domestic Dispute 78 2 C 60—-96 87 Expected High
General Service 446 25 T 498-591 502 Expected Expected
Lost Property 3 1 T 2-6 4 Expected Expected
Medical 862 25 T 913-1007 1146 High High
Psychological 4 ) C 2-6 2 Expected Expected
Suspicious Activity 289 11 C 214364 299 Expected Low
Traffic Collision 292 7 C 256—328 340 High Expected
Traffic Complaint 56 20 T 49-100 103 High High

47



Disturbance

A large increase (a reversal of a historically downward trend) is found in codes for “disturbance general,”
“disturbance loud noise,” and “disturbance neighbor.” Geographic analysis shows a heavy concentration south of
the Turnpike and west of the country club, in the mixed residential-commercial neighborhood near the riverfront,
particularly on weekday evenings. A single address at 100 State Street (Ludlow Mills) accounts for about 15% of the
increase. This trend is consistent with ongoing redevelopment and improvement of this area and thus seems unlike
to relate to MGM.

Medical aids

This increase, which stretches throughout the 18-month period, seems associated with several high-volume
addresses, particularly a dialysis center on Chestnut Place, a senior living facility on West Street a residence on
Miller Street, a residence on Nash Hill Road, an apartment building on State Street, and a residence on Highland
Avenue. Each of these addresses had at least 20 calls during the six-month period and together accounted for 221
calls, an increase of 136 from their collective norm. As none of them are influenced by a visiting or traveling
population, an MGM connection seems unlikely.

Traffic complaints

Complaints of “erratic operation” increased in Ludlow during this period, primarily on Center Street, East Street,
Chapin Street, and West Street on weekday evenings. However, the agency did not start using this code until 2016,
making average and predictive volumes difficult to calculate.

Collisions reported to Ludlow, 1 September-29 February

Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year
Avg Type Window Result
Vehicle in traffic 175 14 T 188-269 211 Expected  Expected
Parked vehicle 42 2 T 44-52 36 Low Expected
Pedestrian 4 -1 T 17 2 Expected Expected
Bicyclist 1 ) C 0—2 2 Expected High
Animal 6 1 T 6—13 14 High Expected
Fixed object 34 1 C 25-43 35 Expected Low
Curb/barrier 17 o C 14—20 10 Low Expected
Rollover/Jackknife 3 ) C 2—4 2 Expected High
Other/Unknown 16 ) C 12-20 25 High High
Total 297 17 T 315-412 337 Expected Expected

Ludlow had a couple of “high” categories and overall didn't see the same decreases that other agencies did during
this period. Nonetheless, it ended the six months with total collisions well within the expected range.

48



18-month comparison: Northampton

Population (est. 2019): 28,735

Area: 35.8 square miles

Police officers: 63

City center distance from MGM:
16.70 miles

As the farthest community from MGM in this study, if Northampton were likely to have an increase in crimes or calls
because of MGM, it would most likely be reflected in its few hotels, services near its highway exits, and perhaps a
general increase in the population visiting its arts community. So far, it does not appear that these trends have
occurred. Total crime was low for the agency this period, though there were increases in, auto theft, fraud, family
offenses, and trespassing. A pattern of bad checks and forged checks seen in the final months of 2018 did not
continue into 2019 or 2020. A few increases seen below seem contained to this community.

Crimes reported to Northampton, 1 September-29 February

Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1 Year
Avg Type Window Result
Murder 0 ) C 0-1 o Expected Expected
Sexual Assault 19 C 1226 19 Expected  Expected
Kidnapping 2 0 C 0-5 2 Expected Expected
Robbery 9 -1 C 414 10 Expected  Expected
Aggravated Assault 45 2 C 35-55 29 Low Low
Simple Assault 140 -6 T 89-154 121 Expected  Expected
Threats 32 -3 T 20-34 18 Low Expected
Arson 1 o) C 0—3 2 Expected  Expected
Burglary 49 -5 T 27-47 22 Low Expected
Theft from Persons C 03 3 Expected Low
Purse-Snatching 1 C 0—1 6 High Expected
Shoplifting 75 C 58-92 58 Expected  Expected
Theft from Building 100 -12 T 46—70 48  Expected Low
Theft from Machine 1 ) C 0—2 o Expected Expected
Theft from Vehicle 29 1 C 17-41 14 Low Low

49



Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1 Year

Avg Type Window Result
Theft of MV Parts 10 -1 C 5—17 8 Expected Expected
Other Theft 53 -3 T 32-58 47 Expected  Expected
Auto Theft 9 0 C 5—13 7 Expected High
Forgery 14 -1 T 6—-15 6 Expected Expected
Fraud/Con Games 24 T 21-41 42 High High
Credit Card Fraud 8 C 3-13 3 Expected  Expected
Identity Theft 20 -3 T 9-19 15  Expected Low
Employee Theft C 03 o Expected Low
Extortion T 0-1 o Expected Expected
Stolen Property C 3-11 7 Expected Expected
Vandalism 94 -9 T 52-82 80 Expected Low
Drugs 43 -5 C 19-67 30 Expected  Expected
Statutory Rape 3 ) T 2-6 2 Expected Expected
Pornography 4 0 C 2-6 3 Expected Expected
Prostitution ) ) C 0—1 o Expected Expected
Weapons 6 ) C 2-11 9 Expected Expected
Bad Checks 4 ) C 1-7 5 Expected Expected
Disorderly 31 -2 C 20—42 34 Expected  Expected
Drunk Driving 64 -1 C 34—94 76  Expected Low
Drunkenness 63 -4 T 36-67 48 Expected Expected
Family Offenses ) ) C 0—1 2 High High
Liquor Laws 17 -1 C 10—24 14 Expected Expected
Trespassing T 1634 28  Expected High
Violent Total C 160289 Expected Expected
Property Total T 295-445 Expected Expected
Total T 644—945 Expected Expected

Purse Snatching

A pattern of this rare crime hit the city during the six-month period, including three incidents in December, two at
the same retirement community (but with different suspects), and one at an assisted living facility not far away.
Two of the six incidents resulted in the identification of suspects: a 37-year-old woman from Florence and a 28-year-
old woman from Holyoke. One incident resulted in the rest of a 22-year-old man from Holyoke. Thus far, there is
no evidence of an MGM connection.

Fraud/Con Games

A fairly significant increase in fraud incidents from March to December 2019 seem to be mostly mis-coded credit
card frauds, but that simply shifts the increase to a different category. The Wal-Mart on North King Street reported
12 incidents (up from a usual 4-5 per year), and there was another concentration along Main Street businesses.

Family offenses

As with Holyoke, the increase here seems to be one of improved coding rather than an actual change. The code was
almost never used before 2019.

50



Selected calls for service reported to Northampton, 1 September—29 February

Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1 Year
Avg Type Window Result
Abandoned Vehicle 9 -1 T 3-12 5 Expected Low
Disabled Vehicle 160 -3 C 135-185 140 Expected Expected
Disturbance 786 -16 C 667—905 730  Expected Expected
General Service 429 14 T 440—531 407 Low Expected
Liquor 156 -1 C 127-185 139 Expected Low
Lost Property 206 1 C 172—240 201 Expected Low
Medical 827 48 T 852-1183 919 Expected  Expected
Overdose 13 4 T 18-30 18 Expected Low
Psychological 64 -37 T 0—76 2 Expected Expected
Suspicious Activity 874 -58 T 506—927 781  Expected Expected
Traffic Collision 679 7 C 626-732 661 Expected Expected
Traffic Complaint 437 -3 C 4,00—4714 390 Low Expected
Vagrancy 12 2 C 0-27 8 Expected Low

Increases in disabled vehicles and general service calls seen in late 2018 did not continue into 2019, resulting in no
unusually “high” incident types for the 18-month period.

Collisions reported to Northampton, 1 September-29 February
Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Result

Pred. 2020 1-Year

Avg Type Window Result
Vehicle in traffic 208 -3 C 184232 169 Low Expected
Parked vehicle 26 -2 C 17-35 13 Low Expected
Pedestrian 8 -1 C 5—11 8 Expected Expected
Bicyclist 5 -1 T 2-6 10 High Low
Animal 11 2 T 6—29 7  Expected High
Fixed object 24 o C 11-37 27  Expected Low
Curb/barrier 13 ) C 6—20 7 Expected  Expected
Rollover/Jackknife 2 ) C 0—4 2 Expected  Expected
Other/Unknown 7 o C 5-10 10 Expected Low
Total 304 -4 C 284-324 253 Low Low

Like the other communities, Northampton saw a significant decrease in collisions during this period, likely because
the “winter without a winter” made driving conditions less dangerous. The increase in bicycle-related crashes is
oddly concentrated in the last two weeks of September 2019, when four crashes were reported. They are spread
across the town and across days and times.



18-month comparison: West Springfield

\

LRkl —

Population (est. 2019): 28,628

- Area: 17.5square miles

Police officers: 85

City center distance from MGM:

3.83 miles

With a large hotel cluster directly across the river from MGM Springfield, it seemed inevitable that West Springfield
would see an increase in activity at hotels specifically. Eighteen months later, the hotels may have more patrons,
but their presence isn't being reflected in any additional crime. Hotel crime in the city is down from the average.

In general, crime is expected or low in the city. Patterns seen during the first year did not continue into the fall and
winter of 2019—2020. The agency is however, one of several to report increases in drunk driving. It and other liquor-

related offenses are analyzed below.

Crimes reported to West Springfield, 1 September—29 February

Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year
Avg Type Window Result
Murder 1 0 C 0—2 o Expected Expected
Sexual Assault 14 1 T 12-23 18 Expected  Expected
Kidnapping 2 0 C 0—4 3 Expected Expected
Robbery 16 -2 T 6—18 11 Expected Low
Aggravated Assault 56 1 C 51—61 41 Low Expected
Simple Assault 102 -7 T 58—120 94 Expected  Expected
Threats 31 0 C 26-36 36 Expected Expected
Arson 3 ) C 0-6 1 Expected Expected
Burglary 93 -13 T 44—87 60 Expected Expected
Theft from Persons 3 ) C 0-6 4 Expected  Expected
Purse-Snatching 5 ) C 1—9 7 Expected Expected
Shoplifting 160 9 C 111-209 201 Expected Expected
Theft from Building 67 -3 C 49-85 40 Low Low

52



Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year

Avg Type Window Result

Theft from Machine o) 0 C 0—0 o Expected Expected
Theft from Vehicle 57 C 39-75 44  Expected  Expected
Theft of MV Parts 1 C 0—2 2 Expected  Expected
Other Theft 243 -17 T 151-242 173 Expected  Expected
Auto Theft 38 -3 T 22—46 40 Expected  Expected
Forgery 18 0 C 15—21 13 Low Expected
Fraud/Con Games 38 3 T 32-68 42 Expected High

Credit Card Fraud 7 o} C 311 3 Expected  Expected
Identity Theft 24 2 C 15—33 25 Expected  Expected
Employee Theft 5 ) C 2—9 0 Low Low

Extortion o) o) C 0-1 1 Expected Expected
Stolen Property 16 -1 C 10—22 10 Expected Expected
Vandalism 150 -10 T 99-149 104 Expected  Expected
Drugs 49 1 C 30-68 56 Expected Expected
Statutory Rape 3 ) T 2-6 5 Expected Expected
Pornography 2 1 T 1-6 4 Expected  Expected
Prostitution 1 ) C 0—3 1 Expected Expected
Weapons 6 ) C 2-10 7 Expected Expected
Bad Checks 4 -1 T 1-5 5  Expected Low

Disorderly 15 0 C 11-22 22 Expected Expected
Drunk Driving 12 -1 C 4—20 27 High Expected
Drunkenness C 0—1 1 Expected Expected
Family Offenses C 14 4 Expected  Expected
Liquor Laws 4 -1 T 2-3 5 High Expected
Trespassing C 8-16 Expected  Expected
Violent Total T 154-263 Expected Expected
Property Total T 691-900 770 Expected Expected
Total T 950-1243 1125 Expected Expected

West Springfield was one of several agencies to report an increase in drunk driving and liquor laws, analyzed in a
later section. A major increase in fraud during the 12 months post-MGM did not continue past September 201g9.

Selected calls for service reported to West Springfield, 1 September—29 February

Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year
Avg Type Window Result
Disturbance 858 -17 T 670—908 835 Expected Expected
Domestic Dispute 199 23 T 216-355 268 Expected Expected
General Service 358 -31 T 216-378 329 Expected Expected
Suspicious Activity 584 15 T 549-738 604 Expected High
Traffic Collision 864 20 T 831-1058 880 Expected High
Traffic Complaint 432 32 T 445-675 463  Expected Expected

All calls for service were as expected in West Springfield during the study period, with increases in suspicious activity
and traffic collisions failing to carry over into the fall and winter. Suspicious activity calls had been traced to
panhandlers and loiterers outside businesses near the city’s two bridges, and the naturally colder weather in the
winter may have suppressed that activity. The weather was still better than normal, however, and West Springfield
benefited from a regional decrease in collisions.

53



Collisions reported to West Springfield, 1 September—29 February

Category Pre-MGM Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year
Avg Type Window Result
Vehicle in traffic 265 9 T 242—358 356 Expected High
Parked vehicle 32 4 T 26-66 46 Expected High
Pedestrian 12 1 C 7-17 13 Expected High
Bicyclist 2 0 C 0-5 3 Expected Expected
Animal 3 1 T 1-8 3 Expected High
Fixed object 28 1 T 2839 31 Expected High
Curb/barrier 26 -1 C 21-31 20 Low Expected
Rollover/Jackknife 1 0 C 0—2 1 Expected Expected
Other/Unknown 12 -1 T 6-14 6 Expected High
Total 381 13 T 351-516 479 Expected High

West Springfield had the sharpest increases in traffic collisions during the one year post-MGM, but even its totals
withered in the sunlight of the “winter without a winter.” We will watch to see if crashes creep up again during
seasons less susceptible to weather-based trends.

54



18-month comparison: Wilbraham

Population (est. 2019): 14,730
Area: 22.4 square miles
Police officers: 27

City center distance from MGM:
8.36 miles

Wilbraham is physically close to Springfield but lacks significant travel routes to and from MGM Springfield. A
concern going into this study was increased retail crimes along Route 20. There were increased shopliftings at Home
Depot and CVS, but these have not yet shown a definitive MGM relationship. Overall, the agency experienced total
crime and property crime within expected parameters, with a few notable increases discussed below.

Crimes reported to Wilbraham, 1 September-29 February
Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1 Year

Avg Type Window Result

Murder 0 ) C 0—0 o Expected Expected
Sexual Assault 3 1 T 2-8 5  Expected High

Kidnapping 0 ) T 0—1 o Expected Expected
Robbery 1 ) C 0—2 o Expected Expected
Aggravated Assault 6 ) C 3-9 7 Expected  Expected
Simple Assault 26 0 C 17-35 22 Expected  Expected
Threats 19 -1 C 13-25 18 Expected  Expected
Arson 0 ) C 0—1 o Expected Expected
Burglary 19 A T 7-16 10 Expected  Expected
Theft from Persons 0 o) T 0—0 o Expected Expected
Purse-Snatching 0 o) C 0—0 0 Expected Expected
Shoplifting 21 3 T 19-48 34 Expected High

Theft from Building 8 -2 T 2-13 4  Expected Low

Theft from Machine 0 0 C 0—0 o Expected Expected
Theft from Vehicle 11 -1 T 4—12 5 Expected  Expected
Theft of MV Parts 1 ) C 0-2 o Expected Low

Other Theft 34 -4 T 15-29 30 High Expected

55



Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1 Year

Avg Type Window Result

Auto Theft 7 -1 C 2-13 4 Expected  Expected
Forgery 4 -1 C 1-7 7 Expected  Expected
Fraud/Con Games 8 0 C 5—11 11 Expected  Expected
Credit Card Fraud 4 ) C 2-6 o) Low Expected
Identity Theft 5 1 C 2-8 10 High High

Employee Theft 1 ) C 0—2 o Expected Low

Extortion 0 o) T 0—3 o Expected Expected
Stolen Property 4 o) C 1-7 5 Expected  Expected
Vandalism 28 -3 T 1036 23 Expected  Expected
Drugs 25 -5 T 6—36 11 Expected Low

Statutory Rape 2 0 C 0—4 o Expected Expected
Pornography 1 ) C 0—2 3 High Expected
Prostitution 0 ) C 0—-0 o Expected Expected
Weapons 2 ) C 0-5 o Expected Expected
Bad Checks 1 -1 T 0—2 1 Expected Expected
Disorderly 6 ) C 3-9 5 Expected Expected
Drunk Driving 28 -2 C 17-39 20 Expected  Expected
Drunkenness 5 ) C 2-8 3 Expected Expected
Family Offenses o) ) C 0—-0 o Expected Expected
Liquor Laws 9 ) C 2-16 8 Expected Expected
Trespassing 1 C 6 Expected Expected
Violent Total o C 35-80 Expected Expected
Property Total T 94-144 Expected Expected
Total T 173-272 Expected Expected

Shoplifting and other theft

The “other theft” category was slightly higher than expected during the analysis period. Home Depot, which was
high in shopliftings during the one year post-MGM, shows up as a repeat location in this dataset, accounting for six
of the incidents. A review of stolen items suggests that the “other thefts” are likely miscoded shopliftings, which
means the two trends are one in the same, continued across the 18-month period. The stolen property is primarily
power tools, with a heavy preference for the Milwaukee brand. Most suspects and arrestees are men from the
Springfield or Hartford areas.

Identity theft

The agency saw a big jump in identify fraud throughout the 18-month period. About half the incidents were
reported at the police department. None of the incidents have resulted in the identification of a specific offender.

Pornography

No similarities are immediately apparent among incidents in October, November, and January.

Selected calls for service reported to Wilbraham, 1 September-29 February

Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year
Avg Type Window Result
Abandoned Vehicle 4 ) C 17 2 Expected  Expected
Disabled Vehicle 103 2 C 87-119 101 Expected  Expected
Disturbance 57 2 T 52—78 56  Expected Expected

56



Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year

Avg Type Window Result
Domestic Dispute 78 4 C 58—98 88  Expected Expected
General Service 302 6 C 269-335 307 Expected High
Gunshots 13 o) C 8-18 11 Expected Expected
Hunting 3 1 T 4—10 5 Expected High
Lost Property 21 ) C 18-24 23 Expected  Expected
Medical 448 38 T 459-698 507 Expected Expected
Psychological 21 3 T 20—45 37 Expected Expected
Suspicious Activity 419 -16 C 337-501 374  Expected Expected
Traffic Collision 216 5 T 203-271 183 Low Expected
Traffic Complaint 105 9 T 114165 142  Expected High

Wilbraham showed no significant increases in any of the selected calls for service during this period. Increases seen during the
first 12-month period did not continue.

Collisions reported to Wilbraham, 1 September-29 February
Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1 Year

Avg Type Window Result

Vehicle in traffic 99 2 C 83-115 74 Low Expected
Parked vehicle 16 -1 C 10-22 16 Expected  Expected
Pedestrian 1 ) C 0—2 1 Expected  Expected
Bicyclist 1 ) C 0—2 1 Expected  Expected
Animal 17 4 T 19—40 31 Expected Expected
Fixed object 28 ) C 22-34 20 Low Expected
Curb/barrier 13 o} C 7-19 8 Expected Expected
Rollover/Jackknife 1 0 C 0—1 o Expected Expected
Other/Unknown 9 0 C 5—13 6 Expected High

Total 184 5 T 174-232 157 Low Expected

Total collisions were in the normal range in Wilbraham, as were all the individual categories.



18-month comparison: State Police

NORTHAMPTON

291,
cooins FIELD

MG Springfield

SPR

WILBRAHAM

EAYT LONGMEADpw HAMPDEN

1 LonGIw

Figure 10: A network of State Police-patrolled highways and routes feeds the MGM Springfield area.

State Police patrol state highways (principally I-9o, 1-91, 1-291, and 1-391) in the Springfield area, plus state
properties and parks. They assist local police in response to some crime issues, and in particular have a longstanding
partnership with the Springfield Police to patrol hot spots and reduce street violence and gang activity. In 2018, The
State Police Gaming Enforcement Unit took over primary enforcement responsibilities at MGM Springfield.

58



The Massachusetts State Police operates a records system with different conventions and reporting rules than the
local agencies, so the categories and totals are not directly compatible. In some cases, where both agencies
responded to anincident, the two systems may duplicate each other. The data below comes from a combination of
multiple State Police stations, including B-3 (Springfield), B-6 (Northampton), several sections of Troop E
eliminated in 2018, and various mobile statewide units such as headquarters units, canine units, and investigators.
As with the local agencies, it excludes MGM specifically, as those were covered in a previous section of the report.

Incidents reported to the State Police in the MGM area, 1 September—29 February

Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1 Year
Avg Type Window Result

Abandoned Vehicle 12 4 T 15—41 20 Expected High
Assault 6 0 C 4—8 6 Expected Expected
Building Check 2230 52 C 1640—2820 1608 Low Expected
Disabled Vehicle 1347 -14 C 1117-1577 1560 Expected Expected
Disturbances 19 o C 8-30 25 Expected High
Domestic Dispute 9 1 C 5—13 8 Expected Expected
Drugs 28 -4 C 5—51 23 Expected High
Field Interview C 1-3 2 Expected Expected
Fraud and Forgery o) T 0—-0 o Expected Expected
General Service 71 -15 T 16-77 101 High High
Gunshots 25 6 T 20-79 157 High Expected
Lost Property 14 -1 C 7—21 13 Expected High
Medical 48 4 T 4484 77 Expected Expected
Psychological 5 0 C 3-7 11 High High
Robbery 6 -1 T 2-§ 3 Expected Low
Suspicious Activity 19 1 C 14—24 16 Expected Expected
Traffic Collision 1086 38 T 10511425 1225 Expected Expected
Traffic Complaint 299 -12 T 197-331 407 High High
Trespassing 8 -2 T 1-10 1 Expected Expected

General service
There was a large increase in “assist motorist” calls in 2019 and 2020, particularly on Route 91 in Northampton and
Holyoke. There were also a large number on Reservation Road in Holyoke.

Gunshots
This increase seems to involve the State Police assisting Springfield Police with gunshot reports, which in turn have
been inflated by an expansion of the city’s gunshot detection system.

Psychological
A big jump in “emotionally disturbed person” and “suicide attempt” calls in 2019 and 2020, scattered throughout
the region with no commonalities.

Traffic complaints

Complaints of aggressive driving and erratic operation increased on state roads in this area, particularly Routes go
and g1. There are no other concentrations by month, day, or time. This again could be reflective of a general
increase in traffic in the area.

59



Traffic Complaints on Area Highways

250
200
150
100
50 I
- - -391 -291 Hwy 5 Hwy 57
mAvg m2020

Figure 11: 2019-2020 was marked with extra complaints of erratic driving and aggressive driving on 1-90 and 1-91.

Crashes on state roadways, 1 September—29 February
Category Pre-MGM Avg Slope Window Type Pred.Window 2020 Result 1-Year Result

I-90 151 -3 C 132-170 210 High Expected
I-91 564 32 T 568-814 594 Expected Expected
[-291 123 o C 94—152 119 Expected Expected
I-391 87 2 C 74—100 119 High High
Hwy 5 49 4 T 38-88 63 Expected High
Hwy 57 35 2 T 36-50 36 Expected Low
Total 1008 36 T 976—1330 1141 Expected Expected

State Police data contradicted the local trend, which showed unexpectedly low volume of traffic
collisions during this period, likely because of the mild winter. Overall state police numbers were in the
normal range, but the Turnpike and I-391 both outperformed their expected numbers during this period.
The Turnpike (Route go) increase was almost all in December 2019, but I-391 was high throughout the
fall. The routes are consistent with carrying extra traffic to MGM, but | am wary about crediting the extra
collisions to the casino given the decreases seen elsewhere during this period.

60



Preliminary analysis of COVID-19 closure period

The data for this report was mostly collected in June 2020. The report had always been intended to cover through
February 2020—an 18-month period after MGM opened in August 2018. However, a number of landmark things
occurred towards the end of this analysis period and immediately afterwards.

e 31 December 2019: The World Health Organization confirms a mysterious outbreak of a pneumonia-like
disease in Wuhan, China.
e 11 January 2020: China reports the first death from the new coronavirus.

e 22 January 2020: The first COVID-19 case in the United States is confirmed by the Centers for Disease
Control and prevention.

¢ 30 January 2020: The World Health Organization declares a global health emergency.

e 1 February 2020: The first Massachusetts COVID case is confirmed.

e 11 February 2020: The new virus is given the designation COVID-19 by the WHO.

e 26 February 2020: The first case of local transmission is confirmed in the United States.

e 29 February 2020: The first confirmed U.S. death from COVID-19, a man in Washington State.

e 10 March 2020: Massachusetts Governor Charlie Baker declares a state of emergency.

e 12 March 2020: A man who visited Encore Boston Harbor on 5 March is diagnosed with COVID-1g9.
e 13 March 2020: President Trump declares a national emergency.

e 14 March 2020: The Massachusetts Gaming Commission votes unanimously to suspend operation at all
three casinos.

e 15March 2020: The CDC warns against large gatherings of people. Governor Charlie Baker issues an order
prohibiting gatherings of more than 25 people and closes K—12 schools. Amendments would keep schools
closed for the rest of the season.

e 17 March 2020: With West Virginia’s first COVID-19 case, the virus is present in all 5o states.
e 18 March 2020: Governor Baker orders the closure of non-emergency childcare.

e 23 March 2020: Governor Baker’s 15 March order is amended to prohibit gatherings of more than 10
people.

e 1 May 2020: Governor Baker issues an order requiring face coverings in public places.

e  8-12 July 2020: Massachusetts casinos re-open with restrictions on occupancy and types of activities.

Ultimately, Massachusetts casinos were completely closed from the period of 14 March to 8 July 2020 and have
been operating at 25% capacity since re-opening, naturally eliminating or vastly mitigating their effects on the
surrounding communities. But these closures occurred during a period in which many bars, restaurants, schools,
and other facilities were closed, too, or operating under severe restrictions. Countless workers began working
remotely, and many residents changed their attitudes about the desirability of certain activities, even if they were
technically legal.

The impact on crime and public safety was immediate and detectable. The tables below show significant decreases
in violent and total crimes. Media reports during this period have correctly identified decreases in crimes like
robbery, burglary, thefts from persons, and thefts from vehicles. The media has also widely suggested that
domestic violence increased during this period—a result of too many family members on top of each other for too

61



long—but if that's the case elsewhere, it isnt reflected in the first three months of Springfield-area data. Murder is
oddly the only crime to have shown a significant increase during this period, escaping its predicted upper boundary
by a single incident. Springfield had 4 of the incidents, Chicopee 3, and Holyoke 2.

The reason for such heavy decreases in most crimes was worked out in the 1970s by criminologists Marcus Felson
and Larry Cohen. They argued that crime is largely a byproduct of the routine activities of society. In their daily lives,
people going about their business unwittingly create opportunities for crimes to occur. They leave their houses
unoccupied during large potions of the day. They leave their cars unattended for hours in large parking lots. They
get tipsy in bars and casinos and then go walking through dark alleys. Criminals simply find the right target in the
right time and place.

A pandemic suppresses such activities. People stay at home, where they and their family members are able to guard

their houses, cars, and persons. Criminal stay at home, too. Most daily interactions that would give rise to crime are
vastly suppressed.

Incidents reported to region, 1 March to 31 May

Category Pre-MGM Slope Window Pred. Window 2020 Result
Avg Type

Murder 8 -1 T 4—8 9 High
Sexual Assault 101 2 C 91-111 66 Low
Kidnapping 28 4 T 27-50 13 Low
Robbery 152 -18 T 53—-140 104 Expected
Aggravated Assault 439 -8 C 408—470 342 Low
Simple Assault 1416 -19 C 1304-1528 1024 Low
Threats 758 -8 C 696—-820 522 Low
Arson 20 -1 C 15—25 12 Low
Burglary 566 -65 T 151-589 307 Expected
Theft from Persons 20 -3 T 0—28 12 Expected
Purse-Snatching 6 0 C 3-9 2 Low
Shoplifting 391 14 T 386—479 304 Low
Theft from Building 304 -1 C 257-351 166 Low
Theft from Machine 2 0 C 0-5 2 Expected
Theft from Vehicle 339 -12 C 275403 318 Expected
Theft of MV Parts 128 -9 C 94—162 137 Expected
Other Theft 916 -169 T 0—970 563 Expected
Auto Theft 227 -19 T 93—244 219 Expected
Forgery 79 6 T 68-127 50 Low
Fraud 186 18 T 180-300 135 Low
Credit Card Fraud 84 13 T 74—173 92 Expected
Identity Theft 182 -26 T 0-229 141 Expected
Employee Theft 18 0 C 7-29 4 Low
Extortion 7 4 T 9—26 9 Expected
Stolen Property 74 -5 T 31-87 51 Expected
Vandalism 1066 -70 T 618-1096 796  Expected
Drugs 392 -43 T 205-319 180 Low
Statutory Rape 19 4 T 13—46 13 Expected
Pornography 21 3 T 17-40 24 Expected

62



Category Pre-MGM Slope Window Pred. Window 2020 Result
Avg Type

Prostitution 9 o] C 2-16 o} Low
Weapons 152 3 C 136—-171 169 Expected
Bad Checks 13 -4 T 0—22 2 Expected
Disorderly 183 0 C 168-198 101 Low
Drunk Driving 129 C 117-141 78 Low
Drunkenness 64 -3 C 45-83 36 Low
Family Offenses 86 25 T 59—261 109 Expected
Liquor Laws 46 3 C 35-57 25 Low
Trespassing 156 24 T 181273 147 Low
Violent Total C 2696—3108 Low
Property Total T 2967-4321 Expected
Total T 6580-8839 Low

The effect of the closures on collision reports is also quite significant. People do not crash when they aren't driving.

Collisions reported to the region, 1 March to 31 May

Category Pre-MGM Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result
Avg Type Window
Vehicle in traffic 1937 134 T 2218-2731 1099 Low
Parked vehicle 435 33 T 474656 336 Low
Pedestrian 62 3 T 57—-88 31 Low
Bicyclist 27 -2 C 16—38 13 Low
Animal 22 3 T 22-46 18 Low
Fixed object 224 10 T 219-306 162 Low
Curb/barrier 113 6 T 113-156 99 Low
Rollover/Jackknife 12 1 T 13-19 11 Low
Other/Unknown 66 -1 C 55—77 20 Low
Total 2898 186 T 3282-4002 1789 Low

The implications of these figures are stark. First, even during a period of limited reopening, any trends influenced
by MGM are likely to be undetectable amidst the more significant decreases caused by societal reaction to COVID
unless | invent new methods of detection. Second, 2020 (and probably 2021) will be useless as baseline years in any

future analysis of crime statistics.

63



Geographic analysis

The preceding sections of this report have presented statistics for the 11 participating communities as a whole. For
the most part, they have noted few increases in crime. But it's worth ensuring that some smaller trends aren’t being
overlooked in amidst the large volume of crime and calls for service reported at the agency level.

Metro Center Springfield

MGM Springfield's official address is 1 MGM Way, a street built specifically for the casino. It occupies about half a
block bordered by Union Street, Main Street, State Street, and East Columbus Avenue, its construction having
obliterated the middle section of Howard Street, which became a couple of driveways on either side of the building.
It is at the southeast end of a busy, downtown Metro Center with dozens of businesses, shops, restaurants, and
hotels. Its close neighbors include the Springfield District Court, Symphony Hall, the MassMutual Center, Tower
Square, the UMass Center at Springfield, and the CityStage performing arts center, and it's a good bet that all of
these businesses stand to do more business with MGM bookending their block. Metro Center ends at roughly Union
Station to the northwest, just before Route 291 serves as a natural hard boundary to the neighborhood.

An elevated Route 91 runs to the southwest of MGM and the Metro Center area. On the other side is Riverfront Park
and a variety of businesses and attractions along Hall of Fame Avenue, including the Naismith Memorial Basketball
Hall of Fame. The Connecticut River serves as a hard boundary to the southwest. Northeast and southeast of the
Metro Center, mixed business and residential areas sprawl for miles.

Into this area, we have introduced over 8 million visitors in an 18-month period. These individuals, their cars, their
wallets and purses, their trusting natures, are all potential targets for thieves, robbers, con artists, and more. The
patrons themselves will occasionally drink too much, talk too loudly, get into fights, and get arrested for disorderly
conduct. But at the same time, there are crime suppressors. There are plenty of people to witness criminal activity,
to serve as mutual guardians for each other. There dozens of law enforcement officers and security guards within
shouting distance, and cameras covering most of the major streets. Nearby businesses are staying open later. Late
at night, the streets aren’t quite as dark or empty. Which factors win out? The attractors or the suppressors?

For this analysis, we will consider three geographies:

1. The immediate MGM block, including both sides of Main, State, and Union Streets and East Columbus Avenue,
but excluding the casino building itself, as there was nothing there but a construction site before September 2018.

2. The larger Metro Center area surrounding MGM, southeast to the Basketball Hall of Fame and northwest to Union
Station.

3. The mixed business/residential neighborhoods that surround the Metro Center.

64



Figure 12: The three geographies analyzed in this section. Borders take in both sides of major streets.

To avoid wasting time with very low numbers, | have eliminated (put into the “All Other” category) crimes that

reported an average and 2019 figure of less than 2.

Crimes on the MGM block, 1 September—29 February

Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year
Avg Type Window Result
Sexual Assault ) ) C 0—1 o Expected Expected
Robbery 3 -1 T 0—3 2 Expected Expected
Aggravated Assault 2 ) C 0—4 3 Expected Expected
Simple Assault 6 -1 C 3-9 7 Expected Expected
Threats 4 ) C 2-6 1 Low Expected
Burglary 2 ) C 0—4 2 Expected Low
Shoplifting ) 0 C 0—0 19 High Expected
Theft from Building 2 -1 C 0-5 3 Expected Expected
Theft from Vehicle 6 o) C 1-11 3 Expected  Expected
Other Theft 8 -3 T 1-4 2 Expected  Expected
Auto Theft 1 0 C 0—2 o Expected High
Vandalism 4 -1 C 1-7 3 Expected Low
Drugs 1 0 C 0—2 1 Expected Expected

65



Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year

Avg Type Window Result
Prostitution 1 -1 C 0—4 o Expected Expected
Disorderly 3 T 1-8 2 Expected High
All other 4 ) C 3-5 8 High Expected
Total Violent 15 -1 C 7-23 13 Expected Expected
Total Property 27 -4 T 7-24 38 High Expected
Total Crime 55 -5 T 21-65 65 Expected Expected

For the most part, the MGM block has absorbed the extra traffic without any impact on crime. The sole exception
is the category of shoplifting, which also drove increases in total property crime and total crime. These incidents
are split between two locations: the Pride gas station and convenience store at 1211 East Columbus Avenue and the
CVS at 991 Main Street. The CVS is a new business, having opened in November 2019. It experienced both robberies
during this period, 15 incidents of shoplifting, and one purse snatching. CVS arguably would not have opened a
store at this location without the economic influence of MGM, so in an indirect way we can attribute this increase
to a casino “cause.” Times are spread throughout the day, however, and do not necessarily involve casino patrons.

& i
Figure 13: The CVS (left) and the Pride gas station (right) as captured on Google Street View, fall 2019

Unllie the CVS, the Pride station is open all night, and half of its activity during this period occurred between 23:00
and 06:00. The 15 incidents reported here during this period are four to five times its pre-MGM norm, and include
three simple assaults, one aggrvated assault, four shopliftings, three thefts, a vandalism, and an incicent of
disorderly conduct.

Crimes in the Metro Center, 1 September-29 February

Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year
Type Window Result
Murder 0 ) C 0-1 o Expected Expected
Sexual Assault 3 C 1-6 1 Expected High
Kidnapping 2 0 C 0—4 o Expected Expected
Robbery 27 -2 T 16—27 16 Expected  Expected
Aggravated Assault 32 -1 C 2341 19 Low Low
Simple Assault 92 o} C 77-107 72 Low Expected
Threats YA -1 T 34—46 34 Expected  Expected
Arson 0 0 C 0-1 o Expected Low
Burglary 28 A T 14—26 18 Expected  Expected
Theft from Persons 0 C 0-8 4 Expected  Expected
Purse-Snatching 1 ) C 0—2 1 Expected Expected
Shoplifting 12 2 T 14—20 16  Expected Low
Theft from Building 28 1 C 16—40 28 Expected  Expected
Theft from Machine 1 1 T 0-6 1 Expected Expected

66



Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year

Avg Type Window Result

Theft from Vehicle 46 -2 C 32-60 32 Expected Expected
Theft of MV Parts 3 1 T 2—9 9 Expected Expected
Other Theft 79 -24 T 1425 22 Expected  Expected
Auto Theft 16 -2 T 6-15 17 High Expected
Forgery 7 o C 5—9 8 Expected High

Fraud 10 1 C 7—13 8 Expected Expected
Credit Card Fraud 5 2 T 8-11 8 Expected Expected
Identity Theft 5 0 C 2—9 2 Expected  Expected
Employee Theft 2 ) C 0—4 4 Expected  Expected
Extortion o) o) T 0-1 o Expected Expected
Stolen Property 4 0 C 0-8 8 Expected Expected
Vandalism 62 A C 38-86 43 Expected Low

Drugs 25 C 15-35 21 Expected Expected
Statutory Rape C 0—0 o Expected Expected
Prostitution C 1-17 5  Expected Low

Weapons 10 ) C 5—15 8 Expected Expected
Bad Checks 1 -1 T 0—2 o Expected Expected
Disorderly 26 ) C 18-34 22 Expected Expected
Drunk Driving 3 ) T 1-3 4 High Expected
Drunkenness ) ) C 0—1 o Expected Expected
Family Offenses 2 T 6-11 11 Expected  Expected
Liquor Laws 2 ) C 1-3 1 Expected Expected
Trespassing 11 1 T 10-19 22 High Expected
Violent Crime 200 -3 C 151232 142 Low Low

Property Crime 252 -25 T 142-218 186 Expected Expected
Total Crime 604 -30 T 410-573 466 Expected Expected

Individual highs and lows during this period should not detract from the larger story: Springfield's Metro Center
managed to accommodate 2 to 3 million visitors during this period (and around 6 million in the previous year)
without any significant impacts on total crime. Violent crime and total crime figures, in fact, were the lowest they'd
ever been. (Property crime had a slightly lower year in 2018.) Vice, drugs, liquor, and prostitution are absent or
keeping a low profile. An increase in sexual assaults during the first year post-MGM did not continue into the
following six-month period.

Nonetheless, it is worth analyzing the increases. Of particular concern are the high number of auto thefts during
this period, which show clusters both north and south of MGM, six between the hours of 00:00 and 04:00. Drunk
driving figures, though low in raw volume, are still higher than expected—see the preliminary drunk driving analysis
later in this report for more.

67



Figure 14: Auto thefts in the Metro Center area, September 2019-February 2020.

The trespassing increase is centered at Union Station, which also had a robbery, eight assaults, and 15 thefts during
the same period.

Crimes in the surrounding neighborhoods, 1 September—29 February

Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year
Avg Type Window Result
Murder 3 ) C 2—4 4 Expected Expected
Sexual Assault 37 -1 C 32—42 42 Expected  Expected
Kidnapping 11 -1 C 8-14 22 High Expected
Robbery 121 -13 T 50—115 84 Expected Low
Aggravated Assault 206 -8 T 140—226 187 Expected Low
Simple Assault 684 -2 C 663705 709 High Low
Threats 405 -15 T 286-433 358 Expected Low
Arson 9 -1 C 3-15 5 Expected Expected
Burglary 289 -52 T 101-165 174 High Low
Theft from Persons 10 -1 C 5—15 7 Expected Expected
Purse-Snatching 1 0 C 0—2 2 Expected Expected
Shoplifting 62 C 33-91 94 High Expected
Theft from Building 131 15 T 99-253 131 Expected Expected

68



Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year

Avg Type Window Result

Theft from Machine 1 o) C 0—3 o Expected Expected
Theft from Vehicle 157 12 C 113-201 135 Expected  Expected
Theft of MV Parts 59 7 C 33-85 57 Expected Low

Other Theft 359 -156 T 0-315 152 Expected  Expected
Auto Theft 135 -14 T 46—138 122 Expected Expected
Forgery 34 1 C 28-40 30 Expected Expected
Fraud 55 3 C 43-67 39 Low Expected
Credit Card Fraud 36 13 T 50-97 31 Low Expected
Identity Theft 70 -15 T 0-58 56 Expected Expected
Employee Theft 5 T 2-17 2 Expected Expected
Extortion T 6-11 6 Expected High

Stolen Property 25 C 22-28 15 Low Expected
Vandalism 461 -20 C 394-534 375 Low Expected
Drugs 132 -4 C 79—185 100 Expected Expected
Statutory Rape 3 -2 T 0—3 3 Expected Expected
Pornography 5 2 T 6—-13 6 Expected Expected
Prostitution 1 -1 T 0—3 o Expected Expected
Weapons 100 14 T 113-169 135 Expected  Expected
Bad Checks 6 -2 T 0-10 o Expected Low

Disorderly 46 -3 C 32-60 53 Expected Expected
Drunk Driving 9 -3 T 0-8 14 High Expected
Drunkenness 1 ) T 0—1 1 Expected Expected
Family Offenses 49 24 T 45-198 133 Expected Expected
Liquor Laws 10 ) C 5—15 23 High Expected
Trespassing 73 15 T 63-174 95 Expected Expected
Violent Crime 1467 -40 T 1282-1415 1406 Expected Low

Property Crime 1905 -198 T 990-1627 1433 Expected Expected
Total 3806 -198 T 28313595 3407 Expected Expected

The available data for the kidnapping incidents suggests a mix of child custody disputes (parental kidnappings) and
adult domestic disputes that resulted in confinement or kidnapping charges. Every identified offender and most of
the identified victims are from Springfield, suggesting minimal if any MGM influence.

Burglary reversed what had been a downward trend during the first post-MGM year. The September—February
total was below average but above the window predicted by the pre-MGM decreasing trend. The available data
shows that most of the burglaries are happening at residences during the day, with clothing the most common
target. The offenders who are known to the police (38 cases) have almost all ben men from Springfield itself (28/38
cases). There is so far no direct evidence of an MGM link.

The increase in liquor law violations is almost all related to open containers found during traffic stops, which is

consistent with extra police presence in the area. This is also true of the increase in drunk driving arrests, although
see the next section for more information about that crime specifically.

Exit Radiuses

One of the original hypotheses of this study was that crime would increase at facilities near highway exits to and
from MGM Springfield. Such a trend did not come to pass. Whether we consider all exit radiuses and individual
crime, or individual radiuses and all crimes, no combination outperforms its expected values for the period.

69



Travel Routes Likely to be Affected by MGM Springfield

Based on Google Maps(R) recommendations from 38 origin points

Legend
NORTHAN. IO Travel Routes to MGM Springfield

Category
e Routes likely to carry all vistors (Highways)

mmmm Routes liikely to carry travelers from within 20 miles

sssss Routes likely to carry visitors from within the 11 communities

E Highway Exit Radiuses

4 5

N
0051 2
Miles

A

|

\
\
J

HOLY :
3 /’ LU QL-OW,
4

‘0
L]

COPEE
CHIGOPEE jms

»
»
-
-
»
-
i L
- -
= »
r -
- =
- -
-~ -
- -
= -
- -
-

.

nEN,

EST SPRINGFIE g
casWILBRAHAM
SPRINGEIRAD "0y, ue{"*

+
wGm Springfield

LA

'
‘-...l 2
*y

h“

*
‘l

—y
AY “,
*

*, HANMPDEN
5

2 \
=t AGHMRAM
i EAST LB%EWEAD
S

—’
LORIGMEADOW
N
N\

Figure 15: An analysis of crimes and calls for service only in "exit radiuses" shows no category higher than their expected values.

70



Crimes in exit radiuses, September 2019-February 2020

Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1 Year
Avg Type Window Result
CH 90 Exit 6 28 A T 14—18 18 Expected Expected
HO 91 Exit 15 396 -19 T 259—382 347 Expected  Expected
HO 91 Exit 16 153 -14 T 69—135 92 Expected Low
HO 91 Exit 17 92 -7 T 39-88 50 Expected Expected
LU go Exit 7 99 -2 C 79—119 94 Expected Low
NH 91 Exit 18 222 -12 T 152-201 190 Expected Expected
NH 91 Exit 21 6 -1 C 0-12 8 Expected Low
SP 291 Exit 3 385 -7 T 332—385 343 Expected  Expected
SP 291 Exit g5 47 -3 T 31-45 45 Expected  Expected
SP 91 Exit 2 37 -1 C 21-53 27 Expected Low
SP g1 Exitg 360 -12 T 234387 340 Expected Expected
WS 91 Exit 13 235 9 T 215-329 248 Expected  Expected
Total 2060 -72 T 1642-1901 1802 Expected Expected

A similar analysis based on counts of crashes shows that if there were any additional crashes caused by extra traffic
going to MGM, they were overwhelmed by a general decrease in collisions during this period, likely caused by an

extremely mild winter.

Crashes in exit radiuses, September 2019-February 2020

Category Pre-MGM  Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result 1-Year
Avg Type Window Result
CH g0 Exit 6 28 3 C 13—43 12 Low Expected
HO 91 Exit 15 104 o) C 85—123 89  Expected Low
HO 91 Exit 16 63 1 C 49-77 56 Expected Expected
HO 91 Exit 17 45 0 C 38-52 21 Low Expected
LU go Exit 7 82 6 T 86-126 68 Low Expected
NH 91 Exit 18 43 -1 C 36-50 33 Low Low
NH 91 Exit 21 5 1 T 4—9 3 Low Expected
SP 291 Exit 3 98 8 T 112-150 97 Low Expected
SP 291 Exit 5 40 3 T 39-64 37 Low Expected
SP 91 Exit 2 19 1 C 12—26 17  Expected Low
SP 91 Exit 9 99 7 T 90—-163 91 Expected Expected
WS 91 Exit 13 43 o) C 32-54 44  Expected High
Total 668 29 T 691-875 568 Low Expected




Preliminary analysis of drunk driving data

Like any responsible facility that serves alcohol, MGM has a number of policies and practices in place to
prevent patrons from becoming intoxicated and particularly from driving away while intoxicated.
However, the size of the facility, the number of entrances and exits, and the difficulty in fully monitoring
any individual’s drinking activity makes it inevitable that some intoxicated patrons—and thus intoxicated
drivers—will slip through the cracks.

This report makes no attempt to render judgement on what number is reasonable; it only attempts to
collect the available evidence. This preliminary analysis is offered in anticipation of a longer report later
this year that will cover all three casinos.

There are several available indicators that we can study to determine whether MGM has led to an
increase in drunk driving in the region, some better than others. Each available dataset is reviewed below.
For simplicity’s sake, | have looked at full calendar years for the statistics below.

Drunk driving arrests by jurisdiction

The statistics below showed that drunk driving arrests were high in some agencies in 2019, and at the
upper end of the “normal” range for all agencies. In the first two months of 2020, however, got even
busierfor the region. These figures indicate that agencies are making a lot more stops and arrests for

drunk driving, but not necessarily that drunk driving itself has increased.

Arrests and summonses for drunk driving in 2019

City/Town Pre-MGM Slope Window Pred. 2019 Result
Avg Type Window

Agawam 31 -1 C 21-41 53 High
Chicopee 47 g T 40-94 87 Expected
East Longmeadow 28 -2 T 15-32 20 Expected
Hampden 12 -2 T 5—16 10 Expected
Holyoke 40 1 C 2456 57 High
Longmeadow 21 -1 C 15—27 12 Low
Ludlow L4 3 T 4,2-72 58 Expected
Northampton 126 -1 C 84—168 108 Expected
Springfield 57 -5 T 28-53 54 High
Wilbraham 57 -2 C 29-85 36 Expected
West Springfield 24 -1 C 15-33 41 High
Total 490 -6 C 436-544 536 Expected

Arrests and summonses for drunk driving in January and February of 2020

City/Town Pre-MGM Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result
Avg Type Window

Agawam 5 0 C 2—9 11 High

Chicopee 8 0 T 8-12 17 High

East Longmeadow 4 0 C 1-7 1 Expected

Hampden 2 0 C 0—4 2 Expected

72



City/Town Pre-MGM Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result

Avg Type Window
Holyoke 7 0 C 3-11 13 High
Longmeadow 4 -1 T 1-6 4 Expected
Ludlow 7 0 C 4—10 5 Expected
Northampton 20 -1 C 9-31 26 Expected
Springfield 9 -2 T 3-13 10 Expected
Wilbraham 8 -1 C 3-13 7 Expected
West Springfield 4 0 C 1-7 12 High
Total 77 -3 T 49-83 108 High

Crashes flagged as alcohol-related
The IMC records management system has a field to indicate whether the collision is “alcohol-related.”
However, the statistics suggest that none of the contributing agencies use it often enough for the

statistics to be valid.

Crashes for which the alcohol-related flag is marked “Y", calendar years

City/Town Pre-MGM Slope Window Pred. 2019 Result
Avg Type Window

Agawam 5 -1 T 1-6 3 Expected
Chicopee 2 1 T 1-8 2 Expected
East Longmeadow 3 0 C 1-5 2 Expected
Hampden 1 0 C 1-2 1 Expected
Holyoke 1 0 C 0—2 ) Expected
Longmeadow 0 0 C 0—-1 1 Expected
Ludlow 2 -1 T 0-1 ) Expected
Northampton 2 -1 T 0—1 1 Expected
Springfield 13 -3 T 1-7 1 Expected
Wilbraham 2 0 C 0—4 o  Expected
West Springfield 2 0 T 1-2 3 High
Total 32 -6 T 11-24 14  Expected

Crashes that involve an arrest or summons for drunk driving

A better set of statistics involves merging the original call-for-service with the offense dataset to find
offenses of drunk driving that originated as calls-for-service for traffic collisions. This should capture most
of the relevant incidents, missing only cases where the determination of drunk driving happened well
after the original call, or when the original call for some reason was not coded as a collision.

Calls for service for traffic collisions with a later offense for drunk driving, calendar years

City/Town Pre-MGM Slope Window Pred. 2019 Result
Avg Type Window

Agawam 2 1 C 0—6 1 Expected

Chicopee 28 2 T 28-46 37  Expected

East Longmeadow 9 o) C 414 6 Expected

Hampden 2 0 C 1-3 4 High

Holyoke 22 0 C 13-31 28 Expected




City/Town Pre-MGM Slope Window Pred. Result

Avg Type Window

Longmeadow 6 1 C 3-9 4 Expected
Ludlow 15 0 C 8-22 11 Expected
Northampton 22 -1 C 15-29 21 Expected
Springfield 19 2 T 16-35 32 Expected
Wilbraham 12 o C 7-17 13 Expected
West Springfield 13 o C 7-19 19 Expected
Total 150 4 C 131-169 176 High

Although Hampden is the only agency to show a notably high figure for the period (and it's a small number), the
totality of the contributing agencies produces a figure just slightly north of normal: 26 crashes higher than average,
and 7 higher than the upper end of the predicted range.

“Last Drink” Locations from adjudication

According to data received from the Massachusetts Alcoholic Beverages Control Commission, MGM
Springfield was named as the location of the “last drink” for seven drunk drivers whose cases were
adjudicated between 1 August 2019 and 31 January 2020 (roughly the period of this report), a number
that will likely rise as more cases that resulted in arrest during this period wrap up in court. MGM
Springfield is the top single location mentioned by drunk drivers in this dataset, although the many
establishments at Foxboro Stadium are divided into different addresses and together make for the top
“real” hot spot.

Top “Last Drink” locations from cases adjudicated between 1 July 2019 and 30 January 2020

Location City/Town Total
MGM Springfield Springfield 7
TD Garden Boston 6
The Still Agawam 5
The Zone Springfield 4
Encore Boston Harbor Everett 4
Scorpion Bar Foxboro 4
Six String Grill & Stage Foxboro 4

“Last Drink” locations as reported to police

This dataset is currently undergoing collection within all three casino areas, and it will be released in a
special report later this year.

Conclusion

This preliminary evidence suggests that MGM Springfield is responsible for at least a handful of
additional drunk drivers—not as many as the police departments’ arrest statistics would indicate, but at
least a single-digit figure. It is possible that this figure is actually remarkably low given the sheer number
of visitors to the facility. In the coming months, we hope that comparative data will help to answer that
question.

74



Special event analysis

In reviewing previous reports, local police officials asked whether the impact of “special events” at MGM
Springfield might be washed out in the overall crime and call-for-service volume for the year—whether it
was possible to detect a greater increase in crime and public safety issues on certain days that draw larger
numbers of people to the area.

| recorded the dates of 12 concerts and other special events in the 2019—2020 period and compared just
those days and the days after to typical crime volumes for the same days of week during the some

months across the pre-MGM vyears.

Dates/Times
04/30/2019 19:30
05/11/2019 21:00
06/01/2019 20:30
06/08/2019 20:00
06/21/2019 20:00
06/29/2019 20:00
07/05/2019 20:00
07/27/2019 20:00
08/10/2019 21:00
08/23/2019 20:00
09/05/2019 10:00
01/17/2020-01/18/2020
Figure 16: Events considered for this analysis.

Event

Cher concert (MassMutual center)
Dokken concert

Collective Soul and Gin Blossoms concert
Hanson concert

Matt and Kim concert

Village People concert

Fab Four tribute concert

Warrant and Firehouse concert
Jazz and heritage festival

LoCash concert

Springfield Jam Fest

Red Sox Winter Weekend

The result Is uniform across almost all categories: “event nights” might as well be normal nights when it comes to
overall volumes of crime, calls for service, and collisions. This is true whether we consider the entire 11-community
area, just Springfield, or just exit radiuses (where travelers are most likely to stop for services). The one exception
is a small increase in complaints of bad or erratic drivers within those exit radiuses, but absent any corroborating
increases in other categories and areas, I'm tempted to call that a fluke.

It is certainly possible that individual travelers have stopped to wreak havoc on their way to or from special events

at Springfield, but if so, their activity has not been sufficient to be detectable in the overall volume of activity on
those days.

Crime and calls for service during special events, 2019—2020

Category Pre-MGM Slope Window Pred. 2019—- Result
Avg Type Window 2020

Violent crime (all communities) 117 -1 C 101-133 108 Expected
Property crime (all communities) 229 -14 T 132-219 181 Expected
Drugs, alcohol, disorder (all) 36 ) C 32—40 35 Expected
Drunk driving arrests (all) 6 0 C 3-9 7 Expected
Collision reports (all communities) 779 49 T 809-1139 809 Expected
Suspicious activity (all communities) 1381 34 C 1203-1559 1296 Expected
Traffic complaints (all communities) 322 32 T 292-609 389 Expected
Violent crime (Springfield) 70 o C 59-81 72 Expected

75



Category Pre-MGM Slope Window Pred. 2019- Result
Avg Type Window 2020

Property crime (Springfield) 109 -12 T 55-93 81 Expected
Drugs, alcohol, disorder (Springfield) 17 0 C 12-22 12 Expected
Drunk driving arrests (Springfield) 1 0 C 0-1 1 Expected
Collision reports (Springfield) 300 22 T 291485 340 Expected
Suspicious activity (Springfield) 579 35 T 565-801 483 Low
Violent crime (Exit radiuses) 8 o} C 4—12 6 Expected
Property crime (Exit radiuses) 10 -1 T 4—12 6 Expected
Drugs, alcohol, disorder (Exit rad.) o} C 0—4 3 Expected
Drunk driving arrests (Exit radiuses) o) o C 01 1  Expected
Collision reports (Exit radiuses) 36 5 T 4,065 35 Low
Suspicious activity (Exit radiuses) 110 o) C 86-134 100 Expected
Traffic complaints (Exit radiuses) 16 -1 C 12-20 25 High

76



Conclusion and future plans

The increases in crimes and the existence of patterns that can be tied specifically or even circumstantially to MGM
are small and rare. The casino has reported a certain amount of crime within its own walls, creating new challenges
for the responding law enforcement agencies, but except for a few phenomena discussed within this report, the
influence of MGM does seem to be contained within those walls. Even a slight increase in traffic-related issues seen
in 2018 and 2019 was washed away by warmer weather.

This report mostly covers a period that ended before society was completely overturned by the COVID-19
pandemic. During the following near-year, MGM Springfield was occasionally closed and occasionally open, but
never operating at full capacity, and never again with a populace as interested in traveling and intermingling with
others. This situation has also affected bars, restaurants, hotels, stores, schools, and entertainment venues.

Most crime is a consequence of the routine activities of everyday life—moments of opportunity seized by offenders
when they encounter suitable targets at the right place and time. COVID-19 has brough essentially unmeasurable
changes to these routine activities. As a crime analyst, | have seen nothing like it except in occasional cases of
natural disasters.

As if COVID-19 was not enough, 31 May 2020 marked the beginning of another major social movement, when
George Floyd was tragically killed by the Minneapolis Police. This act sparked a wave of mass protests that included
the Springfield region, with Northampton taking particular damage. The effects of these protests and their larger
movement on police practice will somehow have to be assessed in the middle of an already-unsettled time.

Until life returns to normal, and perhaps not even for a while after that, the continuing effects of MGM Springfield
on public safety issues in the surrounding communities will be very difficult to untangle from changes wrought by
the general COVID upheaval. That does not mean they will be impossible to discern, but the task may require
significantly different and innovative analytical methods, and | am not prepared at this time to say exactly what
those will be.

While | work with other researchers and analysts to generate ideas for continuing analysis, there are several reports
waiting to be written based largely on pre-COVID data. These include:

e An analysis of changes in the MGM Springfield area compared to control areas and the rest of the state.
Statewide data for 2019 and 2020 will be available soon.

e A comparative analysis of traffic collisions in the Springfield area versus control areas. This probably will
not be possible until a public statewide crash dataset is available, likely in 2021.

e Comparison of MGM Springfield with other casinos, normalized by the number of annual visitors each
facility receives. We are currently the process of collecting data from comparison casinos nationwide.

* A more thorough analysis of drunk driving and alcohol-related crashes, which will be released as a separate
report that covers all three casinos.

e A summary report with the aggregated findings from Plainridge Park, MGM Springfield, and Encore
Boston Harbor.

Watch for these additional reports in 2020 and 2021.

77



Appendix: Abbreviations and definitions

Acronyms and abbreviations

CAD

IBR

MGC

FBI

IACA

MACA

NIBRS

ODBC

PPC

PVTA

RMS

Computer-aided Dispatch
(system)

Incident-based reporting

Massachusetts Gaming
Commission

Federal Bureau of Investigation

International Association of
Crime Analysts

Massachusetts Association of
Crime Analysts

National Incident-based
Reporting System

Open Database Connectivity

Plainridge Park Casino

Pioneer Valley Transit Authority

Records Management System

A police database that holds information about
police dispatches to calls for service, including
incidents discovered by police officers. Some but
not all of the incidents reported in CAD are crimes
and have longer records in the RMS.

See NIBRS.

The commonwealth agency charged with

overseeing and regulating gaming in Massachusetts

National investigative agency, part of the U.S.
Department of Justice, in charge of collecting
national crime statistics.

A global nonprofit professional association that
provides training, literature, and networking to
individuals who analyze crime data.

A nonprofit professional association that provides
training, literature, and networking to individuals
who analyze crime data in New England.

FBI program for data collection that supersedes
UCR. Collects more specific data about a wider
variety of crimes. With only a few exceptions, all
Massachusetts agencies report to NIBRS and all
Massachusetts RMS vendors have implemented
NIBRS coding standards.

A technology developed by Microsoft that allows
any application that uses a database to connect to
any database source. The primary mechanism by
which we can extract data from police CAD and
RMS databases.

Massachusetts's first casino, a slot machine-only
parlor in Plainville, opened in June 2015.

The organization that operates bus service and
other public transportation in western
Massachusetts.

A police data system that stores information about
crimes and offenders. See also CAD.

78



SEIGMA Social and Economic Impacts of A multi-year research project hosted by the
Gaming in Massachusetts University of Massachusetts Amherst School of
Public and Health Sciences. The SEIGMA project
has a much broader mandate for its study than just

crime.
UCR Uniform Crime Reporting National program for the reporting of crime
(program) statistics to the FBI. Captures only summary data
about a limited number of crime types. Contrast
with NIBRS.

Crime definitions

The following are definitions of the crime categories used in this report. These are mostly drawn without
modification from the FBI's definitions for NIBRS crime categories. In almost all cases, attempts to commit these
crimes are counted equally with completed offenses. These crimes must, of course, be reported to the police to be
included in this report.

Aggravated Assault: An attack by one person upon another for the purpose of inflicting severe bodily injury.
Aggravated assault is either accompanied by the use of a deadly weapon (e.g., gun, knife, club) or some mechanism
that would result in serious harm (e.g., pushing someone down a staircase), or by serious injury even with a weapon
thatisn‘t normally “deadly” (e.g., punching someone and breaking his jaw). If the incident involved neither a deadly
weapon nor serious injury, it's coded as a simple assault instead.

Arson: Intentional burning of a structure, vehicle, or personal property.

Auto theft: Thefts of vehicles capable of operating under their own power, including automobiles, trucks, buses,
motorcycles, and snowmobiles.

Bad checks: The issuance of checks on accounts with insufficient funds. This type of crime is typically only reported
by police when an arrest is made or an individual is charged.

Burglary: Unlawful entry of a structure, including residences, commercial buildings, and government buildings. The
entry does not have to occur by force (e.g., a “break-in”). The usual motive for burglary is to steal something inside,

but this isn't a necessary part of the definition.

Counterfeiting/forgery: Use or possession of an altered, copied, or imitated negotiable or non-negotiable
instrument, including U.S. currency, checks, and money orders.

Credit card fraud: Use of a stolen credit card or credit card data to obtain goods or services.

Disorderly: Disorderly conduct that rises to the level of a criminal charge.

Drug offenses: Manufacturing, sale, trafficking, transporting, or possession of controlled substances. Typically,
“incidents” of such crime are arrests, as the only way such incidents are reported is when they are discovered by the
police.

Drunk driving: Operation of a motor vehicle while intoxicated; usually while above a state-designated legal blood

alcohol level. As with many of the drug and alcohol categories, such incidents are only reported when discovered
by the police, usually resulting in an arrest.

79



Drunkenness: Naturally, not all incidents of intoxication are a police matter. Police incidents that fall into this
category are usually incidents of either public intoxication or individuals so dangerously intoxicated that they are
placed into protective custody until sober.

Employee theft: Also, “embezzlement.” Theft of an employer’s property by an employee.
Extortion: Theft or attempted theft of money, goods, or services through non-violent coercion.

Family offenses: Unlawful, nonviolent acts by a family member that threaten the physical, mental, or economic
well-being of another family member and are not classified under any other category. This category is only reported
when someone is charged, and it almost always involves violations of restraining orders or child neglect.

Forgery: Forgery of personal checks, business checks, U.S. currency, or similar negotiable and nonnegotiable
documents.

Fraud. Theft of property by lying in such a way that convinces a victim to surrender money or goods. It is theft
through some kind of scheme, “con game,” or ruse.

Gambling offenses: Crimes related to illegal gambling, promoting gambling, operating gambling machines,
bookmaking, and sports tampering.

Identity theft: Representation of oneself as another (actual) person or use of another person’s identifying
information to obtain goods or services, housing, medical care, or status.

Kidnapping: The abduction of one person by another, whether through force or guile. Most incidents coded as such
as “custodial” kidnappings involving a parent taking a child in violation of a custodial agreement.

Liquor law violations: lllegal manufacturing, sale, possession, or consumption of intoxicating drinks, often because
the offender is below the legal age.

Murder: the killing of one person by another, including non-negligent homicides.

Other thefts: A general category that includes thefts of services (e.g., gas drive-offs), thefts from persons (e.qg.,
pocket-picking), thefts from outdoor public areas. Essentially, any non-burglary, non-robbery theft that is not
covered in one of the “theft” or “shoplifting” categories (below) is categorized here.

Pornography: Possession, sale, or manufacturing of illegal pornography. Because pornography is legal in
Massachusetts, such incidents generally involve minors, either as the subjects or recipients of the pornography.

Property crime: An aggregate category that sums the totals of arson, burglary, thefts from persons, purse
snatching, shoplifting, thefts from buildings, thefts from machines, thefts from vehicles, thefts of vehicle parts,
other theft, auto theft, forgery, fraud, credit card fraud, identity theft, employee theft, extortion, stolen property,
and vandalism.

Prostitution: Promotion or participation of sexual activities for profit. As with drug offenses, most “incidents” of
prostitution are arrests, as the crime is rarely reported except when discovered by the police.

Purse snatching: A theft in which an offender grabs a purse off the arm of the victim. If any significant force,
violence, or threats are employed, this crime becomes a robbery.

Robbery: Taking or attempting to take anything of value from another person by force or violence or threat of force
or violence. "Muggings” and “hold-ups” are examples of robberies. A robbery requires a direct confrontation
between the offender and victim; houses and buildings cannot be “robbed.”

80



Sexual assault: Any sexual act directed against another person (of either sex), either by force or otherwise against
the person’s will, or non-forcibly but when the victim is incapable of giving consent because of temporary or
permanent mental or physical incapacity. This category combines rapes, indecent assaults, molestation, and sexual
penetration with an object.

Shoplifting: Thefts of items offered for sale at retail establishments.

Simple assault: An assault that does not involve a dangerous weapon and does not result in significant injury.
Statutory rape: Nonforcible sexual activity with an individual who is unable to give legal consent because of age.
Stolen property offenses: Possession or sale of property previously stolen including motor vehicles and personal
property. Often, the person possessing the property is the one who stole it in the first place, but this category is
used when the actual thief cannot be determined.

Thefts from buildings: Thefts of items from commercial or government buildings open to the public, where such
entry does not constitute burglary. This often takes the form of thefts of employees’ property at businesses open
to the public.

Thefts from machines: Thefts from coin-operated machines, either for the coins or for the products inside.
Thefts from persons: Thefts of personal property from the direct control of the owner. These often take the form
of pocket-pickings or thefts of or from diners’ purses at restaurants. If any force, violence, or threats are employed,
this crime becomes a robbery.

Thefts from vehicles: Thefts of items from motor vehicles. The category includes breaking into vehicles (e.g.,
smashing a window), unlocked entry, and thefts of items from a vehicle’s exterior, such as pickup truck beds. Note

that thefts of vehicle parts are in a separate category.

Thefts of vehicle parts: Theft of parts or accessories from motor vehicles, including wheels, license plates, and
engine parts.

Threats: Threats to commit physical violence by one person against another. If any weapon is actually displayed or
employed, orif an assault is actually attempted, the crime is categorized as a simple or aggravated assault instead.

Trespassing: lllegal entry to a non-public part of a residence or business. Such entry is rarely to the interior of the
property, or it would be coded as burglary instead. Most reportable incidents of trespassing are either after notice
(e.g., a repeat shoplifter who is ordered not to return to a store) or at posted locations (e.g., construction sites,
abandoned buildings).

Vandalism: Destruction or defacement of public property, buildings, vehicles, or personal property.

Violent crime: An aggregate category that sums totals for murder, sexual assault, kidnapping, robbery, aggravated
assault, simple assault, and threats.

Weapon offenses: Possession, sale, or manufacturing of illegal weapons. This is often an additional offense

discovered by police during arrests for other crimes.

Call for service definitions

81



Calls for service include both criminal and noncriminal police incidents and activities. In the case of criminal
activities, such incidents receive a longer, more detailed report in the police records management system, and it so
it makes more sense to analyze them using the crime categories above than in their original call-for-service form.
Thus, the only incident types we have selected for analysis in this report are noncriminal. Definitions of those types
appear below. Because the police officer does not usually write a full report for calls for service, the dataset available
for analysis is more limited.

Administrative: A wide variety of call types that have to do with the administration of a police department, such as
delivery of documents to businesses or other government facilities, attendance at meetings, vehicle maintenance,
or even meal breaks. Agencies use their call-for-service systems to document such activities so that, later, they can
determine what a particular officer or unit was doing at a particular time, although the incidents are not truly “calls
for service.” Practices differ significantly between police agencies as to what is reported under this category, and it
is generally not useful for analysis.

Alarm: A burglar, panic, or medical alarm that required a response but (probably) turned out to be false or would
have a different final code.

Animal complaint: Calls involving sick, dangerous, or wild animals, animals in danger (e.g., left in a hot or cold car),
or loose or noisy pets.

Assist other agency: A call type that involves rendering aid to a neighboring police or other government agency
for any number of purposes, including serious crimes, fire and medical issues, and traffic issues.

Crime enforcement: Any number of pro-active police activities meant to deter crime, generally taking the form of
a “directed patrol” to a particular location during a peak time for criminal activity (based either on citizen complaints
or internal analysis). Though not a technical “call for service,” such incidents are recorded in the CAD database to

document the officer’s activity.

Disabled vehicle: A call for service for a vehicle suffering physical or mechanical trouble, usually broken down in an
active roadway.

Disturbance: Any of a variety of types of disorderly conduct, disputes, fights, and excessive noise.

Domestic dispute: A dispute between family members, spouses, or intimate partners that has not risen to the level
of physical violence.

General service: Minor calls for service that involve rendering aid to residents and visitors for a variety of issues
such as giving directions, installing car seats, dealing with lockouts, and providing physical aid.

Gunshots: Reports of gunshots fired, whether phoned in by a resident or received from automatic detection
services.

Hunting: Reports of hunters hunting off-season, in protected areas, with illegal gear, or in an unsafe manner.

Lost property: Calls for service involving lost personal property such as wallets and mobile phones. If there is any
indication of theft, these incidents are typically reported under the appropriate crime category.

Medical aid: All calls for medical aids except unattended deaths and overdoses. Police responses only are included
in the figures in this report.

Missing person: a runaway or other missing person.

Prisoner transport: documentation of a police agency transporting an arrested person from one facility to another.

82



Psychological issue: Calls for service involving individuals with mental health issues.

Suspicious activity: Any suspicious person, vehicle, or other activity, whether identified by an officer or citizen.
Traffic collision: A collision involving at least one motor vehicle.

Traffic complaint: Complaint about reckless driving, illegal or unsafe parking, or other traffic issues.
Trespassing: Trespassing on private or public property.

Vebhicle stop: An officer pulls over a vehicle for a moving or equipment violation.

Warrant service: a call type that documents the service, or attempted service, of an arrest warrant or search
warrant. The category is entirely police-directed.

Youth disorder: Disorderly incidents involving youths congregating, skateboarding, making noise, and so forth.

Offense types by associated crime category

Offense Category Offense Category
Aggravated Assault Violent Crime Liquor Law Violations Drug/Alcohol Crime
All Other Other Crime Murder Violent Crime
Arson Property Crime Other Thefts Property Crime
Auto Theft Property Crime Peeping Tom Other Crime
Bad Checks Property Crime Pornography Societal Crime
Burglary Property Crime Prostitution Societal Crime
Credit Card Fraud Property Crime Robbery Violent Crime
Disorderly Societal Crime Runaway Other Crime
Drug Equipment Drug/Alcohol Crime Sexual Assault Violent Crime
Offense Shoplifting Property Crime

Drug Offense

Drug/Alcohol Crime

Drunk Driving

Drug/Alcohol Crime

Simple Assault

Violent Crime

Statutory Rape

Other Crime

Drunkenness Drug/Alcohol Crime Stolen Property Offense | Property Crime
Employee Theft Property Crime Thefts from Buildings Property Crime
Extortion Property Crime Thefts from Vehicles Property Crime
Family Offenses Other Crime Thefts of Vehicle Parts Property Crime
Forgery Property Crime Threats Violent Crime
Fraud/Con Games Property Crime Trespassing Other Crime
Gambling Societal Crime Vandalism Property Crime
Identity Theft Property Crime Weapon Offenses Societal Crime
Kidnapping Violent Crime

83



Assessing the Influence of Gambling on Public
Safety in Massachusetts Cities and Towns

Analysis of the influence of Encore Boston Harbor on
its surrounding community

Covering the first eight months of operations, three
months of closure for COVID-19, and three months of
restricted reopening, July 2019—-October 2020

Christopher W. Bruce

Crime Analysis Consultant to the Massachusetts Gaming Commission
15 March 2021
v.1.1






Table of contents

EXECUTIVE SUMMIATY ..ottt 3
Background and methodology ... 5
Before-and-after analysis of crime and calls for service for the first 8 months..................... 11
REGION ... 11
Y= = TP PPTPPRPPPPRPRTIIN 15
BOStON/CharI@StOWN ... .ot 19
CREISEA .. 22
IRV o o PP 26
1YY L 1= o RO SR 31
1] [ o 1TSS 34
R BV T e nnnne 38
SAUQGUS it 42
SOMEIVIILE <.ttt e e e e e e nr e e e e e anaeeaeeaas 45
Y=L oo [Tal N =] = OSSPSR 48
Y] [Tt <Te =T 4 AV SRR 48
Crashes 0N State rOAAWAYS. .....ocuuiiiiiii e 50
SPALIAl @NAIYSIS .. 52
Analysis of COVID-related closing and reopening .........ccvveereenieiineneereee e 60
Preliminary drunk driving @nalysis .........c.ooouioiiiiiieii e 67
Conclusion and Future analytical Plans ... 71
Appendix: Abbreviations and definitions..........ccooiiiiiiii 72







Executive summary

Summary

Encore Boston Harbor opened on 23 June 2019, drawing more than 3.5 million visitors during the first eight months.
As such, the facility reported various crimes, disorder, and arrests commensurate with a facility of that size hosting
that many visitors. In the surrounding areas, various crimes increased and decreased. Few patterns and trends so
far have shown any direct casino ties, but this report flagged a handful for future monitoring. COVID closures caused
crime and crashes to plummet, and future analyses of the casino’s impact will be difficult given how much COVID
has influenced society and economics.

About this report

e The primary purpose of this report is to conduct an analysis of the increases and decreases in activity in the
communities surrounding Encore Boston Harbor since the casino opened, to alert participating agencies
to increasing trends (whether or not “caused” by Encore), and to triage patterns and trends for more
detailed analysis in later reports.

e The period covered by this report runs from July 2019 to December 2020. During these 18 months, Encore
Boston Harbor enjoyed 8 months of normal operation, was closed for over 4 months because of the onset
of COVID, and opened for a little over 5 months with restricted operating parameters. This report analyzes
all three time periods but for reasons given later focuses primarily on the first 8 months.

e Datawas collected from the records management systems of the Everett, Boston, Chelsea, Lynn, Melrose,
Revere, Saugus, and Somerville Police Departments and the Massachusetts State Police. Malden is
participating in this analysis series but could not provide data for this report (they did previously participate
in @ 6-month analysis). Cambridge and Medford were invited to participate but declined.

e For each agency and the region as a whole, historical averages and predictive windows were established
for each crime.

e Any significant increases were analyzed in more detail with available quantitative data.

This report does not generally attempt to answer broad questions about whether Encore “caused” increases in the
area. It simply identifies those increases and looks for any initial signs of an Encore connection.

Major findings

e Overall violent, property, and total crime were within expected ranges for the region and most cities
individually.

e The region experienced higher-than-average totals for thefts from vehicles, statutory rape, prostitution,
and liquor law violations, but none of these could be traced in any firm way to Encore. Most of the increases
occurred primarily in single cities, showing no consistency throughout the region.

e Everett implemented a system to track incidents with a known Encore connection (primarily that either
the victim or the offender was in the area to use the casino) but identified only a small number of incidents
that did not occur at the casino itself. Everett saw higher-than expected totals for murder, sexual assault,
aggravated assault, thefts from buildings, thefts from vehicles, fraud, bad checks, disorderly conduct, and
drunk driving. Some of these may have a circumstantial relationship to Encore.

e A full analysis of drunk driving evidence suggests that Encore may be responsible for a small number of
drunk drivers on the roads.



There is no evidence of an Encore-related increase in crashes on local roads.
During the COVID closures, crime and crashes plummeted in all area communities.
During the re-opening period, some crimes rebounded but most remained low.

The immediate areas around the casino showed few increases in crime or calls for service. The major
exception is an increase in traffic complaints in neighborhoods to the north and east of Encore, perhaps
reflecting patrons parking on local streets when the garage is full. Travel routes to and from the facility
showed only minimal increases.

Melrose-Wakefield Hospital in Melrose has seen increases in crimes, but so far there is no definitive
evidence of an Encore connection.



Background and methodology

Background

In 2014, the Massachusetts Gaming Commission, in an effort to better assess the impacts of new gaming facilities
across the state, commissioned a series of efforts to study, assess, and prepare for the social and economic impacts
of gambling. Primary work in this area is being done by the Social and Economic Impacts of Gambling in
Massachusetts (SEIGMA) study at the University of Massachusetts Amherst School of Public Health & Health
Sciences, drawing upon research and experiences in many other states. For public safety issues specifically,
however, the MGC felt it best to contract with someone with direct experience analyzing the crime, call-for-service,
and collision records collected daily by Commonwealth police agencies.

While many national and international studies have attempted to study the effects of gambling on overall rates for
serious crimes, aggregated annually, hardly any studies have attempted to analyze more specific and minute
changes in public safety activity following the opening of casinos, including variations by hour, month, and season,
changes in patterns and hot spots, and changes in non-crime activity such as traffic collisions and calls for service.
The MGC was interested in the answers to these questions—in analyzing public safety at a level of detail that would
actually help police agencies anticipate and respond to emerging and changing problems.

In 2014, the MGC contracted with a career crime analyst, the author of this report, to extract data from the agencies
likely to be affected by the opening of Massachusetts’s new casinos, and to design a process for assessing changes
in those agencies’ activity on a periodic basis. Work began in 2015 with baseline and first-quarter analyses of the
Plainville area, where Plainridge Park opened in June. A new phase began in 2018, when MGM Springfield opened
in August, and still a third in 2019, in anticipation of the opening of Encore Boston Harbor. This is the third report
on Encore.

Publicly-issued and planned reports on changes in crime and police activity from this project

Issued Report Notes
August 2015 Repor.t on baseline activity at Plainville area Establis_hed statistical measures for post-casino
agencies comparison
Evaluation of change in police data after Few changes discernible in immediate 3
N 201
ovember 2015 the first three months of Plainridge Park months.
Analysis of changes in police data after the  Identified traffic-related calls for service as
April 2016 first six months of operation at Plainridge likely related to PPC. Noted increases in fraud-
Park Casino related crimes.
Analysis of changes in police data after the  Continued to note increases in traffic-related
December 2016 first year of operation at Plainridge Park calls; established credit card fraud increases as
Casino “likely related.”
Analysis of changes in police data after the
) ys! ges! -p I . Most comprehensive report so far. Included
December 2017 first 2 years of operation at Plainridge Park . .
. comparative analysis of control areas.
Casino
June 2018 Report on pasellne activity in Springfield- First report in preparation for MGM casino.
area agencies
December 2018 Three-year analysis of Plainridge Park area.  Includes comprehensive traffic study
March 2019 Four-month analysis of MGM Springfield Fqund mostly traffic changes, some property
crime patterns
September . : N Showed increases in traffic collisions and
P Eight-month analysis of MGM Springfield wedl N tratie !
2019 complaints but few crime increases.
mber Baseline analysis of Encore B n Harbor . . .
Septembe aseline analysis of Encore Boston Harbo First report on this casino
2019 area




Final Plainridge Park reports shows few public
safety issues attributable to the casino.
MGM is shown to be potentially related to

October 2019 Four-year analysis of Plainridge Park

February 2020  One-year analysis of MGM Springfield some traffic issues and small patterns in
specific communities.

Six-month analysis of Encore Boston Like MGM, Encore itself is busy, but has few
March 2020 . .

Harbor detectable influences on surrounding area.
February 20212 18-month analysis of MGM Springfield First report to cover COVID-era closings.
February 2021 1-year analysis of Encore Boston Harbor This report.
April-June Special reports on drunk driving, casino-
2021 based crime, and the MGM 2-year report

Methodology

The data used in this report was collected from the contributing agencies. For Chelsea, Lynn, Malden, Melrose,
Revere, Saugus, and Somerville, | established an Open Database Connectivity (ODBC) connection to each of these
agencies’ records management (RMS) and computer-aided dispatch (CAD) databases, connected to the databases
via Microsoft Access, and used a series of "make table” queries to copy the data into Access data tables. | then
copied the Access databases to my own computer, password-protecting them in the process, but leaving the
originals on the agencies’ networks so they could be updated by designated agency members when necessary. No
information specific enough to identify any person (offender or victim) was collected, and | complied with various
agency requests to exclude particular data elements of concern to them. These requests did not affect the integrity
and completeness of the overall dataset.

Everett uses a records management system that is incompatible with ODBC. We had to get the support of the
records management vendor to perform regular extracts from the system, but otherwise they were able to supply
a full dataset. The Boston Police also did their own extraction, but unfortunately were unable to supply all the
requested data tables.

After receiving the data from each individual system, | combined each table into a series of "master” tables. This
required translating each dataset into a common set of codes. The uniformity imposed by the National Incident-
Based Reporting System (NIBRS) made the translation fairly easy for crime tables; it was a bit more difficult for CAD
tables, which have no uniform coding even among agencies using the same system. Boston is the only agency that
does not currently report to the NIBRS standard, but they had comparable data elements that required only a brief
translation (and they moved to a NIBRS-compatible records system late in 2019).

These master tables formed the data pool for most of the statistics in this report, except where indicated.

incn ~ | Agency .| BR - ‘ Offense ‘ - dtrepor‘ted - street - : LocType : - Wea;ﬁon o
190925 LY 230 DESTRUCTION/VANDALISM PROPERTY 12/31/2019 23:55:56 ARLINGTON ST RESIDENCE/HOME

19REV- RE 93 LICENSE SUSPENDED, OP MV WITH 12/31/2019 23:48:10 STATE RD Street Other/Unknown

786407 EV 999 POLICE-GENERALREQF 12/31/2019 23:48:00 BROADWAY ST

190525 LY 13B SIMPLE ASSAULT 12/31/2019 23:41:22 S COMMON ST RESIDENCE/HOME NONE

190925 LY 13C INTIMIDATION 12/31/2019 23:41:22 S COMMON ST RESIDENCE/HOME NONE

19-361 CH 220 B&E BUILDING NIGHTTIME FOR FELONY 12/31/2019 23:23:10 CONGRESS AVE Residence Other/Unknown

190925 LY 35A DRUG/MNARCOTIC VIOLATIONS 12/31/2019 22:43:50 CHESTNUT 5T HIGHWAY/ROAD/ALLEY

190925 LY 907 LOCAL TRAFFIC OFFENSE 12/31/2019 22:43:50 CHESTNUT ST

19REV- RE WERBAL ARGUEMENT 12/31/2019 22:22:10 BRADSTREET AVE  Residence Other/Unknown

190925 LY 907 LOCAL OFFENSE 12/31/2019 21:28:38 HAMPDEN PL

15-361 CH 93 LEAVE SCENE OF PROPERTY DAMAGE 12/31/2019 21:25:10 WOODLAWN AVE  Street Other/Unknown

786395 EV 939 MEDICAL-OVERDOSE 12/31/2019 21:08:21 WOLCOTT 5T

190925 LY 907 ALL OTHER OFFENSES 12/31/2019 20:43:56 NORCROSS TER KNIFE/CUTTING INSTRUMENT
190925 LY 13A AGGRAVATED ASSAULT 12/31/2019 20:43:56 NORCROSS TER RESIDENCE/HOME KNIFE/CUTTING INSTRUMENT
19REV- RE 120 HOME INVASION 12/31/2019 20:40:10 NORTH SHORE RD Residence Handgun

19REV- RE 13A A&B WITH DANGEROUS WEAPON, CHILD UNDER 14 12/31/2019 20:40:10 NORTH SHORE RD Residence Handgun

19005€ MA 250 COUNTERFEITING/FORGERY 12/31/2019 20:05:31 EASTERN AV DRUG STORE/HOSPITAL/DR OFF

Figure 1: The result of a query using the combined dataset.



Threats to validity

There are four different records management vendors represented among the eight contributing communities.
Although three of the four code crimes according to the NIBRS standard, slight variances in their approaches make
some of the data inconsistent between agencies. Some of the agencies switched records systems during the 8-year
period represented by these statistics, and in each case, some immediate changes can be seen in crimes and calls
for service, suggesting those changes have more to do with record-keeping than actual prevalence of social harms.

One records system, used by three of the contributing agencies, is notorious among local analysts for a data
structure that makes it difficult to weed out duplications. The system also does not apply NIBRs standards correctly
on the concept of “lesser included offenses,” meaning that the agencies that use this system tend to over-report
their crime totals.

The Boston Police Department uses a system that does not comply with NIBRS rules. In particular, it uses the
“hierarchy rule,” which counts only the most serious offense committed in each incident. Since all other agencies

count multiple offenses per incident, statistics for Boston are artificially low but internally consistent.

Particular threats caused by COVID-related restrictions and shutdowns are covered in that section.
Interpreting the statistics in this report

This report compares 8 months of activity post-Encore to the statistics expected for the same period had Encore not
opened. All statistics, except where noted, are for the period of 1 July to 29 February in their respective years.

Throughout these reports, my goal has been to present the data using the simplest statistics possible, ensuring a
reader without statistical education can still interpret the results. Understanding the statistics in this report requires
first understanding two simple ways of predicting future volumes of crime, calls for service, and collisions. Consider
one agency, where crime has remained static over a long period:

Forecasting a Crime by Average and Standard Deviation

170

160 .

140 .
130 .
120
110
100
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
® Crime = Trend Window Window

Figure 2: If a crime shows no trend over time, expected values are predicted using its average and standard deviation from the
average.



In such cases, crime may vary considerably from year to year around its average, but not in a way that indicates a
clear direction over the years. In such cases, we can “forecast” future activity by calculating the average (mean) of
the datapoints and then using a number of standard deviations (how much the data typically varies from the
average in a given year) to create upper and lower boundaries in which we would expect the data to fall a given
percentage of the time. If the data for the following year falls outside this boundary, it's a good sign that something
is affecting that category other than just the normal ebb and flow of yearly crime statistics.

This particular method for creating a “prediction window” doesn’t work well when the data exhibits a clear trend
over the time period in question. Consider the example in Figure 3.

Forecasting a Crime by Average and Standard Deviation
180
170 &
» - .. _
150 s

140 &
130 .

120
110

100
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

® Crime e Trend Window Window
Figure 3: This method works poorly when the crime shows an increasing or decreasing trend over the period.

Here, forecasting based on the crime’s average and standard deviation results in a poor prediction because average
and standard deviation tell us only where the crime has been, whereas in this case, the crime is clearly going
somewhere. Hence, we need different math to forecast future activity when there’s a clear trend.

To create prediction windows when a past trend is evident (either up or down), | used basic linear regression
analysis. Although this method also works for static crimes, it tends to create prediction windows too large to be
useful when the number of crimes is poorly correlated to the progression of years.



Forecasting a Crime with a Trend

120

100
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

® Crime

Trend Window Window

Figure 4: Trends require an alternate method of prediction that take into consideration the trendline and the normal variance
around the trendline.

Thus, although most statistics offered in this report contain a “window” of predicted activity for the July-December
time period, the method used to create that window varies depending on whether the category exhibited a previous
trend. In both cases, the confidence window is set to 85%, meaning that barring any significant external influence,
the 2020 figure had an 85% probability of falling within that window. If it does not fall within that window, it could
be just a statistical fluke, but it could also be evidence of some new factor influencing the category, of which Encore
is one possibility. Further analysis helps determine how likely it is that Encore is the cause, but given that the bulk
of this report covers only an eight-month period, | was less interested in blaming or exonerating Encore than simply
identifying the trend.

The following is a typical table in this report:

Crimes reported to Gotham, 1 July-29 February

Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Result
Avg Type

Murder 5 o C 37 5  Expected
Sexual Assault 65 -7 T 18-67 77 High
Kidnapping 18 0 C 16-20 23 High
Robbery 201 -21 T 75—215 163  Expected
Aggravated Assault 317 -15 T 205-334 331 Expected
Simple Assault 1065 -27 T 884-1093 1042 Expected
Threats 606 -8 C 569-643 536 Low
Arson 13 -2 C 2-24 5  Expected
Burglary 551 -112 T 161367 310 Expected




The columns can be interpreted as follows:

e  Pre-Enc Avg: The mean of the prior to Encore, for years beginning 1 July and ending 29 February.

e Slope: Over the same range of years, the amount by which the crime has increased or decreased each year
on the crime’s trendline. For instance, robbery had an average of 201, but that was roughly the midpoint
in a trendline that shows a steady decline (averaging -21 incidents per year) over the period.

¢ Window Type: Designates the method used for the predictive window. If the crime shows little or no trend
(i.e., a small slope compared to the mean), | used the central tendency/standard deviation method
designated by a “C.” If it showed a strong trend, | used the regression method designated by a “T.”

e Predictive Window: The window in which we would have expected the 2020 figure to fall, with roughly
85% confidence. The more erratic and unpredictable the past data, the wider this window will be.

e 2020. The actual number of that crime observed between 1 July 2019 and 29 February 2020.

e Result: "High” if the crime is outside its predictive window on the high end; "Low" if it's outside on the low
end; “Expected” if it's within the window. Please note that even “"High” and “Low" crimes are not proof of
a casino influence; other factors could be at work in these communities, or 2020 could be that rare 15% of
the time where natural fluctuations cause the crime to fall outside its normal bounds. When the crime is
“High,” I have done my best to analyze it later in the section.

Discussions with agency representatives

Throughout the life of this series of reports, the Massachusetts Gaming Commission has repeatedly convened
meetings with the police executives in the Everett area to review the results of these analyses and receive their
comments and feedback. No information about changes in the area is published without giving the local chiefs a
chance to comment first. Their feedback has been incorporated into each version of the report. General agreement
with these findings has been widespread, and where anyone has disagreed or offered an alternative perspective, it
has been noted in this report.

About the author

Christopher W. Bruce is a professor of criminal justice at Husson University in Bangor, Maine. He is also a career
crime analyst with previous service at the Cambridge Police Department (1994—2001) and the Danvers Police
Department (2001-2010). He was president of the Massachusetts Association of Crime Analysts from 2000 to 2004
and president of the International Association of Crime Analysts from 2007 to 2012; he currently serves as vice
president of membership for the IACA. He has served as an instructor in criminal justice and crime analysis topics
at Suffolk University (2001—-2010), Westfield State University (2009—2010), the University of Massachusetts Lowell
(2009—2010), Middlesex Community College (2007—2011), Western Oregon University (2012-2016), and Tiffin
University (2006—2018).

Professor Bruce is an internationally-recognized expert in police data systems and police data analysis. He has
trained, consulted, and provided technical assistance for various programs of the U.S. Department of Justice,
Bureau of Justice Assistance; the U.S. Department of Transportation, National Highway Traffic Safety
Administration; the Texas Department of Transportation; the U.S. Department of Justice, International Criminal
Investigative Training Assistance Program; and the International Association of Directors of Law Enforcement
Standards and Training. He lives in Maine.

10



8-Month Comparison: All Agencies

" T W T T i ‘\4
(- 1 11 -
N Legend =)
H ; # )
Encore Area Towns | ynnfield ', Peabpdy
PStatus 5 b
. A
Ll ] included in Stucy i
E— invited o Participate but Declined Sakem
[]invited to Partic pate but Did Not Supply Data in Time for Report i
) [ ] notpartor stuay \\
ynn i SC
3 ha 0
augus
ose
ster = !
TLex ———]
== ==
99 — a
& B0 80
€
70 B 3 Everett B
BT /___ g 16 1 743
5 g
m (T 4
= : st 0 inthro
. L o
- 3)
= © 3
N AR V= 2 <
ston ;
on L) N
Brook 0 05 1 2 3 4
|- Miles
9

Figure 5: Agencies in the Encore Boston Harbor region.

The initial study area was limited to those agencies that signed a “surrounding community” agreement with the
Massachusetts Gaming Commission: Boston, Cambridge, Lynn, Malden, Medford, Melrose, and Somerville.
Together, these cities represent a population of nearly 1.3 million, although limiting the analysis of Boston to
Charlestown effectively reduces that number to just over 600,000.

Of the invited communities, Cambridge declined to participate in the project. Medford expressed an initial
willingness to participate but never supplied any data. Malden participated in the first analyses (published in March
2020) but COVID-related personnel restrictions made it impossible for the agency to provide an updated dataset
for this report. In the meantime, the Saugus Police Department joined the group despite being left out of the initial
two reports.

Although the Massachusetts State Police did contribute data for this report, its format makes it inconsistent with
the local agency submissions and is thus analyzed in a later section of this report rather than in the totals offered

below.

Crime in this region has been on a downward decline for more than a decade—a decrease that continued despite
Encore, with all three summary crime categories reaching historic lows in 2020. However, a look at specific

11



categories shows several that ended the year higher than what the trend would have suggested. We take a detailed
look at each of those categories below.

Crime Trends in the Encore Region, Years Ending 31 July

25000
20000 — -~
L gy -
-
-
-

15000 = —
10000
5000 ot e B it

0

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
= = =\/jolent Crime == =Property Crime Total Crime

Figure 6: Crime in this region saw steep decreases in the decade before Encore.

Incidents reported to region, 1 July—29 February

Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window  Pred. Window  Jul 2019- Result
Avg Type Feb 2020

Murder 8 ) C 4—12 12 Expected
Sexual Assault 181 o] C 153-209 158  Expected
Kidnapping 29 -1 C 21-37 27  Expected
Robbery 354 -35 T 181251 204  Expected
Aggravated Assault 798 -26 T 606-779 687 Expected
Simple Assault 1704 -74 T 1172-1648 1483  Expected
Threats 590 -37 T 382-566 501 Expected
Arson 17 -3 T 4—20 6 Expected
Burglary 868 -124 T 419-551 452  Expected
Theft from Persons 59 -2 T 38-64 50 Expected
Purse-Snatching 21 -2 C 10-32 15 Expected
Shoplifting 523 -15 C 412—634 366 Low
Theft from Building 359 -18 T 242354 309 Expected
Theft from Machine 1 0 C 0-2 o Expected
Theft from Vehicle 848 -104 T 442-554 674 High

12



Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window  Pred. Window  Jul 2019- Result

Type Feb 2020

Theft of MV Parts 62 -1 C 45—79 23 Low

Other Theft 1769 -158 T 935—-1527 1276  Expected
Auto Theft 549 -38 T 353-536 359 Expected
Forgery 125 -10 T 95-130 122  Expected
Fraud 400 -10 C 342458 443  Expected
Credit Card Fraud 184 5 C 145—223 169  Expected
Identity Theft 225 3 C 174—276 174,  Expected
Employee Theft 13 -2 T 6—13 6  Expected
Stolen Property 69 -7 T 32-67 58  Expected
Vandalism 1894 -170 T 1038-1476 1222  Expected
Drugs 448 -33 T 252—440 356  Expected
Drug Equipment 15 C 10-20 20 Expected
Statutory Rape 20 C 14—26 50 High

Gambling 3 C 0-6 6 Expected
Pornography 16 2 C 8-24 22  Expected
Prostitution 41 -12 T 9-10 14 High

Weapons 176 -1 C 150-202 160 Expected
Bad Checks 38 -2 C 21-55 24  Expected
Disorderly 319 -27 T 175-271 254  Expected
Drunk Driving 216 8 C 179-253 248  Expected
Drunkenness 230 -18 T 126—212 154  Expected
Family Offenses 245 4 C 208-282 240  Expected
Liquor Laws 88 2 T 86—104 106 High

Runaway 7 -1 C 2-12 o] Low

Trespassing 187 -3 C 148-226 132 Low

-

Property Total 7985 -656 4560—6411 5724 Expected

8405-11708 10583 Expected

-

Total 13696 -910

The region saw expected volumes of overall crime totals, but some individual categories of property crime were
unexpectedly high. Most of these can be traced to a single city, however, leaving few corroborative increases across
multiple agencies.

Thefts from vehicles

Boston and Everett both reported higher-than-expected theft-from-vehicle totals, but in neither case does the
spatial pattern suggest an Encore connection. Also, both cities continued to experience high totals during the
period that the casino closed.

Statutory rape
Chelsea accounted for almost all of the increase; see the Chelsea section for further detail.

Prostitution
Although high for the region, this increase comes entirely from Lynn and is discussed in that city’s analysis.



Liquor laws
This one is also influenced heavily by Lynn and is discussed in that agency’s analysis.

Selected calls for service reported to region, 1 July—29 February*

Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul 2019- Result
Avg Type Window Feb 2020

Abandoned Vehicle 461 -14 C 387-535 401 Expected
Disabled Vehicle 1368 A C 1097-1639 1166  Expected
Domestic Dispute 1768 -52 T 1377-1739 1631 Expected
Drugs 422 -13 C 304-540 324  Expected
General Service L4442 -98 T 33524744 3762  Expected
Gunshots 212 19 T 238-323 296  Expected
Liquor 677 -62 T 356—498 513 High
Lost Property 688 13 C 627-749 622 Low
Medical 15039 -797 T 9223-16912 12363  Expected
Overdose 421 87 T 511-803 Lbl, Low
Psychological 842 59 T 9731183 885 Low
Recovered Vehicle 271 -33 T 144221 166  Expected
Suspicious Activity 4564 -110 T 3549—4696 3660 Expected
Traffic Collision 7637 114 C 7072—-8202 7662  Expected
Traffic Complaint 5709 438 T 5879-8670 6743 Expected
Vagrancy 190 8 C 129-251 168 Expected

Liquor related calls for service were the only aggregate category to outperform the expected window for the region.
Everett was the only individual agency to cross the threshold, however, and its liquor-related calls are analyzed in
its section. Like the burglary statistic for the region, the predicted window is influenced heavily by a decreasing
historic trend; the 2020 total was actually the second-lowest in the eight-year period for the region.

Collisions reported to region, 1 July—29 February?

Category Pre-Enc  Slope  Window Pred. Jul20o19- Result
Avg Type Window  Feb 2020

Vehicle in Traffic 2980 37 C 2651-3309 2869 Expected
Parked Vehicle 349 -8 C 308-390 344 Expected
Pedestrian 230 8 C 190-270 245 Expected
Bicyclist 28 -1 C 19-37 23 Expected
Animal 4 o C 1-7 2 Expected
Fixed Object 135 4 C 106-164 150 Expected
Curb/Barrier/fEmbankment 61 4 T 63-92 39 Low
Rollover/Jackknife 7 o) C 3-11 5 Expected
Other/Unknown 198 -13 T 123-190 132 Expected
Total 4363 25 C 3962—4764 4158 Expected

Any extra vehicle traffic in the area is not reflected (so far) in collision totals. All categories are within an expected
range or lower.

1This table includes Everett, Chelsea, Somerville, Revere, Saugus, Melrose, and Lynn, but not Malden or Boston.
2 Individual categories do not include Somerville, but the total does. Boston and Malden are not included in this table.

14



8-Month analysis: Everett

aldep:

Population (est. 2018): 47,195
Area: 3.7 square miles
Police officers: 123

City center distance to Encore:
0.93 miles

Encore Boston Harbor was built on the south border of a densely-populated suburban community. The site is a
formerly unsightly industrial area on the Mystic River. The revitalization occasioned by the casino has transformed
and is likely to continue transforming the waterfront on both sides of the river, both creating opportunities for crime
and providing natural guardians against it.

In the first eight months of Encore’s operation, Everett has seen some increases in crimes and calls for service that
have a logical connection to a casino; that is, you would expect the crimes to increase with extra people in a
community, or they would earn gambling-motivated offenders quick cash. However, few of them have any clear
spatial connection, and statistics later in this report show that the immediate Encore area had only a few minor
changes

Nor has the Everett Police Department collected much direct evidence of a casino influence; for instance, an
arrested offender who was in town to use the casino. Shortly before Encore opened, Everett implemented a coding
system to flag incidents that had a known relationship with Encore, either because the victim or offender was in the
area to use the casino. (Note, however, that for most crimes, the offender is unknown, so the coding system will
not capture all possible Encore-related incidents.) In the eight months post-Encore, the only incidents that the
agency recorded not at the casino itself were two simple assaults, a stolen cell phone, a vandalism, a disturbance, a
traffic violation, and a warrant arrest. Both of the assaults involved male patrons who had recently left the casino
before getting into fights with other men. Assaults did not increase in general for the city in the post-Encore period.

The Everett Police Department’s two crime analysts are vital partners in this project. The senior analyst has worked

for the agency for more than 10 years. We will rely on her judgment to analyze many of the increases and determine
the probability of a casino relationship.

15



Crimes in Everett

[
[e)]

Murder 1 0 C 1-2 3 High

Sexual Assault 16 0 C 13-19 23 High

Kidnapping 3 0 C 1-5 2 Expected
Robbery 30 -3 T 15-36 14 Low

Aggravated Assault 61 3 T 56-91 82  Expected
Simple Assault 84 -16 T 37-93 87  Expected
Threats 60 -3 C 44—76 63 Expected
Arson 1 ) C 0—2 2 Expected
Burglary 101 -8 C 64-138 67 Expected
Theft from Persons 2 0 C 0-3 3  Expected
Purse-Snatching 3 0 C 2—4 3  Expected
Shoplifting 72 0 C 53-91 70  Expected
Theft from Building 21 -2 T 13-24 31 High

Theft from Machine 0 ) T 0-3 o Expected
Theft from Vehicle 113 -17 T 47-86 87 High

Theft of MV Parts 6 -1 T 2-5 4  Expected
Other Theft 165 -2 C 149-181 140 Low

Auto Theft 60 -6 T 38-53 48  Expected
Forgery 10 -2 T 5—14 6 Expected
Fraud 18 1 C 9—27 32 High

Credit Card Fraud 42 4 C 20-67 48  Expected
Identity Theft 17 -7 T 2-18 o} Low

Employee Theft 1 ) C 02 o Expected
Stolen Property 9 -1 T 5—9 Expected
Vandalism 196 -10 T 131-181 140 Expected
Drugs 34 0 C 26—42 36  Expected
Drug Equipment 14 1 C 8—20 16  Expected
Statutory Rape 1 0 C 0—2 o Expected
Gambling 0 0 C 0-1 o Expected
Pornography 1 0 C 03 Expected
Prostitution ) C 0-3 Expected
Weapons 16 4 T 16—38 13 Low

Bad Checks 12 ) C 6-18 19 High

Disorderly 12 2 C 3-22 27 High

Drunk Driving 18 1 C 11-25 43 High

Drunkenness 0 0 C 0—-0 o Expected
Family Offenses 86 15 T 80-146 109 Expected
Liquor Laws 1 0 C 03 1 Expected
Runaway 4 0 C 0-8 o Expected
Trespassing 8 ) C 4-12 11 Expected




Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window  Pred. Window  Jul 2019- Result
Type Feb 2020

Violent Total 255 167—322 274 Expected

Property Total 550—728 688 Expected
Total 1001-1231 1239 High

Murder

Everett’s three murders during this period were a 42-year-old man shot outside a hookah bar in September, a 26-
year-old man shot on the street in October, and the hit-and-run death of a 59-year-old resident in October. None
had any casino relationship nor could have plausibly been influenced by the casino’s presence.

Sexual Assault
We will need assistance from the Everett Police to analyze the sexual assault increase. Most of the incidents seem
to be at residences involving victims and offenders from Everett or the immediate local area.

Thefts from Buildings
Most of the increase is at residences, and one particular cluster in the northeast section of town, in December, may
be related in a pattern.

Thefts from Vehicles

The “increase” in 2020 is actually the second-lowest total in 10 years, but it is still higher than the downward trend
since 2013 suggested that it would be. Most of the increase is spatially unrelated to Encore, spread throughout the
northern residential areas of the city. Also evidence against an Encore relationship: the trend continued during the
COVID closures in the spring.

Fraud

Everett saw a near record-high number of “con game”-style frauds in the last half of 2019, most at residences (which
often suggests online fraud). When suspects are known, they seem to be from the Chelsea/Everett/Revere area.

Bad Checks

This is definitely one to watch for a casino relationship. Half of the incidents have come from area banks.

Disorderly Conduct
A modest increase in disorderly conduct arrests is scattered across the northern part of town and does not seem
geographically associated with the casino.

Drunk Driving

Unlike disorderly conduct, the increase in drunk driving arrests does seem to be spatially associated with Encore.
Fifteen of the arrests alone happened on Broadway, most between 22:00 and 03:00. However, a review of individual
cases shows that the drunk drivers were coming from other locations, mostly in Boston, and just happened to be
driving on Broadway near Encore when stopped (extra law enforcement presence in the area may be related).
However, see the drunk driving section later in this report for more evidence of a potential increase in Everett.

Selected calls for service in Everett

Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result
Avg Type Window Feb 2020

Abandoned Vehicle 37 1 C 25—49 34 Expected

Disabled Vehicle 12 o) C 8-16 11 Expected

Domestic Dispute 4 0 C 2—-6 0 Low

17



Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result

Avg Type Window Feb 2020

Drugs 6 o C 3-9 6 Expected
General Service 87 -1 C 66—108 82  Expected
Gunshots 3 o C 1-7 1 Expected
Liquor 2 0 C 0—4 o Expected
Lost Property 11 -1 T 10-18 8 Low

Medical 182 -1 C 171-193 176  Expected
Overdose 9 o C 5—13 10 Expected
Psychological 4 0 C 3-5 6 High

Recovered Vehicle 1 o) C 03 1 Expected
Suspicious Activity 67 -1 C 46-88 58  Expected
Traffic Collision 107 2 T 73—116 80 Expected
Traffic Complaint 124 -2 C 99-149 120 Expected

Everett’s increase during this period was only in the “psychological” category and only by one.

Collisions in Everett

Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result
Avg Type Window Feb 2020

Vehicle in Traffic 122 7 T 110-188 179 Expected
Parked Vehicle YA 3 T 43-66 63 Expected
Pedestrian 15 -1 C 9-21 18 Expected
Bicyclist 5 ) C 3—7 7 Expected
Animal ) ) C 0—-0 o Expected
Fixed Object 19 1 C 1424 19 Expected
Curb/Barrier/Embankment 3 o T 3-6 7 High
Rollover/Jackknife 1 ) C 0—2 o Expected
Other/Unknown 9 o) T 5-10 10 Expected
Total 218 10 T 201-313 303 Expected

Everett’s collision total was a bit higher than average, but within the expected range given the upward trend that
the city has seen in collisions this decade.



8-month analysis: Boston/Charlestown

Bostor{Chariestowny

Population (est. 2016): 17,201

E Area: 24.2 square miles

Police officers: 2,143 (city wide)

City center distance to Encore:
1.87 square miles

As the capital and the largest city in the Commonwealth, Boston gives its name to the casino and supplies much of
its traffic, both residents and visitors, arriving via Logan Airport shuttles, the MBTA, vehicles, or ferries from Long
Wharf and the World Trade Center.

Because any casino influence on the totality of the city would likely be undetectable amidst the normal volume of
crimes and calls for service that this city generates, analysis of changes is largely confined to Charlestown, Boston
Police District A-15, Boston’s oldest neighborhood. This detached area is north of the Charles River, west of the
main channel of Boston Harbor, south of the Mystic River, and east of Route g3. It contains Bunker Hill, the U.S.S.
Constitution, several waterfront parks, two colleges, and about 17,000 of the city’s 700,000 residents.

In the eight months post-Encore, crime totals were normal in the neighborhood, but certain property crimes
showed increases. These are discussed below. Because of a change to a new records management system, we do
not currently have accurate call-for-service or collision data for Boston.

The Mystic River serves as a practical barrier to activity spilling into the neighborhood from Encore except in a few
geographically-concentrated ways. Changes in Charlestown may be reflected in extra traffic along Rutherford
Avenue and Alford Street, as well as increased usage of tourist destinations within the area and facilities near Exit
28 off I-93. The neighborhood'’s few hotels might see extra occupancy.

Crimes in Boston/Charlestown3
Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result

Type Window Feb 2020
Murder 0 ) C 0-1 o Expected

3 Prior to 2019, Boston’s records management system did not follow NIBRS standards and only recorded the most serious offense
code with each incident rather than each separate offense. Hence, while the statistics here are internally consistent, they are not
directly comparable with other agencies, with the disparity getting more significant the further one goes down the list of crimes.

19



Trespassing
Violent Total
Property Total

Expected
Expected
Expected

Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result
Avg Type Window Feb 2020

Sexual Assault 5 1 C 1-9 1 Expected
Kidnapping 0 ) C 0-1 1 Expected
Robbery 16 -1 T 7—20 2 Low
Aggravated Assault 32 ) C 22—42 41 Expected
Simple Assault 84 -1 C 68-100 97 Expected
Threats 39 -5 T 18-41 41 Expected
Arson 0 0 C 0—0 o Expected
Burglary 28 -3 C 10-46 15  Expected
Theft from Persons 1 0 C 0—2 o Expected
Purse-Snatching 1 ) C 0—2 o Expected
Shoplifting 14 1 C 5—24 7  Expected
Theft from Building 40 0 C 3149 33 Expected
Theft from Machine 0 0 T 0-0 o Expected
Theft from Vehicle 50 -7 T 20-58 72 High
Theft of MV Parts 14 -2 T 3-16 12 Expected
Other Theft 48 -1 C 39-57 53  Expected
Auto Theft 20 -2 T 9-20 22 High
Forgery 3 o] T 2-8 2 Expected
Fraud 23 -3 T 11-25 35 High
Credit Card Fraud 6 2 T 3-19 8 Expected
Identity Theft 4 2 T 6-18 2 Low
Employee Theft 1 ) C 0-3 3  Expected
Stolen Property 3 ) T 0—4 3  Expected
Vandalism 83 -5 T 43-81 72 Expected
Drugs 46 3 C 27-65 33 Expected
Drug Equipment 0 o] C 0—0 o Expected
Statutory Rape 0 o] C 0—0 o Expected
Gambling 0 ) C 0-0 o Expected
Pornography 2 ) C 0—4 1 Expected
Prostitution 0 0 C 0-0 o Expected
Weapons 6 ) C 1-11 2 Expected
Bad Checks o) 0 C 0—-0 o Expected
Disorderly 6 -1 T 2—7 4  Expected
Drunk Driving 3 o C 1-§ 4  Expected
Drunkenness o) 0 T 0-1 o Expected
Family Offenses 17 1 T 13-29 20 Expected
Liquor Laws 1 ) C 0-2 o Expected
Runaway 0 ) C 0-1 o Expected

T

C

T

T

20

Expected



Thefts from Vehicles
November and December brought a pattern of thefts from cars to the residential streets in the neighborhood, with

report times suggesting largely daytime occurrences, particularly on Fridays.

—
Medton a :
7 " amid
" Ay
] L
; 2 har wh HE
Adbiglic Fiete Chanesian b
:.. A hsi v Falds
I (A
3 e 7
W
1igh y
P, @ i
L . I ]
z o
; @ {
dwar ] /
Paygn 2 y ]
& %
o 3
. = dedford
i by @ :
- oy 2
y :
» T[] 5 @ J
§ aurt =1 & =
. 3 = a i Wa k
J Q
o 1 :
£ ® ® ;
e e 3 ”
\ : « ¢ ’ "
3§ % ; ; ’
® O L ;
% T,
¥ o
: y
& ® ' ® .\
1) -'*
T s fre s - T
: I L Hil Pt
.:'\ ’
3
4/ ® '
¥ izal Park o y
/ o
At J R
T .
3 x = A
5 ] T Y 4
:’\.- ¥
‘ : e 4
vl o 3 l-‘. ;‘*-\f
0, 'z & ?
¥ B ; SP “\-
= A
i B
. w ‘g‘h
L b ;
II d & ; : I :
Y. ’ 4 F

Figure 7: A November-December pattern of thefts from ca}’s affected Char/e;stown 's residentfa/ neighborhoods.

Auto theft
Auto theft increased in September and October, mostly on weekdays during the day, mostly around Monument

Square.

Fraud

The increase in fraud starts in September, shortly after the agency switched to a new records system. Concurrent
decreases during the period in credit card fraud and identity theft suggest that the new system may simply have
improved (or just changed) reporting categories for certain crimes.

21



8-month analysis: Chelsea

P

. Revére

oy
KT

rown '

POLICE

N, Chiglsed

Population (est. 2019): 40,496

,_AJL_\_/ Area: 2.5 square miles
‘ (T/ / Police officers: 107
QW
J

City center distance to Encore:
1.83 miles

Chelsea is a diverse working-class community. The smallest city in the Commonwealth, and the second densely-
populated, Chelsea is one of only three Massachusetts cities with a Hispanic-majority population. It has bounded
back from crippling crime rates and near-bankruptcy in the 1990s and has enjoyed significant economic growth and
gentrification in the past 15 years. The city’s UCR Part 1 violent crime rate fell 59% between 2008 and 2018.

The city is physically close to Encore, and visitors coming from eastern Massachusetts or even Logan Airport might
pass through the city’s boundaries. Extra tourist traffic to Encore might bring extra visitors to its hotel and
restaurant cluster off Everett Avenue. There have been no signs of any casino-related increases in the first eight

months, however.

Chelsea has a full-time crime analyst who is able to assist with the analysis of new patterns and trends in the city.

Crimes in Chelsea

Category Pre-Enc  Slope  Window Pred. Jul2019- Result
Avg Type Window Feb 2020

Murder 2 ) C 0—4 o Expected
Sexual Assault 38 C 28-48 32  Expected
Kidnapping 9 C 5—13 10 Expected
Robbery 103 -17 T 34-56 49  Expected
Aggravated Assault 161 -18 T 92-136 156 High
Simple Assault 452 -20 T 333-410 364  Expected
Threats 210 -17 T 134194 154  Expected
Arson 2 o] T 0—3 o Expected

22



Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result

Avg Type Window Feb 2020
Burglary 109 -21 T 43-59 58  Expected
Theft from Persons 15 -3 T 3-13 5  Expected
Purse-Snatching 7 -1 C 1-16 7  Expected
Shoplifting 93 -5 C 67-119 35 Low
Theft from Building 105 -6 C 72—138 62 Low
Theft from Machine 0 0 C 0-0 o Expected
Theft from Vehicle 119 -16 T 58-116 89  Expected
Theft of MV Parts 27 2 C 7—47 1 Low
Other Theft 100 -37 T 37-93 92  Expected
Auto Theft 83 -12 T 3477 48  Expected
Forgery 19 -2 T 6-19 18  Expected
Fraud 62 -2 C 41-83 39 Low
Credit Card Fraud 20 ) C 15-25 2 Low
Identity Theft 38 -3 T 2238 28  Expected
Employee Theft 3 0 C 2—4 0 Low
Stolen Property 23 -2 C 20—26 19 Low
Vandalism 365 -45 T 193-225 215 Expected
Drugs 61 -8 T 2454 41 Expected
Drug Equipment 1 ) C 0-2 1 Expected
Statutory Rape 4 2 T 3-16 25 High
Gambling 1 ) T 0-5 3  Expected
Pornography 3 1 C 0-7 4  Expected
Prostitution 9 -1 C 3—-15 o] Low
Weapons 47 -5 T 20—47 30 Expected
Bad Checks 7 o C 3-11 o Low
Disorderly 61 -10 T 2645 34 Expected
Drunk Driving 31 o C 17-45 31 Expected
Drunkenness 165 -9 T 110-174 126  Expected
Family Offenses 1 T 0-5 o Expected
Liquor Laws 33 C 2442 39 Expected
Runaway 1 C 0-3 o Expected
Trespassing -2 C Low

Property Total 1190 -165 718 High

1470—1705 1846 High

— |-

Total 2635 -269

Chelsea’s crime total has dropped so much in the past 8 years that the 2020 figures for property crime and total
crime register as “high” even though they’re the second-lowest in at least 10 years (2019 was slightly lower). The
totals simply didn’t drop as much as the trendline predicted. This is an oddity with this agency, but we can largely
ignore the totals and focus on the individual crime categories.

Aggravated Assault
Aggravated assaults in 2019 were lower than average but above what the decreasing trend predicted. The bulk of
the reversal seems to be at residences (as opposed to street violence), suggesting an increase in domestic-related

23



crimes, although we did not see a comparable increase in domestic disputes and domestic simple assaults.
“Personal” weapons (hands and feet) and blunt objects dominate the increase in terms of weapon type.

Statutory Rape

This category showed a massive increase in the second half of 2019, but it's impossible to know what's happening
without access to the full reports. Almost all of the incidents are at residences, with a few duplicate addresses.
Suspects are mostly locals from Chelsea.

Selected calls for service in Chelsea

Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result
Avg Type Window Feb 2020

Abandoned Vehicle 41 o C 27-55 17 Low
Disabled Vehicle 135 o C 98-172 100 Expected
Domestic Dispute 437 -35 T 259—340 354 High
Drugs 165 -16 C 82-248 111 Expected
General Service 583 -37 C 364-802 542  Expected
Gunshots 31 8 T 27-68 77 High
Liquor 58 6 T 73-93 41 Low
Lost Property 21 3 T 30-34 25 Low
Medical 705 -8 C 504—906 469 Low
Psychological 212 10 T 197-304 247  Expected
Recovered Vehicle 60 -11 T 23-49 29 Expected
Suspicious Activity 927 -72 T 455—884 464  Expected
Traffic Collision 981 30 T 1001—1200 1102  Expected
Traffic Complaint 765 104 T 814—1545 959 Expected

Domestic disputes
A high February 2020 pushed this incident type above its expected window. There are a handful of incidents at the
Marriott Residence Inn, and between 5 and 7 each at a selection of apartment complexes.

Gunshots

Gunshot reports for the last half of 2019 were nearly double the city’s average, but the increase came entirely from
automatic notices from the city’s ShotSpotter gunshot detection service, which suggests an expansion of that
service rather than an increase in the number of actual gunshots fired. If those are removed from consideration, the
city had only g reports of gunshots from an average of 14.

Collisions in Chelsea

Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2o19- Result
Avg Type Window Feb 2020

Vehicle in Traffic 297 7 C 247-347 342 Expected
Parked Vehicle 152 -16 T 77-126 103 Expected
Pedestrian 33 -2 C 2442 36 Expected
Bicyclist 6 o) C 3—-9 3 Expected
Animal ) ) C 0-1 o Expected
Fixed Object 29 1 C 18-40 24 Expected
Curb/Barrier/fEmbankment 9 1 C 5—13 2 Low
Rollover/Jackknife 1 ) C 0—2 o Expected

24



Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019-

Avg Type Window Feb 2020
Other/Unknown 10 -1 C 3-17 5 Expected
Total 537 -11 T 428-558 515 Expected

Total collision reports in Chelsea were the lowest in the past decade. Any extra traffic going through the city to
Encore is not being reflected in reportable crashes.

25



8-month analysis: Lynn

Lynnfield

Satgus

Lynn is the city farthest removed from Encore Boston Harbor. Although its storied past as the “city of sin” has been
tempered by crime decreases over the past two decades, its large population generates enough activity that any
changes brought by Encore Boston Harbor will be difficult to detect.

Lynn has no travel routes to Encore excepting those that its own residents will use. A couple of bed-and-breakfasts
make up its only lodging. It may see an increase in visitation from a small percentage of Encore visitors interested
in the city’s growing arts culture. So far, however, most activity has been low, and no changes are attributable to

Encore.

Crimes in Lynn

Peabody

Area: 13.5 square miles

Police officers: 168

Population (est. 2019): 94,449

City center distance to Encore:
7.62 miles

Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result
Avg Type Window Feb 2020

Murder 3 o) C 1-§ 6 High
Sexual Assault 57 -1 C 45-69 42 Low
Kidnapping 8 ) C 4—12 6  Expected
Robbery 117 -5 T 69-124 77  Expected
Aggravated Assault 290 -12 T 187-296 202  Expected
Simple Assault 549 -25 T 358-576 507 Expected
Threats 63 -1 C 53-73 67 Expected
Arson 5 -1 C 2-8 2 Expected
Burglary 280 -42 T 104-159 152  Expected
Theft from Persons 30 o) C 2238 33 Expected
Purse-Snatching 0 ) C 0-0 o Expected
Shoplifting 103 -8 T 48-126 81 Expected
Theft from Building 38 -3 T 19-47 57 High

N
(o))




Categor Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result
gory P

Avg Type Window Feb 2020
Theft from Machine 0 0 C 0-0 o Expected
Theft from Vehicle 227 -22 T 126-197 167 Expected
Theft of MV Parts 9 -2 T 2—9 3  Expected
Other Theft 564 -49 T 302496 410  Expected
Auto Theft 174 -6 C 121-227 105 Low
Forgery 36 -6 T 14—23 29 High
Fraud 96 -7 T 60-91 84  Expected
Credit Card Fraud 40 C 28-52 58 High
Identity Theft 24 T 2335 29  Expected
Employee Theft 1 C 0-1 o Expected
Stolen Property 0 0 T 0—2 2 Expected
Vandalism 572 -46 T 315-545 360 Expected
Drugs 169 -15 T 78-173 134  Expected
Drug Equipment 0 ) C 0-0 o Expected
Statutory Rape 5 C 2-8 11 High
Gambling 1 C 0—2 o Expected
Pornography 4 T 1-13 4  Expected
Prostitution 26 -10 T 2—-11 12 High
Weapons 56 o} C 42-70 63  Expected
Bad Checks 0 0 C 0-0 o Expected
Disorderly 113 -8 T 54—125 100 Expected
Drunk Driving 73 C 57-89 89  Expected
Drunkenness 0 0 C 0-0 o Expected
Family Offenses 109 -8 T 72-118 88  Expected
Liquor Laws 22 C 16—28 39 High
Runaway 0 o] C 0—0 o Expected
Trespassing C 50—104 58  Expected
Violent Total T 717-1155
Property Total T 1191-1844
Total Crimes T 22473568 3077

Overall crime was well within expected ranges for Lynn, generally continuing the trend of decreasing crime. A few
exceptions are analyzed below.

Murder
Lynn unfortunately saw an increase in deadly violence during this period. To wit:

e 19 August 2019: Two homeless people, a 34-year-old woman and a 36-year-old man, got into a fight.
The woman ended up stabbing the man and was later arrested.

e 24 August 2019: Two Lynn men fired recklessly into a playground on Warren Street, hitting four people
and killing one. They were later arrested.

e 11 October 2019: A 63-year-old woman was stabbed to death in her home on West Neptune Street.
Lynn Police have said publicly only that the crime is not random.

27



e 8 November 2019: One homeless man beat another to death on Liberty Street.

e 4 January 2020: A 25-year-old man from Worcester was shot at an apartment party. Lynn Police got a
warrant for a 34-year-old Lynn man; he was later arrested in Maine.

e 24 February 2020: A 34-year-old Lynn man was shot and killed and another man injured. The
circumstances are unknown.

Overall, the Lynn murders during this period seem to involve local residents with local problems.

Thefts from buildings
There are two potential patterns at work in this increase: thefts from residences in East Lynn and thefts from
restaurants in September and October.

Forgery

There was a big increase in this crime during the first two months of 2020, unfortunately spread out at a variety of
locations. The few incidents with identified suspects have them all local (from Lynn or Revere). Given the lack of
corroborative increases in other communities, | will regard it as a local pattern, unrelated to Encore, unless | receive
further information from the Lynn Police.

Credit card fraud

Credit card fraud increased about 40% from average during this period, but | can‘t find any patterns within the data.
Incidents are scattered across town, throughout the eight month period, at a variety of location types. A good
portion are at residences, suggesting online fraud.

Statutory rape
A disturbing increase, but all of the incidents occurred at local residences or schools and almost all of the suspects
are from Lynn, suggesting no connecting to Encore.

Prostitution

All but one of the incidents have occurred on streets, indicating streetwalking rather than motel- or house-based
prostitution. All incidents have been on Green or Union Streets. Listed suspects are all female, and all from Lynn.
My reading of the data is that the Lynn Police have been more aggressive about enforcing streetwalking, and the
increase is thus related to police proactivity rather than an actual increase in prostitution.

Liquor laws

A fairly heavy increase in liquor law violations involve incidents scattered all over town, at all times of day, all days
of the week, and no location types listed. | cannot find a logical tie to Encore, particularly this far distant from the
casino, but I'm otherwise not sure what to make of the trend.

28



& EFS

(=
Lynn

= i
& %

o -
< ¥ c* cE 25

e %

Figure 8: Lynn arrests for prostitution this period were focused heavily on the intersection of Union and Green Streets.

Selected calls for service in Lynn

Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result
Avg Type Window Feb 2020

Disabled Vehicle 608 -27 C 433-783 407 Low
Domestic Dispute 517 -45 T 263—449 379  Expected
Drugs 169 7 C 120-218 126  Expected
General Service 533 -1 C 488-578 506  Expected
Gunshots 107 o C 94—120 99 Expected
Liquor 329 -36 T 146—265 211 Expected
Lost Property 270 -1 C 237—303 240 Expected
Medical 5951 138 T 6138-6871 6169 Expected
Overdose 185 40 T 279-379 254 Low
Psychological 255 15 T 286—-344 189 Low
Recovered Vehicle 71 -7 T 29-86 32  Expected
Suspicious Activity 1042 -30 C 886-1198 880 Low
Traffic Collision 2226 43 T 21122687 2109 Low
Traffic Complaint 2148 37 C 1674—2622 1823  Expected
Vagrancy 113 2 C 96-130 132 High

Lynn’s only call-for-service increase during this period was for vagrancy. Reports of panhandling increased in
particular on Boston Street and State Street.

29




Collisions in Lynn

Category Pre-Enc  Slope  Window Pred. Jul2019- Result
Avg Type Window Feb 2020

Vehicle in Traffic 1527 =24 C 1254-1800 1115 Low
Parked Vehicle 7 0 C 3-11 3 Expected
Pedestrian 101 8 T 86-178 104 Expected
Bicyclist 4 -1 C 1-7 4  Expected
Animal 2 0 C 13 1 Expected
Fixed Object 0 C 0-0 o Expected
Curb/Barrier/fEmbankment 0 C 0—0 o Expected
Rollover/Jackknife 0 C 0—0 o Expected
Other/Unknown 96 -13 T 39-81 36 Low
Total 1737 -29 C 1430—2044 1263 Low

Lynn’s crash totals during this eight-month period were the lowest in at least a decade, certainly showing no
evidence of being affected by extra traffic to and from Encore. This makes sense, as the only travel routes that go
through the city would have to originate within the city.

30



6-month analysis: Malden

Malden was unable to participate in this report. To show some of the trends the city was experiencing as of
the end of the first six months of Encore operations (July-December 2019), | have left those statistics intact.
The statistics below were not included in the overall totals for the participating area.

Melrgse

/

¢}

POLICE |

Malden

Population (est. 2019): 60,746
Area: 5.1 square miles
Evéreth Police officers: 100

City center distance to Encore:
2.28 miles

Bordering Everett to the north, Malden has one of the lower crime rates (for both violent crime and property crime)
among the jurisdictions in this study. With the exception of a small part of U.S. Route 1 (a stretch mostly clear of
businesses except a single liquor store), the city does not have many significant auto travel routes leading to Encore.
However, the casino does operate a free shuttle out of Malden Center, which may increase foot and vehicle traffic
to the businesses in the region. So far, most categories analyzed below show normal or decreased activity.

Crimes in Malden

Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result
Avg Type Window Dec 2019

Murder 0 ) C 0-1 o Expected
Sexual Assault 11 C 3-19 12 Expected
Kidnapping 2 T 2-8 7  Expected
Robbery 29 -3 T 16—27 13 Low
Aggravated Assault 69 -1 C 51-87 54  Expected
Simple Assault 176 -9 T 111-190 144  Expected
Threats 43 -14 T 12-33 19 Expected
Arson 1 -1 T 0—2 o Expected
Burglary 80 -17 T 2241 48 High
Theft from Persons 8 0 C 5—11 6 Expected
Purse-Snatching 0 ) T 0-0 o Expected
Shoplifting 51 -3 C 31-71 42 Expected

w
[N



Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result

Avg Type Window Dec 2019
Theft from Building 12 1 C 6-18 17  Expected
Theft from Machine 0 ) C 0-0 o Expected
Theft from Vehicle 89 -8 C 43-135 104 Expected
Theft of MV Parts 2 ) C 0—4 o Expected
Other Theft 186 -13 T 104—210 162  Expected
Auto Theft 49 -4 T 26-50 56 High
Forgery 15 -3 T 7—14 9 Expected
Fraud 31 1 C 25-37 28  Expected
Credit Card Fraud 9 2 T 10-21 4 Low
Identity Theft 0 ) C 0-1 o Expected
Employee Theft 0 ) C 0-1 o Expected
Stolen Property 0 ) C 0-0 o Expected
Vandalism 152 -9 T 97-147 134  Expected
Drugs 25 -3 T 12-24 9 Low
Drug Equipment 0 o] C 0—-0 o Expected
Statutory Rape 1 0 C 0—2 o Expected
Gambling 0 ) C 0-0 o Expected
Pornography 1 0 C 0—2 2 Expected
Prostitution 2 ) C 0-6 5  Expected
Weapons 10 ) C 6-14 6 Expected
Bad Checks 0 0 T 0-1 o Expected
Disorderly 28 -1 C 15—41 15 Expected
Drunk Driving 9 -2 T 3-7 3  Expected
Drunkenness 0 ) C 0—-0 o Expected
Family Offenses 33 -3 T 1338 32 Expected
Liquor Laws C 0-6 o Expected
Runaway 0 o] C 0—0 o Expected
Trespassing 24 3 T 18—41 25  Expected
Violent Total T
Property Total T
Total Crimes T 638-1310

Malden was the only city to show an increase in a couple classic categories of property crime.

Burglary

Malden’s burglary “High” is a result of the same mathematics as previously reported for the entire region. We will
watch for a reversal of the previous downward trend, but for now it is important to note that the crime is well below
average for the city.

Auto theft

There was a group of three at the Hertz franchise on a single day in October, but most of the increase is at residential
driveways overnight. There was a particular concentration in July and August.

32



Selected calls for service in Malden

Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result
Avg Type Window Dec 2019

Disabled Vehicle 81 -1 C 65-97 70  Expected
Domestic Dispute 62 1 C 44—80 69 Expected
General Service 410 45 T 469-696 385 Low
Gunshots 9 -1 C 4—16 7  Expected
Liquor 170 -31 T 49-106 26 Low
Lost Property 9 0 C 414 5  Expected
Medical 4284 564 T 4265-6614 5510 Expected
Psychological 62 o) C 46-78 58  Expected
Suspicious Activity 324 -5 C 261387 253 Low
Traffic Collision 1009 50 T 10441377 1169  Expected
Traffic Complaint 266 10 C 167365 224  Expected
Vagrancy 6 -1 C 1-12 9 Expected

All selected call-for-service categories were within expected ranges in the latter half of 2019.

Collisions in Malden

Category Pre-Enc  Slope  Window Pred. Jul20o19- Result
Type Window Dec 2019

Vehicle in Traffic 329 16 T 343—445 388 Expected
Parked Vehicle 2 0 C 0—4 2 Expected
Pedestrian 28 2 T 26-48 30 Expected
Bicyclist 3 o C 1-§ o Low
Animal 0 ) ) 0—0 o Expected
Fixed Object 0 ) C 0-0 o Expected
Curb/Barrier/fEmbankment 0 ) C 0—0 o Expected
Rollover/Jackknife 0 ) C 0-0 o Expected
Other/Unknown 38 2 C 22-54 57 High
Total 400 20 T 4,06-555 477 Expected

Like most of the communities, Malden showed no significant increase in traffic collisions in the second half of 2019.



8-month analysis: Melrose

Wakefield

Maldan

Population (est. 2019): 28,120
Area: 4.8 square miles
Police officers: 48

City center distance to Encore:
4.16 miles

On the outskirts of our study, Melrose is smaller and more suburban than most of the other communities analyzed
here. It lacks highways and other major travel routes to Encore; it has no hotels; and it lacks most of the other
attractions and amenities that a visitor to the area would seek out. Hence, it is unlikely to experience much impact
from Encore unless this region experiences the type of wide-ranging crime patterns that have been rare in the other

casino communities.

One potential exception is in activity at Melrose-
Wakefield Hospital, a possible destination for
medical emergencies at Encore Boston Harbor.
This facility did see an increase in crimes during
this period, from an average of 10 to a 2020 total
of 18. It's not a lot of cases, but it still may be
indicative of an Encore-related increase. The
2020 figures included five simple assaults, two
auto thefts, three incidents of fraud, and two drug
incidents. Melrose will have to report on the
possibility of any casino relationship among the
responsible parties.

Crimes in Melrose

Incidents at Melrose-Wakefield Hospital, July-February

18

16
14
12
w I | |
8
&
2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result
Type Window Feb 2020

Murder 0 ) C 0-0 o Expected

Sexual Assault 2 o) C 1-3 o) Low

Kidnapping 1 ) C 0-1 1 Expected




Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019-

Avg Type Window Feb 2020

Robbery 4 -1 T 14 5 High

Aggravated Assault 12 1 C 7-17 16  Expected
Simple Assault 43 -3 T 2347 47  Expected
Threats 20 -3 T 9-13 11 Expected
Arson 1 ) C 0-3 o Expected
Burglary 27 -7 T 8-19 23 High

Theft from Persons 0 0 C 0-1 1 Expected
Purse-Snatching 1 ) T 0-3 o Expected
Shoplifting 6 -1 T 2-8 0 Low

Theft from Building 25 -4 T 7-23 11 Expected
Theft from Machine 0 0 C 0-0 o Expected
Theft from Vehicle 37 -4 C 10-66 32  Expected
Theft of MV Parts 1 ) C 0—2 o Expected
Other Theft 62 -2 C 49-75 55  Expected
Auto Theft 14 o C 7-23 10 Expected
Forgery 3 -1 C 1-6 3  Expected
Fraud 16 ) C 10—22 18  Expected
Credit Card Fraud 2 ) C 0—4 3  Expected
Identity Theft 4 o) C 3-5 5  Expected
Employee Theft 1 -1 T 0-2 o Expected
Stolen Property 3 ) C 0-7 2 Expected
Vandalism 75 -4 T 50-76 54  Expected
Drugs 6 -1 T 2—9 10 High

Drug Equipment 0 0 C 0—-0 2 High

Statutory Rape 1 o] C 0—2 1 Expected
Gambling 0 ) C 0-0 o Expected
Pornography o) 0 C 0-1 o Expected
Prostitution 0 0 C 0-0 o Expected
Weapons 1 o} C 03 3  Expected
Bad Checks 2 0 C 0—4 2 Expected
Disorderly 6 -1 T 2—9 8 Expected
Drunk Driving 5 -1 C 2-8 4  Expected
Drunkenness 7 -1 C 3-11 6  Expected
Family Offenses 0 0 C 0-0 o Expected
Liquor Laws 2 o] C 0-6 1 Expected
Runaway 0 o] C 0—0 o Expected
Trespassing 4 T 2 Expected
Violent Total T Expected
Property Total T Expected
Total Crimes T Expected

35



Robbery

Melrose was one of several Middlesex County agencies to see a series of armed robberies in the fall of 2019
committed by Ramfis Casado, 34, of Lynn, known as the “Red-Handed Bandit.” He is responsible for two
convenience store robberies on West Wyoming Avenue on 23 November 2019 and 5 December 2019, plus other
robberies in Everett, Malden, Waltham, and Woburn. To our knowledge, Casado had no casino or gambling-based
motivations. A third convenience store robbery in February 2020 resulted in the arrests of two men from
Cambridge.

Burglary

The city had an unusually high number of burglaries during this period, at least in comparison to its past trend. Most
are at residences, scattered about town, with no commonalities that | can see. There is one potential pattern among
them: two incidents at gas stations, about a mile apart, in January and February 2020. They were both on Monday
nights, reported on Tuesday morning. Neither resulted in in arrest. In one incident, the burglar went for a safe.

Drugs and Drug Equipment

Melrose had slightly-higher-than-expected figures for both crimes during this period, with multiple arrests involving
individuals from all over Massachusetts, including 5 arrests for possession of heroin. Of particular interest are two
incidents at Melrose Wakefield Hospital involving offenders from Peabody and Rockland. As the hospital is one
possible destination facility from Encore, we await Melrose’s report on whether any of the offenders had an Encore
connection.

Selected calls for service in Melrose

Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result
Avg Type Window Feb 2020

Abandoned Vehicle 4 o C 1-7 1 Expected
Disabled Vehicle 35 2 C 25—45 38  Expected
Domestic Dispute 55 -5 T 27-56 34 Expected
General Service 704 20 T 664906 743 Expected
Gunshots 1 0 C 0—2 o Expected
Liquor 0 0 C 0-1 o Expected
Lost Property 59 9 T 61-109 93 Expected
Medical 1001 43 T 1041-1303 1237 Expected
Overdose 13 o C 7-19 11 Expected
Recovered Vehicle 2 o C 1-3 o Low
Suspicious Activity 330 8 C 271389 388  Expected
Traffic Collision 400 -7 C 357—443 371 Expected
Traffic Complaint 461 95 T 599—1048 828  Expected

Melrose’s calls for service were also normal-to-low for the period. An increase in “suspicious activity” calls in
November 2019 did not persist into the new year, and the category remained just within its expected range for the
eight-month period as a whole.

Collisions in Melrose

Category Pre-Enc  Slope  Window Pred. Jul2019- Result
Type Window Feb 2020

Vehicle in Traffic 125 3 T 123-151 120 Low

Parked Vehicle 53 -2 C 42-64 57  Expected

Pedestrian 7 o) C 4—10 3 Low




Category Pre-Enc  Slope  Window Pred. Jul2019- Result

Avg Type Window Feb 2020
Bicyclist ) C 0—4 1 Expected
Animal ) C 0-0 o Expected
Fixed Object 15 1 C 7-23 24 High
Curb/Barrier/fEmbankment 6 0 C 39 2 Low
Rollover/Jackknife ) C 0—2 o Expected
Other/Unknown 8 o C 5—11 4 Low
Total 218 2 C 192-244 211 Expected

Total crashes were exactly average in Melrose. Some of the categories had lower-than-predicted figures, made up
slightly by an increase in “fixed object” crashes. Other than three of these crashes in the 300-block of Main Street
in December, there are no commonalities among them.

37



8-month analysis: Revere

=

D.1865 §
Population (est. 2019): 53,654
Area: 10.0 square miles

Police officers: 106

City center distance to Encore:
3.52 miles

P =y

A reasonably busy north shore community, Revere shares a small part of its western border with Everett. It is far
enough from Encore not to be in the facility’s immediate area of influence, and so far | don’t see any changes
attributable to Encore. We will continue to monitor travel routes, hotels, restaurants, and shopping centers. The
agency employs a full-time crime analyst, which always makes this process easier.

Crimes in Revere

Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result
Avg Type Window Feb 2020

Murder 1 0 C 0—2 2 Expected
Sexual Assault 27 o) C 21-33 12 Low
Kidnapping 4 -1 T 1-5 2 Expected
Robbery 40 -4 T 20-35 29  Expected
Aggravated Assault 129 -1 C 116-142 76 Low
Simple Assault 279 -8 C 239-319 171 Low
Threats 149 -7 T 94—169 115  Expected
Arson 2 -1 T 0-3 o Expected
Burglary 109 -14 T 50—95 45 Low
Theft from Persons 9 o) C 5-13 8 Expected
Purse-Snatching 8 -1 T 49 4  Expected
Shoplifting 137 10 T 109-243 106 Low
Theft from Building 68 -5 T 34-81 53  Expected
Theft from Machine 0 C 0-0 o Expected
Theft from Vehicle 52 C 30-74 65 Expected

w
(0]



Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result

Avg Type Window Feb 2020

Theft of MV Parts 4 1 C 0-8 2 Expected
Other Theft 270 -21 T 136—280 119 Low
Auto Theft 93 -11 T 49-75 41 Low
Forgery 18 -1 C 7-29 23  Expected
Fraud 65 -1 C 50-80 87 High
Credit Card Fraud 21 -4 T 2-21 8 Expected
Identity Theft 31 -1 T 22-33 20 Low
Employee Theft 4 -1 T 2—4 2 Expected
Stolen Property 22 ) C 13-31 14  Expected
Vandalism 266 -23 T 138-241 155  Expected
Drugs 60 -7 T 27-54 44  Expected
Drug Equipment 0 ) T 0-1 1 Expected
Statutory Rape 5 0 C 1-9 7  Expected
Gambling 1 ) C 0-2 2 Expected
Pornography 2 0 C 0—4 4  Expected
Prostitution 3 o] C 1-5 2 Expected
Weapons 17 -1 C 11-23 13  Expected
Bad Checks 11 -1 C 4—18 3 Low
Disorderly 58 -2 C 4274 42 Expected
Drunk Driving 43 4 C 23-63 36  Expected
Drunkenness 46 -7 T 8-51 18  Expected
Family Offenses 1 C 0-3 2 Expected
Liquor Laws 11 T 10-21 19 Expected
Runaway 0 C 0—0 o Expected
Trespassing 24 o] C 13-35 11 Low
Violent Total T 491-705

Property Total T 727-1134 752 Expected
Total Crimes T 12912064 1364 Expected

Revere did very well during this period, ending the eight months with violent crime very low, and property crime at
the lower end of the expected range. The only crime to see a significant increase was fraud. Target reported
numerous incidents of price tampering and various con games were reported at area residences, suggesting
telephone or online fraud.

Selected calls for service in Revere

Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result
Avg Type Window Feb 2020

Abandoned Vehicle 92 8 T 88-158 58 Low
Disabled Vehicle 240 12 C 162—318 263  Expected
Domestic Dispute 402 49 T 467-725 547 Expected
General Service 840 14 C 671-1009 650 Low
Gunshots 21 7 T 21-69 49  Expected
Liquor 10 -1 C 0-22 1 Expected

39



Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result

Avg Type Window Feb 2020
Lost Property 77 8 T 87—123 99 Expected
Medical 403 143 T 618-1173 789  Expected
Overdose 77 19 T 68-168 3 Low
Psychological 6 0 C 3-9 1 Low
Recovered Vehicle 50 -11 T 20-32 40 High
Suspicious Activity 823 56 T 829-1263 775 Low
Traffic Collision 1159 94 T 1401-1671 1393 Low
Traffic Complaint 717 95 T 931-1259 883 Low

Revere showed some extremely low call-for-service categories during this period. The major exception was in the
category of recovered stolen vehicles, which had been trending downward, hitting an all-time low of 26 in 2019.
This is the kind of incident that we specifically wanted to watch for, as any large facility can cause visitors to bring
stolen cars to the area and drop them off. However, we see no corroborative increases in this category from other
communities, and geographically the recoveries don’t make much sense if the drivers were going to hop a bus or
train to Encore (see map). An analysis from the Revere Police as to the origins of these cars would be interesting.

Melrose /\ \_:?‘
Saligus i

Malden

Evereft / {

\J\fﬂnm \fw

———

Figure 9: Recovered stolen cars in the 8 months after Encore oprernre'd. Only Revere's totals are above expected volume.

Collisions in Revere

Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result
Avg Type Window Feb 2020

Vehicle in Traffic 269 11 C 217-321 227 Expected

Parked Vehicle 56 4 T 59-88 74 Expected

Pedestrian 25 -1 C 19-31 22 Expected

Bicyclist 6 o C 3—9 3 Expected




Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019-

Avg Type Window Feb 2020
Animal ) o) C 0-1 o Expected
Fixed Object 34 1 C 2444 43  Expected
Curb/Barrier/fEmbankment 25 3 T 26—45 13 Low
Rollover/Jackknife 2 o C 0-5 4  Expected
Other/Unknown 13 -1 C 9-17 9 Expected
Total 430 18 T 403-581 395 Low

Collisions in Revere had increased steadily since 2015 but they reversed course in 2019—2020, ending not only below
the trendline for the period but also below the 8-month average. If Encore Boston Harbor occasioned an increase
in traffic in the region, it is not being reflected in collisions on Revere roads.

41



8-month analysis: Saugus

Population (est. 2019): 28,378
Area: 11.8 square miles
Police officers: 59

City center distance to Encore:
5.72 miles

Saugus is a small residential city bisected by a massive commercial corridor. It is only shortly before its borders that
Interestate g5 travelers headed to Boston (including Encore) exit the highway onto Route 1. The route this traffic
takes through Saugus is some of the mostly densely-packed commercial territory in the state, including a major
shopping mall (Square One), a major shopping center, and dozens of department stores, restaurants, gas stations,
and other retail and service outlets. These establishments do not continue much beyond the city’s southern border;
in Malden, Route 1 becomes a controlled-access freeway. Thus, Saugus is poised to see an increase in activity from
travelers to and from Encore from northern points.

Crimes in Saugus

Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result
Avg Type Window Feb 2020

Murder 0 ) C 0-0 1 High
Sexual Assault 6 -1 C 3-9 13 High
Kidnapping 1 ) C 0-2 o Expected
Robbery 10 C 5-16 6 Expected
Aggravated Assault 31 2 T 29-47 26 Low
Simple Assault 66 -1 C 55—77 55  Expected
Threats 23 C 17-29 31 High
Arson 1 o] T 0-1 1 Expected
Burglary 41 -5 T 18-24 16 Low
Theft from Persons 2 0 C 0—4 o Expected
Purse-Snatching 2 C 1-3 1 Expected
Shoplifting 98 -12 T 38-108 67 Expected
Theft from Building 18 -2 T 10-19 13  Expected
Theft from Vehicle 57 -7 T 26—45 37 Expected

N
N



Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result

Avg Type Window Feb 2020
Theft of MV Parts 1 0 T 14 1 Expected
Other Theft 101 -22 T 58-182 78  Expected
Auto Theft 27 -1 C 21-33 23  Expected
Forgery 15 -1 C 6-24 15 Expected
Fraud 38 -2 C 28-48 56 High
Credit Card Fraud 25 -2 T 1422 5 Low
Identity Theft 29 C 2038 26  Expected
Employee Theft 3 T 1-3 0 Low
Stolen Property 10 -2 C 7-13 11 Expeced
Vandalism 140 -11 T 82-122 82 Expectedd
Drugs 24 -3 T 11-26 22 Expected
Drug Equipment 0 ) C 0-0 o Expected
Statutory Rape 2 0 C 0—4 1 Expected
Gambling 0 ) T 0-1 o Expected
Pornography 1 0 T 0—2 o Expected
Prostitution 1 0 C 0—2 o Expected
Weapons 8 o] C 4—12 6 Expected
Bad Checks 6 -2 T 03 o Expected
Disorderly 8 -2 T 1-9 8 Expected
Drunk Driving 18 2 T 15—-37 23  Expected
Drunkenness 12 -1 C 6-18 4 Low
Family Offenses 0 ) T 0-0 o Expected
Liquor Laws 5 C 2—8 1 Low
Runaway 1 o] C 0—4 o Expected
Trespassing 7 -1 C 4—10 2 Low
Violent Total C Expected
Property Total T Expected
Total Crimes T

Murder

Saugus had a single homicide during this period, unusual for the agency, but it involved two brothers-in-law with a
long history of feuds. One shot the other while he was working at a gas station and then shot himself in his car.
There is no Encore relationship.

Sexual Assault

An unusually high number, but mostly at local residences and schools, which would suggest a non-Encore cause.
Saugus Police may want to check iif their records management system is properly coding some charges, as based
on the charges, some of the incidents may be indecent exposure instead of sexual assault.

Threats

Saugus is the only agency to see an increase in this category. The increase was mostly at residences involving local
victims and suspects.

43



Fraud

The increase includes a mix of confidence scams and miscoded credit card fraud at a variety of businesses,
particulalry on Route 1. Most of the suspects have been from Saugus itself , but a narrative review of the incidents
along Broadway (Route 1), particularly at gas stations, is warranted to look for any potential connection.

Selected calls for service in Saugus

Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result
Avg Type Window Feb 2020

Abandoned Vehicle 1 0 C 0-1 o Expected
Disabled Vehicle 17 o C 7—27 18  Expected
Drugs 0 0 C 0-1 o Expected
General Service 14 o) C 1018 10 Expected
Gunshots 1 o C 0-3 3  Expected
Liquor 3 0 C 1-5 1 Expected
Lost Property 2 0 C 1-3 2 Expected
Medical 23 o C 19-27 19 Expected
Overdose 7 o C 3-11 9 Expected
Psychological 14 o C 9-19 17  Expected
Recovered Vehicle 2 o) C 0—4 1 Expected
Suspicious Activity 57 0 C 42—72 57 Expected
Traffic Collision 83 2 T 53-91 84  Expected
Traffic Complaint 17 o C 11-23 4 Low

All call categories in Saugus were low or expected for this period.

Collisions in Saugus

Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result
Avg Type Window Feb 2020

Vehicle in Traffic 191 12 T 204-270 238 Expected
Parked Vehicle 35 2 T 3348 41 Expected
Pedestrian 7 -1 C 4—10 18 High
Bicyclist 2 0 C 1-3 4 High
Animal 1 0 C 0—2 1 Expected
Fixed Object 37 o C 27—47 40  Expected
Curb/Barrier/Embankment 17 1 C 11-23 15 Expected
Rollover/Jackknife 2 0 C 1-3 1 Expected
Other/Unknown 13 o C 5—21 4 Low
Total 305 13 T 301414 362 Expected

Saugus showed increases in the only two collision categories that we wouldn’t expect to be related to Encore--
pedestrian and bicyclist. Although a small number are in Route 1 parking lots, most are in the residential area of
east Saugus, centered on Central Street.

44



8-month analysis: Somerville

Population (est. 2019): 81,668
Area: 4.2 square miles
Police officers: 127

City center distance to Encore:
e 1.45 miles

The most densely populated city in New England, Somerville sits across the Mystic River from Everett. Once known
as Cambridge’s working-class sibling, Somerville has experienced significant growth and revitalization in the 21st
century, greatly reducing its historic crime rate. A full-time crime analyst is contributing her expertise to this project.

Assembly Square has not yet been connected to Encore by a footbridge, so we saw no related increase in that area.
The rest of the city had some categorical changes, but none in a way clearly linked to Encore.

Crimes in Somerville

Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result
Avg Type Window Feb 2020

Murder 0 0 C 0-1 o Expected
Sexual Assault 30 o C 23-37 35 Expected
Kidnapping 4 -1 C 1-7 5  Expected
Robbery 34 -3 T 16-39 22 Expected
Aggravated Assault 82 o) C 65-99 88  Expected
Simple Assault 146 C 120-172 155  Expected
Threats 26 -2 C 10—45 19 Expected
Arson 5 -1 C 1-13 1 Expected
Burglary 173 -24 T 94—148 76 Low
Theft from Persons 0 0 C 0-0 o Expected
Purse-Snatching 0 ) C 0-0 o Expected
Shoplifting 0 ) C 0—-0 o Expected
Theft from Building YA 3 C 28-60 49  Expected
Theft from Machine 0 0 C 0-0 o Expected
Theft from Vehicle 192 -33 T 95-169 125  Expected

N
«



Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result

Avg Type Window Feb 2020

Theft of MV Parts 1 0 C 0-1 o Expected
Other Theft 367 -25 T 213-410 329 Expected
Auto Theft 77 C 68-86 62 Low
Forgery 21 C 12-30 26  Expected
Fraud 82 C 60-104 92  Expected
Credit Card Fraud 28 5 T 21-G4 37 Expected
Identity Theft 77 10 C 27-127 64  Expected
Employee Theft 0 ) C 0-1 1 Expected
Stolen Property 0 ) C 0—-0 o Expected
Vandalism 196 -15 T 115184 144  Expected
Drugs 48 o} C 38-58 36 Low
Drug Equipment 0 ) C 0-0 o Expected
Statutory Rape 2 -1 T 03 5 High
Gambling 0 ) C 0-0 o Expected
Pornography 2 ) C 0—4 7 High
Prostitution 3 o] C 1-5 o} Low
Weapons 25 1 C 19-31 30 Expected
Bad Checks 0 ) C 0—-0 o Expected
Disorderly 54 -5 T 3341 31 Low
Drunk Driving 24 C 17-31 18  Expected
Drunkenness 0 C 0-0 o Expected
Family Offenses 31 -4 T 18-25 21 Expected
Liquor Laws 12 -1 C 717 6 Low
Runaway 0 C 0—0 o Expected
Trespassing 15 2 T 15-28 12 Low
Violent Total C 235400 Expected
Property Total T 834-1240 Expected
Total Crimes T 12341792

Somerville’s overall crime totals were within predicted ranges. Its property and total crime figures continued the
expected downward trend. Only a couple of crimes were above normal.

Statutory Rape

Somerville took a high number of these reports in September and October of 2019. They did not occur in location
types (like hotels) that would appeal to out-of-town visitors, and all suspects listed are local except one. Because
we collect limited data on sexual offenses, Somerville Police will have to report if any of the suspects has a casino
connection.

Pornography

Half a dozen incidents of “obscene material” were recorded at residences in Somerville in the latter half of 2019,
but none of the suspects are listed as coming from Somerville. As with other sexual offenses, the data collected
does not provide enough to determine the cause of the trend without police input. {SPD: 20000879, 19065010,

19059325, 19059196, 19056934, 19043371, 19042051.]

46



Selected calls for service in Somerville

Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result
Avg Type Window Feb 2020

Abandoned Vehicle 16 -1 C 9-23 18  Expected
Disabled Vehicle 137 9 T 150194 163  Expected
Domestic Dispute 391 -22 T 249—367 322  Expected
Drugs 27 -3 T 12-34 32  Expected
General Service 1342 4 C 1141-1543 1224  Expected
Gunshots 28 1 C 1838 35 Expected
Liquor 255 -31 T 105-236 220 Expected
Lost Property 218 -12 T 118-238 159 Expected
Medical Aid 3384 -70 T 2915-3572 3268  Expected
Overdose 71 -6 C 48-94 53 Expected
Psychological 230 23 T 275-370 301 Expected
Recovered Vehicle 70 -4 T 4472 43 Low
Suspicious Activity 632 -16 C 501—763 548 Expected
Traffic Collision 1766 -69 C 1413-2119 1526  Expected
Traffic Complaint 1477 -19 C 1002-1952 1965 High

Somerville's call-for-service types almost all fell within expected ranges during the latter half of 2019, with one
exception. The wide range in the traffic complaint category is due to significantly increased usage of the
“TRESPTOW" code starting in 2016. If that code is removed, complaints fall within the normal range.

Collisions in Somerville
Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result

Avg Type Window  Feb 2020
Total 379 -2 C 324—434 349 Expected

Somerville did notimplement electronic crash reporting using the agency’s records management system until 2018.
Data provided for the period prior to 2018 lacks the “category” field. Total collisions, however, were average to low
for the city in the six months post-Encore.

47



State police data

State Police patrol state highways (principally I-90, I-93, and U.S. Route 1) in the Boston area, plus state properties
and parks. They assist local police in response to some crime issues, and the State Police Gaming Enforcement Unit
has taken over primary enforcement responsibilities at Encore Boston Harbor.

The Massachusetts State Police operate a records system with different conventions and reporting rules than the
local agencies, so the categories and totals are not directly compatible. In some cases, where both agencies
responded to an incident, the two systems may duplicate each other.

Naturally, the State Police are poised to see an increase in traffic on state roads that feed Encore Boston Harbor as
well as at the casino itself. This will primarily be reflected in traffic-related calls for service and crimes, including
collisions, drug possession, and drunk driving. The statistics below show several increases in crashes and other
activity, although six months is too soon to reach any significant conclusions.

The data below comes from a combination of multiple State Police stations, including A-5 (Revere), A-4 (Medford),

H-5 (Brighton), H-4 (downtown Boston), A-6 (Danvers), a section of Troop E eliminated and re-allocated in 2018,
and various mobile statewide units such as headquarters units, canine units, and investigators.

48



Selected activity

Activity Pre-Enc  Slope Window Jul 2019- Result
Type Feb 2020

911 Hangup or Error 2 0 C 0—4 18 High
Abandoned Vehicle 10 o C 7-13 24 High
Abduction 1 0 C 0-3 o Expected
Administrative 2016 729 T 1971-6624 5242  Expected
Alarm 11 o C 5-17 13  Expected
All Other 284 13 C 161407 209 Expected
Animal Complaint 39 3 C 22-56 67 High
Arson 2 0 C 0—4 o Expected
Assault 34 o C 2741 43 High
Assist Other Agency 284 18 T 279-436 333 Expected
Bomb Threat 3 -1 T 0—2 2 Expected
Building Check 4106 -152 C 2926-5286 2757 Low
Burglary 11 -2 T 4-10 9 Expected
Crime Enforcement 28 8 T 20-97 10 Low
Death 178 -1 C 151-205 201 Expected
Disabled Vehicle 1109 -40 C 898-1320 1162  Expected
Disorderly 153 -3 C 138-168 159 Expected
Domestic Dispute 11 0 C 6-16 14 Expected
Drugs 21 1 C 13-29 19 Expected
Field Interview 17 2 T 19-32 38 High
Fire 74 -3 T 41-83 53 Expected
Found Property 2 0 C 0-5 4  Expected
General Service 128 26 T 122-315 234  Expected
Gunshots 12 1 C 5—19 2 Low
Investigation 138 -5 C 111-165 213 High
Liquor 11 0 C 6-16 6 Expected
Lost Property 24 2 C 15-33 35 High
Medical 203 1 C 176—230 206  Expected
Missing Person 26 1 C 13-39 32  Expected
Municipal or Utility 111 -9 C 61-159 127  Expected
Other Theft 16 A T 3-13 12 Expected
Prisoner Transport 168 38 T 161468 374  Expected
Psychological 10 o) C 3-17 14  Expected
Recovered Vehicle 37 -5 T 20-39 26  Expected
R.O. Violation 2 o) C 0—4 1 Expected
Road Conditions 233 2 C 179-287 296 High
Robbery 10 0 C 6-14 8 Expected
Suspicious Activity 72 1 C 57-87 104 High
Threats/Harassment 8 1 T 7-13 12 Expected
Traffic Collision 2517 72 T 2681-2927 2699  Expected
Traffic Complaint 479 14 C 335-623 631 High

49




Activity

Slope

Window

Pred.
Window

Jul 2019-
Feb 2020

Type

Traffic Enforcement 175 2 C 108-242 194  Expected
Traffic Offenses 39 -2 T 2341 39 Expected
Trespassing 29 6 T 28-69 35 Expected
Vandalism 17 -2 T 918 15 Expected
Vehicle Stop 1929 -300 T 938-1189 1496 High
Warrant Service 51 -5 T 24-58 63 High
Weapons 3 -1 C 0—7 2 Expected
Well-Being Check 36 4 T 28-72 79 High
Youth Disorder 1 0 C 0—2 2 Expected

The State Police had more increases in activity in the area than any local agency. Some brief notes:

e Theincrease in suspicious activity calls came mostly from the Revere Beach area.

Crashes on state roadways

Of the 911 hangups, more than half were in Cambridge, primarily involving Memorial Drive businesses.
Medford dominated the increase in abandoned vehicles, particularly on Route g3.
The lost property complaints are almost all at State Police facilities in Medford and Revere.
The animal complaint increase mostly involved “animal in road” in Revere and Medford.
Assaults were particularly high in July 2019, but with no commonalities by location or time.
Most of the reports of lost property came from Medford.

Road Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result
Avg Type Window Feb 2020
Route 16 514 19 T 51 419 Expected
I-93 254 6 C 220—288 250 Expected
Route 28 254 0 C 233-275 212 Low
Route 1 237 8 T 215-324 248 Expected
Memorial Drive 142 -4 T 101-152 156 High
Route 1A 68 1 C 59-77 92 High
Lynnway 52 8 T 63-89 63 Expected
Mystic Avenue 66 5 T 63-103 81 Expected
Route 38 39 3 T 36-66 48 Expected
Alewife Brook Pkwy 88 ) C 71-105 63 Low
Revere Beach Blvd 35 1 T 34—47 45 Expected
McGrath Hwy 32 1 C 21-43 63 High
Route 145 29 3 T 28-51 41 Expected
Fresh Pond Pkwy 69 -2 C 58-80 50 Low
Msgr. O'Brien Hwy L 0 C 36-52 42 Expected
Fellsway 111 7 T 114-165 158 Expected
Ocean Avenue 27 2 C 17-37 32 Expected
Route 2 45 -4 T 19-58 32 Expected
Lynn Fells Pkwy 27 3 T 2249 29 Expected
Roosevelt Circle 60 ) C 4575 86 High
All Others 322 15 T 339-422 389 Expected
Total 2517 72 T 2681-2928 2709 Expected

50




Unlike the local communities, State Police saw several increases in collisions along patrolled roadways, although
not with any particular consistency in terms of proximity to the casino. Overall totals were well within the expected
range.

51



Spatial analysis

In interests of space, the statistics below do not include categories with fewer than 5 crimes on average unless the
category was notably high in the associated region in the period ending February 202o0.

Everett

The areas immediately adjacent to Encore Boston Harbor include:

1. To the west, the Gateway Center Shopping Plaza. This is the closest set of retail stores and non-casino
restaurants. Although it is immediately adjacent to Encore, there is no “official” way to walk from one to the other.
People are crafty, however, and even if they don’t find a way to walk, it is only a short drive back up to 16.

g P

=1 Kearins
= Playground
= edfor ayg
i}
A Everett Ca 1 o
¥ L Everett Veterans q
Sacramone = Memorial Stadium
)
= Playground % £ p
18 = F Fi Sumner G
50y © itlier Schoo

o_-.'\ T
Towir
lellington (@
SIFOCK & L T
vfarms of
=) Y achuse
Yell-0-Gl
ow Price Distributio
igpicore-Boston Harbor f Marks Wholesale
m 5t Q.J "
= James E Kilduff Q
= Craft Brew
embly (@
; Preferred
Freezer Service

i Go ale
Figure 11: Three geographies around Encore Boston Harbor.

52



2. To the east, Broadway and a small mixed residential/commercial area extending one block to the east. There’'s a
Dunkin’ Donuts, a Mike’s Roast Beef, a McDonald'’s, and some vehicle-related service businesses in the area. People
driving to the casino pass through this area, and it certainly must have seen more traffic over the last six months.

3. To the north, a residential neighborhood extending from Route 16 with a couple of schools, a charge, a
playground, and some local businesses. There’s a Best Buy in the southwest corner of the area.

Activity in the west polygon (Gateway Shopping Plaza)

Road Pre-Enc Slope Window Pred. Jul 2019- Result
Avg Type Window Feb 2020

Thefts from Vehicles 2 0 C 0—4 2 Expected
Shoplifting 34 0 C 22—46 34  Expected
Vandalism 2 o C 0-5 3 Expected
Drug/Liquor Crimes 1 0 C 0—2 o  Expected
Violent Crime 3 0 C 1-5 4 Expected
Property Crime 52 1 C 38-66 51 Expected
Total Crime 57 2 C 43-71 59 Expected
Suspicious Activity 13 -1 T 5—16 10 Expected
Traffic Complaints 2 o C 04 4 Expected
Total Calls for Service 383 -24 T 230—404 354  Expected
Traffic Collisions 4 o C 1-7 4 Expected

Literally nothing has changed for the Gateway Plaza area. If any of Encore’s customers have made their way over
to the shopping center, it isn't being reflected in the statistics for crime and calls for service.

Activity in the east polygon (Broadway)

Road Pre-Enc Slope Window Pred. Jul 2019- Result
Avg Type Window Feb 2020

Sexual Assault 1 0 C 0—-1 2 High
Aggravated Assault 1 0 C 0—2 4 High
Simple Assault 3 0 C 0-6 3 Expected
Burglary 5 -1 T 0-5 o  Expected
Thefts from Vehicles 3 0 C 1-5 3 Expected
Other Theft 9 1 C 414 4 Expected
Auto Theft 4 0 C 3-5 2 Low
Vandalism 8 -1 T 2-10 4  Expected
Drug/Liquor Crimes 10 1 C 5—16 17 High
Violent Crime 8 0 C 5—11 11 Expected
Property Crime 34 -2 C 20—48 18 Low
Total Crime 52 -1 C 37-67 40 Expected
Suspicious Activity 24 -2 T 1424 27 High
Traffic Complaints 31 3 T 22-53 39 Expected
Total Calls for Service 690 o C 602-778 985 High
Traffic Collisions 21 o) C 12-30 16  Expected

The neighborhood across the street from the casino shows some effects from the extra people in the area. The
sexual assaults were both at residences and involved offenders from Everett, so those are unlikely to be related. But
the four aggravated assaults occurred on the streets around the casino. While none of them were initially flagged
by the Everett Police as casino-related, we await some more information from the reports. In the latter half of 2019,
Everett Police made a high number of arrests for drunk driving on Broadway, although the casino did not come up

53



in the offenders’ accounts of where they had their last drinks. Residents reported more suspicious persons hanging
around the neighborhood.

Total calls for service are high in the area, but these reflect police activity more than actual calls from the residents.
Everett has allocated more directed patrols and traffic enforcement in the region than any year in its history,

obviously doing their best to keep residents feeling safe amidst the new traffic.

Activity in the north polygon (neighborhood)

Road Pre-Enc Slope Window Pred. Jul 2019- Result
Avg Type Window Feb 2020

Thefts from Vehicles 4 o C 1-7 2 Expected
Other Thefts 7 0 C 5—9 10 High
Shoplifting 6 0 C 1-12 10  Expected
Auto Theft 2 0 C 13 5 High
Vandalism 8 -1 C 3-13 6 Expected
Drug/Liquor Crimes 3 1 T 4—6 1 Low
Violent Crime 7 -1 C 4—10 7  Expected
Property Crime 36 -3 T 17-39 47 High
Total Crime 50 -3 T 31-50 56 High
Suspicious Activity 24 0 C 16-32 20  Expected
Traffic Complaints 22 -1 C 9—36 39 High
Total Calls for Service 514 -15 C £44,0-588 583 Expected
Traffic Collisions 7 o C 4—10 12 High

The neighborhood north of the casino also saw some increases. A pattern of miscellaneous thefts is partly
responsible for the general increase in property crime and total crime, but there were also five auto thefts towards
the end of 2019, and most other crimes were at the high end of their usual range.

The northern neighborhood also saw slightly high values in traffic complaints (almost all parking-related), perhaps
reflecting limited space at the casino garage. (The eastern neighborhood had high values for this during the first six
months but dropped in the final two.) Finally, it beat its usual collision total by several incidents, a complete mix of
causes, types, times, days, and streets.

= Hendersan St
Sartili Hw Norman St [ ] [ ]
£
g ¢
Z 2
9 @
. Dakes 5t
Tistanst 'y @
. .
&
® Hewtham St
B
Q Afred St @
= @ g
» £ Cretive Gir Carterst
23 ‘ Eimwaor
Everett
%
Hurtey g §| ® [}
(] Wallington Ava ]
West 5t .
® g ®
;  f &
= =
g H E ® Z
= F = @
2 H LK z i
. o E
@ ® |

Bezam Ln

~ imam emen PRWY

Figure 12: Parking complaints in the neighborhood north of Encore, July 2019-February 2020.

54



Multi-agency

Three other areas are worthy of attention for this report, all involving local and regional travel routes to Encore
Boston Harbor or otherwise likely to be influenced by the facility:

1. The Route 16 Corridor between Route 93 and Route 1. Because we did not gain Medford’s cooperation for this
report, our analysis must be confined to Chelsea and Everett.

2. The Route 1 Corridor running from the northern border of Saugus through Malden and Revere before reaching
Route 16 (Revere Beach Parkway). Saugus in particular has numerous businesses along this stretch of road,
including the Square One Mall. Almost all traffic from Maine and coastal New Hampshire would pass through this
area on the way to Encore.

3. The Main Street Corridor running from Melrose to Everett passing through Malden. Unfortunately, we did not
have Malden’s data for this report and had to confine the analysis to Melrose and Everett statistics.

4. Assembly Square in Somerville. The footbridge that was supposed to connect this “smart growth” area to Encore
has not yet materialized, and its future is up in the air, but Assembly Square still has the densest concentration of

shopping, restaurants, and hotels in the immediate area.

Incidents in the short distance of surface road between Route 93 and the Everett border in Charlestown are analyzed
under that city’s section.

Route 16 Corridor

Category Pre-Enc  Slope  Window Pred. Jul2019- Result
Avg Type Window Feb 2020

Sexual Assault 4 0 C 2—7 4  Expected
Robbery 10 -2 T 0-14 6 Expected
Aggravated Assault 15 o C 11-19 19 Expected
Simple Assault 52 -1 C 43-61 50 Expected
Threats 29 -3 T 1035 27  Expected
Burglary 20 -2 T 6—26 18  Expected
Shoplifting 32 -1 C 17-47 7 Low
Theft from Building 25 -5 T 8-22 7 Low
Theft from Vehicle 29 -5 T 8-30 12 Expected
Theft of MV Parts 3 ) C 2—4 2 Expected
Other Theft 34 -3 T 18-28 27  Expected
Auto Theft 17 -2 T 10-17 21 High
Forgery 5 -1 C 2-8 4  Expected
Fraud 11 C 6—16 10 Expected
Credit Card Fraud 9 o) C 7-11 5 Low
Identity Theft 8 -3 T 2-13 4  Expected
Stolen Property 5 -1 T 2-6 2 Expected
Vandalism 58 -5 T 30-46 45  Expected
Drugs 12 -1 T 714 6 Low
Weapons 5 T 4—9 4  Expected
Bad Checks 5 C 2-8 4 Expected

55



Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result

Avg Type Window Feb 2020
Disorderly 7 -1 T 1-8 3  Expected
Drunk Driving 4 -1 T 1-5 6 High
Drunkenness 9 -1 T 3-10 11 High
Family Offenses 8 T 7-16 14  Expected
Trespassing 5 C 2-8 5  Expected
Violent Total T Expected
Property Total T Expected
Total Crimes T Expected
Abandoned Vehicle 42 1 C 26-58 32  Expected
Disabled Vehicle 43 2 C 31-55 45  Expected
General Service 127 -9 T 70—130 94  Expected
Medical 179 -4 C 153-205 175  Expected
Overdose 9 T 1017 9 Low
Psychological 23 C 16-30 28  Expected
Recovered Vehicle 7 -1 T 2-8 6 Expected
Suspicious Activity 113 -1 C 97-129 79 Low
Traffic Complaints 102 7 C 69-135 138 High
Total Calls 3527 67 C 3138-3916 3596  Expected
Total Collisions 80 -1 C 74—86 70 Low

There are some items of note here, including higher-than-expected totals in auto theft, drunk driving,
drunkenness, and traffic complaints. Such increases were not generally seen in the overall statistics for the host
agencies, or from other geographic areas analyzed. Some notes:

e Four of the auto thefts occurred at Pep Boys over a three month period between November 2019 and
February 2020. None are explicitly listed by the EPD as Encore-related.

e Theincrease in drunkenness incidents involves protective custodies in Chelsea, most on streets adjacent
to Route 16. The individuals involved have all been middle-aged men from Chelsea (one from Revere),
making an Encore connection unlikely.

e  Thedrunkdriving increase is analyzed in a later section.

e Theincrease in traffic complains is largely in Everett and almost all related to parking. They span all times
of day and days of the week. Unlike reports coming from the immediate area of the casino, the distances
involved here would be prohibitive to foot traffic to the casino. The cause of the increase is thus uncertain.

Route 1 Corridor

Category Pre-Enc  Slope  Window Pred. Jul2019- Result
Avg Type Window Feb 2020
Robbery 6 ) C 2-11 5  Expected
Aggravated Assault 11 ) C 6-17 14  Expected
Simple Assault 25 ) C 20-30 22  Expected
Threats 9 ) C 2-16 14  Expected
Burglary 12 -2 T 5—10 5  Expected

56



Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result

Avg Type Window Feb 2020
Shoplifting 95 -12 T 33-106 65 Expected
Theft from Building 11 -2 T 3-14 2 Low
Theft from Vehicle 23 -5 T 10-13 8 Low
Other Theft 111 -13 T 31-111 47  Expected
Auto Theft 12 -2 T 4-12 6 Expected
Forgery 10 o] C 3-17 12 Expected
Fraud 20 -1 T 11-22 20 Expected
Credit Card Fraud 11 ) C 6—16 1 Low
Identity Theft 6 0 C 5—7 10 High
Vandalism 45 -5 T 24-37 28  Expected
Drugs 11 -1 C 6-16 9 Expected
Disorderly 5 -1 T 23 3 Expected
Drunk Driving 5 T 4—10 10 Expected
Drunkenness 5 C 1-9 2 Expected
Trespassing 4 C 2—6 1 Low
Violent Total C Expected
Property Total T Expected
Total Crimes T 207-372 Expected
Abandoned Vehicle 5 0 C 3-7 3  Expected
Disabled Vehicle 51 2 C 37-65 47  Expected
General Service 58 0 C 51-65 37 Low
Medical 61 6 T 73—-96 73 Expected
Overdose 14 2 T 9-31 21 Expected
Psychological 23 1 C 15—31 19 Expected
Recovered Vehicle 7 0 C 3-11 8 Expected
Suspicious Activity 189 -3 C 171-207 146 Low
Traffic Complaints 34 1 C 26—42 22 Low
Total Calls 2275 9 C 21242426 2047 Low
Total Collisions 106 8 T 115-158 141 Expected

Saugus reported a lot of identity fraud at Route 1 businesses. Given the lack of similar reports in other areas, | would
regard these as non-casino related unless more information is forthcoming. Nothing else increased in the area, and
in fact total calls for service were low for the period.

Main Street Corridor

Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result
Avg Type Window Feb 2020

Robbery 5 o C 37 3  Expected
Aggravated Assault 7 ) C 2-12 9 Expected
Simple Assault 17 -2 T 9-18 20 High
Threats 9 -1 T 2-12 3  Expected
Burglary 11 -1 C 2-20 4  Expected
Shoplifting 4 ) C 1-7 1 Expected

57



Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result

Avg Type Window Feb 2020
Theft from Building 10 -1 C 5—17 3 Low
Theft from Vehicle 12 -1 6-18 7  Expected
Other Theft 28 1 1838 24  Expected
Auto Theft 6 o 3—-9 6 Expected
Fraud ) 48 13 High
Credit Card Fraud 2 o 04 7 High
Vandalism 25 o 21-29 19 Low
Drugs 4 ) 2-6 6 Expected
Disorderly 0 3—7 7  Expected

C

C

C

C

C

C

C

C
Violent Total T Expected
Property Total C Expected
Total Crimes (@ 135—-209 Expected
Abandoned Vehicle 15 -1 C 8-22 11 Expected
Disabled Vehicle 3 0 C 2—4 3 Expected
General Service 42 -2 T 2345 28  Expected
Medical 75 -2 C 63-87 59 Low
Overdose 3 1 C 2-6 5  Expected
Recovered Vehicle o) 0 C 0-1 1 Expected
Suspicious Activity 26 1 C 16—36 20 Expected
Traffic Complaints 70 2 C 40—100 76 Expected
Total Calls 835 8 C 693—977 822  Expected
Total Collisions 90 3 C 74—106 93 Expected

Five of the simple assault incidents, enough to account for all the increase, occurred at Melrose Wakefield Hospital.
They seem to be a combination of domestic assaults and assaults on staff, and they could be Encore-related if it can
be shown that hospital traffic increased because of the casino. Surprisingly, three of the fraud and credit card fraud
incidents are also located at the medical facility; others occurred up and down Main Street in both Everett and
Melrose.

Assembly Square*

Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result
Avg Type Window Feb 2020

Sexual Assault 1 0 T 1-3 1 Expected
Kidnapping o) 0 T 0-1 1 Expected
Robbery 1 1 T 2-5 1 Low
Aggravated Assault 2 1 C 0—6 4  Expected
Simple Assault 6 1 T 5—14 9 Expected
Threats 1 0 T 14 2 Expected
Arson 0 0 C 0-0 o Expected
Burglary 3 ) C 1-6 4  Expected

4 Since the new Assembly Square did not open until 2014, pre-Encore average, slope, and trend are based on data
from 2015-2019 rather than 2013—-2019. Somerville was not able to provide location-specific collision data for past
years, so collisions are based on calls for service rather than collision reports.

58



Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window Pred. Jul2019- Result

Avg Type Window Feb 2020

Theft from Building 6 2 T 4—21 7  Expected
Theft from Vehicle 7 1 C 2-13 4  Expected
Other Theft 58 6 C 13-108 48  Expected
Auto Theft 4 1 C 1-8 6 Expected
Forgery 3 1 C 0-7 7  Expected
Fraud 8 2 T 6-19 16  Expected
Credit Card Fraud 1 ) C 0-3 7 High

Identity Theft 42 7 T 21-103 23  Expected
Employee Theft 0 ) C 0—-0 o Expected
Vandalism 9 2 T 8-26 10 Expected
Drugs 6 1 C 3—-9 7  Expected
Pornography 0 0 C 0-0 o Expected
Prostitution 1 0 C 0-2 o Expected
Weapons 3 1 C 0-5 5  Expected
Disorderly 3 1 T 2-8 4  Expected
Drunk Driving 1 ) T 0-3 o Expected
Family Offenses 1 0 C 0—2 o Expected
Liquor Laws 0 o] C 0-1 1 Expected
Trespassing 1 0 C o Expected
Violent Total 3 T Expected
Property Total 3 T Expected
Total Crimes 8 T 122371 Expected
Disabled Vehicle 9 1 C 4—15 9 Expected
General Service 73 4 T 68-111 62 Low

Medical 242 -23 C 110—374 172 Expected
Overdose 4 o C 2-7 3  Expected
Psychological 6 1 C 2-10 16 High

Recovered Vehicle 2 C 14 1 Expected
Suspicious Activity 64 3 C 42—-86 80 Expected
Traffic Complaints 115 10 T 96-154 149 Expected
Total Calls 3906 166 T 3837-5304 3651 Low

Total Collisions 106 -2 C 85-127 119 Expected

Assembly Square has not yet shown many signs of increased activity, which makes sense given limited access from
Encore. Four of the increased credit card fraud incidents occurred at Kay Jewelers between September and January,
and a couple involved out-of-state defendants. There was also an increase in calls for service coded “PSYCH
EMERGENCY” scattered throughout the area with no particular commonalities.

Overall, the evidence suggests that Encore has shown no or minimal effect on crimes and calls for service in areas

near and on the way to and from the casino, the exceptions being the miscellany of potentially-related items in the
eastern and northern neighborhoods.

59



Analysis of COVID-related closing and reopening

The data for this report was mostly collected in January 2021. The report had been intended to cover through July
2020—a one-year period after Encore opened in 2019. However, a number of landmark things occurred towards
the end of this analysis period and immediately afterwards.

e 31 December 2019: The World Health Organization confirms a mysterious outbreak of a pneumonia-like
disease in Wuhan, China.
e 11 January 2020: China reports the first death from the new coronavirus.

e 22 January 2020: The first COVID-19 case in the United States is confirmed by the Centers for Disease
Control and prevention.

¢ 30 January 2020: The World Health Organization declares a global health emergency.

e 1 February 2020: The first Massachusetts COVID case is confirmed.

e 11 February 2020: The new virus is given the designation COVID-19 by the WHO.

e 26 February 2020: The first case of local transmission is confirmed in the United States.

e 29 February 2020: The first confirmed U.S. death from COVID-19, a man in Washington State.

e 10 March 2020: Massachusetts Governor Charlie Baker declares a state of emergency.

e 12 March 2020: A man who visited Encore Boston Harbor on 5 March is diagnosed with COVID-1g.
e 13 March 2020: President Trump declares a national emergency.

e 14 March 2020: The Massachusetts Gaming Commission votes unanimously to suspend operation at all
three casinos.

e 15 March 2020: The CDC warns against large gatherings of people. Governor Charlie Baker issues an order
prohibiting gatherings of more than 25 people and closes K—12 schools. Amendments would keep schools
closed for the rest of the season.

e 17 March 2020: With West Virginia’s first COVID-19 case, the virus is present in all 5o states.
e 18 March 2020: Governor Baker orders the closure of non-emergency childcare.

e 23 March 2020: Governor Baker’'s 15 March order is amended to prohibit gatherings of more than 10
people.

e 1 May 2020: Governor Baker issues an order requiring face coverings in public places.

e  8-12 July 2020: Massachusetts casinos re-open with restrictions on occupancy and types of activities.

Ultimately, Massachusetts casinos were completely closed from the period of 14 March to 8 July 2020 and have
been operating at 25% capacity since re-opening, naturally eliminating or vastly mitigating their effects on the
surrounding communities. But these closures occurred during a period in which many bars, restaurants, schools,
and other facilities were closed, too, or operated under severe restrictions. Countless workers began working
remotely, and many residents changed their attitudes about the desirability of certain activities, even if they were
technically legal.

The impact on crime and public safety was immediate and detectable. The tables below show significant decreases
in most crimes. Media reports during this period have correctly identified decreases in crimes like robbery, burglary,
thefts from persons, and thefts from vehicles. (The Encore region bucked this latter trend, showing an increase in
thefts from vehicles. Charleston bore the brunt of this increase, doubling its usual total.) The media has also widely

60



suggested that domestic violence increased during this period—a result of too many family members on top of each
other for too long—but if that's the case elsewhere, it isn't reflected in the first three months of Encore-area data.

=

AT R

R o

&

Figuré 13: Théfts frbm vehicles répbrted in Charlestown during the COVID shutdown, March-June 2020. The neighborhood had
twice its normal total.

The reason for such heavy decreases in most crimes was worked out in the 1970s by criminologists Marcus Felson
and Larry Cohen. They argued that crime is largely a byproduct of the routine activities of society. In their daily lives,
people going about their business unwittingly create opportunities for crimes to occur. They leave their houses
unoccupied during large potions of the day. They leave their cars unattended for hours in large parking lots. They
get tipsy in bars and casinos and then go walking through dark alleys. Criminals simply find the right target in the
right time and place. A pandemic suppresses such activities. People stay at home, where they and their family
members are able to guard their houses, cars, and persons. Criminal stay at home, too. Most daily interactions that
would give rise to crime are vastly diminished.

Incidents reported to region, 1 March to 30 June
Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window  Pred. Window 2020 Result

\" Type
Murder 3 ) C 1-6 2 Expected
Sexual Assault 94 -1 C 78-110 64 Low
Kidnapping 15 0 C 10—20 3 Low
Robbery 154 -17 T 74134 65 Low
Aggravated Assault 399 -26 T 260—-361 309 Expected
Simple Assault 861 -45 T 568-790 586  Expected
Threats 318 -15 T 214309 190 Low
Arson 8 -1 T 3—-9 3  Expected
Burglary 371 -61 T 190283 196  Expected
Theft from Persons 26 -3 T 11-29 12 Expected
Purse-Snatching 10 -2 T 2-8 3  Expected

[e)]
[y



Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window  Pred. Window 2020 Result

Avg Type
Shoplifting 264 -16 T 160—292 86 Low
Theft from Building 162 -11 T 100—-140 108 Expected
Theft from Vehicle 346 -52 T 149—227 301 High
Theft of MV Parts 37 -3 C 15-60 12 Low
Other Theft 820 -81 T 473644 558  Expected
Auto Theft 232 -16 T 140-226 170  Expected
Forgery 68 -2 C 51-85 31 Low
Fraud 196 -2 C 175-217 168 Low
Credit Card Fraud 115 4 C 78-152 100 Expected
Identity Theft 123 -1 C 82-164 105 Expected
Employee Theft 6 -1 C 2-10 2 Expected
Stolen Property 33 -4 T 1828 28  Expected
Vandalism 908 -100 T 462-671 581  Expected
Drugs 253 -27 T 132-177 81 Low
Drug Equipment 8 -1 C 4—12 7  Expected
Statutory Rape 13 2 T 14—27 13 Low
Gambling 1 0 C 0—2 1 Expected
Pornography 8 0 C 4—12 15 High
Prostitution 36 -11 T 7—16 o Low
Weapons 87 -4 C 64—110 73 Expected
Bad Checks 19 -3 T 7-16 7  Expected
Disorderly 166 -14 T 98-159 86 Low
Drunk Driving 113 8 T 116-172 73 Low
Drunkenness 112 -12 T 47-96 30 Low
Family Offenses 124 5 T 109-181 102 Low
Liquor Laws 45 -1 C 37-53 22 Low
Runaway 4 -1 C 0—9 o Expected
Trespassing 101 -4 T 61-110 49 Low
Violent Total 1844 -104 T 1205-1730 1219 Expected
Property Total 3725 -351 T 2130-2782 2464 Expected
Total 6659 -516 T 39915365 4242 Expected

The effect of the closures on collision reports is also quite significant. People do not crash when they aren’t driving.

Collisions reported to the region, 1 March to 30 Junes

Category Pre-MGM Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result
Avg Type Window

Vehicle in traffic 1219 -6 C 1048-1390 647 Low

Parked vehicle 172 -4 C 150-194 145 Low

Pedestrian 83 -3 C 65-101 56 Low

Bicyclist 13 -1 T 5-15 6 Expected

5> Does not include Malden or Boston. Somerville is included in the total but not the individual categories.

62



Category Pre-MGM Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result

Avg Type Window
Animal 2 0 C 0—4 1 Expected
Fixed object 67 3 C 51-83 55 Expected
Curb/barrier 28 -1 C 20—36 22 Expected
Rollover/Jackknife 4 1 C 1-8 3 Expected
Other/Unknown 65 -7 T 34—61 23 Low
Total 1837 -24 C 1617-2057 1045 Low

Re-opening

Encore Boston Harbor was allowed to re-open on 12 July 2020 after implementing a number of safety measures,
including social distancing, face masks, temperature screenings, and a maximum capacity of 25%. Other businesses
followed suit, but large events remained forbidden throughout the Commonwealth, and others operated with the
same capacity restrictions as the casino. Schools and state offices remained closed for the rest of the year, and
many private industry workers continued to work from home.

Incidents reported to region, July-December

Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window  Pred. Window 2020 Result
Av Type

Murder 6 0 C 2-10 6 Expected
Sexual Assault 140 -1 C 120-160 116 Low
Kidnapping 20 -1 C 14—26 12 Low
Robbery 250 -28 T 135-160 115 Low
Aggravated Assault 605 -15 T 493-598 528 Expected
Simple Assault 1278 -55 T 873-1262 992  Expected
Threats 437 -20 T 290467 308 Expected
Arson 12 -3 T 2-14 3  Expected
Burglary 580 -80 T 290-372 327 Expected
Theft from Persons 45 -2 T 30-48 28 Low
Purse-Snatching 16 -2 T 818 8 Expected
Shoplifting 379 -24 T 214434 195 Low
Theft from Building 276 -15 T 193—269 184 Low
Theft from Machine 0 0 C 0-1 o Expected
Theft from Vehicle 623 -63 T 345494 509 High
Theft of MV Parts 42 -3 C 18-66 24  Expected
Other Theft 1302 -122 T 760-1093 1139 High
Auto Theft 406 -31 T 231397 353 Expected
Forgery 87 -6 T 53—94 47 Low
Fraud 304 1 C 260-348 447 High
Credit Card Fraud 135 -3 C 105-165 323 High
Identity Theft 151 2 C 118-184 531 High
Employee Theft 9 -1 T 5—9 1 Low
Stolen Property 50 -4 T 26-59 49  Expected
Vandalism 1385 -137 T 793—1049 1067 High
Drugs 333 -24 T 209-300 162 Low

(o))
w



Category Pre-Enc  Slope Window  Pred. Window 2020 Result

Avg Type
Drug Equipment 11 0 C 8-14 2 Low
Statutory Rape 18 3 T 12-51 20 Expected
Gambling 2 ) C 0-5 2 Expected
Pornography 12 2 T 8-23 23  Expected
Prostitution 24 -8 T 4—8 1 Low
Weapons 137 -1 C 118-156 101 Low
Bad Checks 29 -4 C 12—46 5 Low
Disorderly 240 -18 T 136-233 123 Low
Drunk Driving 171 7 T 156—240 137 Low
Drunkenness 162 -13 T 97-141 42 Low
Family Offenses 186 3 C 152—220 189 Expected
Liquor Laws 76 2 C 67-85 60 Low
Runaway 4 -1 T 0-6 o Expected
Trespassing 144 -9 T 87—160 99 Expected
Violent Total 2736 -118 T 1927—2683 2077 Expected

-

3565-4651 5235 High
6488-8733 8278 Expected

Property Total 5803 A VA

-

Total 10089 -672

Some interesting patterns have emerged during this period:

e Boston's thefts from vehicles dropped off, replaced by new highs in Everett and Revere. These thefts are
not related spatially to the casino; they're mostly clustered in the two cities’ downtown areas. In fact, the
crimes seem to be conspicuously avoiding the area of the casino.

e Lynn skyrocketed in miscellaneous thefts, mostly at residences during the day. These may be package
thefts.

¢  Fraud (confidence games) reached record highs in Everett, Boston, and Lynn.

e Somerville suddenly reported 240 credit card frauds, most committed in “Cyberspace.” The agency had
never taken more than 27 during the same 6-month period in previous years. This almost certainly signals
a shift in reporting practices. Credit card fraud was also high in Lynn, though not nearly as dramatic.

e Lynn did something similar with identity theft and impersonation, suddenly reporting 237 incidents
during a period in which they had never reported more than 22 before. These two crimes together drove
up total property crime for the region.

¢ Vandalism was high in Chelsea and Everett, but with no patterns. There’'s a smattering on Broadway near
the casino, but most of them are concentrated in parts of the cities away from Encore.

e Everettreported only one incident that was casino-related and did not happen at the casino: a drug offense
in a parking lot at Mystic and Bow Streets in September 2020 that resulted in the arrest of a 33-year-old
man from Whitman.

e Any crime that involves large numbers of people or personal interactions remained very low, including
almost all crimes related to disorder, drugs, and liquor.

e There was still no sign of a domestic violence increase as reported by media outlets elsewhere.



Madis:

Medford!

Park St

=
%u\ &
P 6\;._‘\‘.3

2 2 Znag, s .. Se®

| & 2, o T =] bs
z %h sy F 8 coiglily
3 & & 7] . Evere“ ‘

> Slen E & ‘ - @ =
e 2 @) |\In’ﬂn st @ .hs“a\‘.*'"ﬁa_g, ® 3 ~,, ol
; : &
< ®: &
My st Fve o P =

== o &
ta Par w Revere © =
L it
B, I ¥
e &
W

Ko 0 o0 g W &

I &

2

White St

groo St

e :~r ®

.f._..

2 Charlestown

&,
Wrgg, Oaey, s, o o >
s e, . il &
“0p, X -~ 4

- s, .

1y pe e% -

£ s ;

Figure 14: Thefts from vehicles increased in the last 6 months of 2020, but not at all in the immediate radius of Encore Boston
Harbor.

St F5 Ly § Ca &

Charies A '~ Crover St
S, e 51 s =l &
o < > ® Eot F @er St <

& -
= <o .. =
B C . rOe
= @) s 2
= s
] ® - %
wd St -
Sy, 2
Park L
Rever

- Massoort-Moran _!:q
Figure 15: Vandalism incidents in Chelsea and Everett in the second half of 2020.

65



Collisions, meanwhile, recovered slightly but were still well below their normal total for the region:

Collisions reported to the region, July to December®

Category Pre-MGM Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result
Avg Type Window

Vehicle in traffic 1919 -20 C 1674—2164 1318 Low
Parked vehicle 255 -6 T 211-253 237 Expected
Pedestrian 147 1 C 132-162 118 Low
Bicyclist 22 -2 T 11-22 17 Expected
Animal 3 C 1-5 6 High
Fixed object 106 C 87-125 103 Expected
Curb/barrier 46 C 34-58 43 Expected
Rollover/Jackknife 5 ) C 2-8 8 Expected
Other/Unknown 99 -12 T 38-89 57 Expected
Total 2892 -33 C 2594-3190 2121 Low

The implications of these figures are stark. First, even during a period of limited reopening, any trends influenced
by Encore are likely to be undetectable amidst the more significant changes caused by societal reaction to COVID
unless | adopt new methods of detection. Second, 2020 (and probably 2021) will be useless as baseline years in any
future analysis of crime statistics.

6 Does not include Malden or Boston. Somerville is included in the total but not the individual categories.

66



Preliminary drunk driving analysis

Like any responsible facility that serves alcohol, Encore has a number of policies and practices in place to
prevent patrons from becoming intoxicated and particularly from driving away while intoxicated.
However, the size of the facility, the number of entrances and exits, and the difficulty in fully monitoring
any individual’s drinking activity makes it inevitable that some intoxicated patrons—and thus intoxicated
drivers—will slip through the cracks. This report makes no attempt to render judgement on what number
is reasonable; it only attempts to collect the available evidence. This preliminary analysis is offered in
anticipation of a longer report later this year that will cover all three casinos.

There are several available indicators that we can study to determine whether Encore has led to an
increase in drunk driving in the region, some better than others. Each available dataset is reviewed below.
For simplicity’s sake, | have looked at full calendar years for the statistics below.

Drunk driving arrests by jurisdiction

The statistics below showed that only Everett significantly rose above its pre-Encore average in drunk
driving arrests, although the total for the region was at the upper end of its predicted boundary. These
figures suggest that Everett is investing more police resources in drunk driving enforcement, but not

necessarily that drunk driving itself is increasing.

Arrests and summonses for drunk driving, July-February

City/Town Pre-MGM Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result
Avg Type Window

Everett 18 1 C 11-25 50 High
Boston/Charlestown 3 o C 1-5 4 Expected
Chelsea 31 o C 17-45 31 Expected
Lynn 73 1 C 57-89 89 Expected
Malden?’ 9 -2 T 3-7 3 Expected
Melrose 5 -1 C 2-8 4  Expected
Revere 43 4 C 23-63 36 Expected
Saugus 18 2 T 15-37 23 Expected
Somerville 24 1 C 17-31 18 Expected
Total 226 [ C 194—258 258 Expected

Note that the numbers plummet during the period of closures for COVID:

Arrests and summonses for drunk driving, March-June

City/Town Pre-MGM Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result
Type Window

Everett 12 1 C 7—17 6 Low

Boston/Charlestown 1 o) C 0—2 o Expected

Chelsea 18 1 C 11-25 20 Expected

Lynn 34 1 C 25—43 24 Low

Melrose 4 o C 1-7 o Low

7 Malden figures are only through December.



City/Town Pre-MGM Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result
Avg Type Window

Revere 20 3 T 2135 12 Low

Saugus 13 2 T 1425 7 Low

Somerville 10 0 C 6-14 4 Low

Total 113 8 T 116-172 73 Low

Crashes that involve an arrest or summons for drunk driving

A better set of statistics involves merging the original call-for-service with the offense dataset to find
offenses of drunk driving that originated as calls-for-service for traffic collisions. This should capture most
of the relevant incidents, missing only cases where the determination of drunk driving happened well
after the original call, or when the original call for some reason was not coded as a collision. Since we do
not have call-for-service data for Boston, we cannot include the city in the analysis.

Calls for service for traffic collisions with a later offense for drunk driving, July—February

City/Town Pre-MGM Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result
Avg Type Window

Everett 3 o C 1-5 17 High
Chelsea 17 0 C 11-23 16 Expected
Lynn 39 2 C 2652 40 Expected
Malden?® 5 -1 T 1-8 3 Expected
Melrose 3 0 C 1-5 2 Expected
Revere 19 1 C 11-27 18 Expected
Saugus 7 1 C 311 8 Expected
Somerville 13 -1 C 9-17 12 Expected
Total 106 2 C 92-120 116 Expected

The results mirror the drunk driving arrest statistics above. Even when we consider only drunk driving
arrests that occurred after crashes, thus eliminating the bias of extra police enforcement, we still find
Everett significantly above its normal volume while the other communities are all within expected range.

As with total arrests, the numbers take a dive during the four months that Encore was closed for business,
but then again so was almost every bar and restaurant in the area.

Calls for service for traffic collisions with a later offense for drunk driving, March-June

City/Town Pre-MGM Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result
Avg Type Window

Everett 4 o) C 2-6 1 Low
Chelsea 9 1 C 5-13 8 Expected
Lynn 19 1 C 14—24 13 Low
Melrose 2 0 C 0—4 o  Expected
Revere 10 1 T 8-18 0 Low
Saugus 5 0 C 2-8 0 Low
Somerville 5 o C 2—9 2 Expected

8 Malden figures are only through December.



City/Town Pre-MGM Slope Window Pred. 2020 Result

Avg Type Window
Total 53 3 T 54—78 24 Low

During the period that drunk driving arrests caused by crashes were high in Everett, 11 of the 17 incidents
occurred on Broadway, 6 of them in the block of Encore Boston Harbor. However, the Everett Police
marked none of these as “casino-related” and indicated in discussions that the “last drink” locations
reported by the drivers had occurred elsewhere.

Drunk driving arrests made following a crash, July 2019-February 2020

e L ] — B

Malden o /

/ Ly Revere

Everett

| Sdmarville

“Last Drink” Locations from adjudication

According to data received from the Massachusetts Alcoholic Beverages Control Commission, Encore
Boston Harbor was named as the location of the “last drink” for 7 drunk drivers whose cases were
adjudicated in 2019 and 2020, a number that will likely rise as more cases that resulted in arrest during
this period wrap up in court. MGM Springfield was named in 18 adjudications during the same period,
and Plainridge Park in 5.

“Last Drink” locations as reported to police

This dataset is currently undergoing collection within all three casino areas, and it will be released in a
special report later this year. However, a preliminary report fro the Everett Police says that although
arrests and collisions increased on Broadway, the “last drink” statements of those arrested have
indicated that they’re coming from somewhere other than Encore.

69



Conclusion
There's a lot of “smoke” (circumstantial evidence) suggesting at least a mild increase in drunk driving

caused by the casino, but so far not much of a “fire” (direct evidence). Expanded data collection for the
special report should help us make a final determination.

70



Conclusions and future analytical plans

The increases in crimes and the existence of patterns that can be tied specifically or even circumstantially to Encore
Boston Harbor are small and rare. The casino has reported a certain amount of crime within its own walls, creating
new challenges for the responding law enforcement agencies, but except for a few phenomena discussed within
this report, the influence of Encore does seem to be contained within those walls.

This report mostly covers a period that ended before society was completely overturned by the COVID-19
pandemic. During the following near-year, Encore was occasionally closed and occasionally open, but never
operating at full capacity, and never again with a populace as interested in traveling and intermingling with others.
This situation has also affected bars, restaurants, hotels, stores, schools, and entertainment venues.

Most crime is a consequence of the routine activities of everyday life—moments of opportunity seized by offenders
when they encounter suitable targets at the right place and time. COVID-19 has brough essentially unmeasurable
changes to these routine activities. As a crime analyst, | have seen nothing like it except in occasional cases of
natural disasters.

As if COVID-19 was not enough, 31 May 2020 marked the beginning of another major social movement, when
George Floyd was tragically killed by the Minneapolis Police. This act sparked a wave of mass protests that included
the Boston region The effects of these protests and their larger movement on police practice will somehow have to
be assessed in the middle of an already-unsettled time.

Until life returns to normal, and perhaps not even for a while after that, the continuing effects of Encore on public
safety issues in the surrounding communities will be very difficult to untangle from changes wrought by the general
COVID upheaval. That does not mean they will be impossible to discern, but the task may require significantly
different and innovative analytical methods, and | am not prepared at this time to say exactly what those will be.

While | work with other researchers and analysts to generate ideas for continuing analysis, there are several reports
waiting to be written based largely on pre-COVID data. These include:

e Ananalysis of changes in the Encore area compared to control areas and the rest of the state. Statewide
data for 2019 and 2020 will be available soon.

e A comparative analysis of traffic collisions in the Encore area versus control areas. This probably will not
be possible until a public statewide crash dataset is available, likely in 2021.

e Comparison of Encore Boston Harbor with other casinos, normalized by the number of annual visitors each
facility receives. We are currently the process of collecting data from comparison casinos nationwide.

® A more thorough analysis of drunk driving and alcohol-related crashes, which will be released as a separate
report that covers all three casinos.

e A summary report with the aggregated findings from Plainridge Park, MGM Springfield, and Encore
Boston Harbor.

Watch for these additional reports in 2020 and 2021.

71



Appendix: Abbreviations and definitions

Acronyms and abbreviations

CAD Computer-aided Dispatch
(system)

IBR Incident-based reporting

MGC Massachusetts Gaming
Commission

FBI Federal Bureau of Investigation

IACA International Association of

Crime Analysts

MACA Massachusetts Association of
Crime Analysts

NIBRS National Incident-based
Reporting System

ODBC Open Database Connectivity

RMS Records Management System

SEIGMA Social and Economic Impacts of
Gaming in Massachusetts

UCR Uniform Crime Reporting

(program)

A police database that holds information about
police dispatches to calls for service, including
incidents discovered by police officers. Some but
not all of the incidents reported in CAD are crimes
and have longer records in the RMS.

See NIBRS.

The commonwealth agency charged with
overseeing and regulating gaming in Massachusetts

National investigative agency, part of the U.S.
Department of Justice, in charge of collecting
national crime statistics.

A global nonprofit professional association that
provides training, literature, and networking to
individuals who analyze crime data.

A nonprofit professional association that provides
training, literature, and networking to individuals
who analyze crime data in New England.

FBI program for data collection that supersedes
UCR. Collects more specific data about a wider
variety of crimes. With only a few exceptions, all
Massachusetts agencies report to NIBRS and all
Massachusetts RMS vendors have implemented
NIBRS coding standards.

A technology developed by Microsoft that allows
any application that uses a database to connect to
any database source. The primary mechanism by
which we can extract data from police CAD and
RMS databases.

A police data system that stores information about
crimes and offenders. See also CAD.

A multi-year research project hosted by the
University of Massachusetts Amherst School of
Public and Health Sciences. The SEIGMA project
has a broader mandate for its study than just crime.

National program for the reporting of crime
statistics to the FBI. Captures only summary data
about a limited number of crime types. Contrast
with NIBRS.

72



Crime definitions

The following are definitions of the crime categories used in this report. These are mostly drawn without
modification from the FBI's definitions for NIBRS crime categories. In almost all cases, attempts to commit these
crimes are counted equally with completed offenses. These crimes must, of course, be reported to the police to be
included in this report.

Aggravated Assault: An attack by one person upon another for the purpose of inflicting severe bodily injury.
Aggravated assault is either accompanied by the use of a deadly weapon (e.g., gun, knife, club) or some mechanism
that would result in serious harm (e.g., pushing someone down a staircase), or by serious injury even with a weapon
thatisn‘t normally “deadly” (e.g., punching someone and breaking his jaw). If the incident involved neither a deadly
weapon nor serious injury, it's coded as a simple assault instead.

Arson: Intentional burning of a structure, vehicle, or personal property.

Auto theft: Thefts of vehicles capable of operating under their own power, including automobiles, trucks, buses,
motorcycles, and snowmobiles.

Bad checks: The issuance of checks on accounts with insufficient funds. This type of crime is typically only reported
by police when an arrest is made or an individual is charged.

Burglary: Unlawful entry of a structure, including residences, commercial buildings, and government buildings. The
entry does not have to occur by force (e.g., a “break-in”). The usual motive for burglary is to steal something inside,

but this isn't a necessary part of the definition.

Counterfeiting/forgery: Use or possession of an altered, copied, or imitated negotiable or non-negotiable
instrument, including U.S. currency, checks, and money orders.

Credit card fraud: Use of a stolen credit card or credit card data to obtain goods or services.

Disorderly: Disorderly conduct that rises to the level of a criminal charge.

Drug offenses: Manufacturing, sale, trafficking, transporting, or possession of controlled substances. Typically,
“incidents” of such crime are arrests, as the only way such incidents are reported is when they are discovered by the
police.

Drunk driving: Operation of a motor vehicle while intoxicated; usually while above a state-designated legal blood
alcohol level. As with many of the drug and alcohol categories, such incidents are only reported when discovered
by the police, usually resulting in an arrest.

Drunkenness: Naturally, not all incidents of intoxication are a police matter. Police incidents that fall into this
category are usually incidents of either public intoxication or individuals so dangerously intoxicated that they are
placed into protective custody until sober.

Employee theft: Also, "embezzlement.” Theft of an employer’s property by an employee.

Extortion: Theft or attempted theft of money, goods, or services through non-violent coercion.

Family offenses: Unlawful, nonviolent acts by a family member that threaten the physical, mental, or economic

well-being of another family member and are not classified under any other category. This category is only reported
when someone is charged, and it almost always involves violations of restraining orders or child neglect.

73



Forgery: Forgery of personal checks, business checks, U.S. currency, or similar negotiable and nonnegotiable
documents.

Fraud. Theft of property by lying in such a way that convinces a victim to surrender money or goods. It is theft
through some kind of scheme, “con game,” or ruse.

Gambling offenses: Crimes related to illegal gambling, promoting gambling, operating gambling machines,
bookmaking, and sports tampering.

Identity theft: Representation of oneself as another (actual) person or use of another person’s identifying
information to obtain goods or services, housing, medical care, or status.

Kidnapping: The abduction of one person by another, whether through force or guile. Most incidents coded as such
as “custodial” kidnappings involving a parent taking a child in violation of a custodial agreement.

Liquor law violations: lllegal manufacturing, sale, possession, or consumption of intoxicating drinks, often because
the offender is below the legal age.

Murder: the killing of one person by another, including non-negligent homicides.

Other thefts: A general category that includes thefts of services (e.g., gas drive-offs), thefts from persons (e.g.,
pocket-picking), thefts from outdoor public areas. Essentially, any non-burglary, non-robbery theft that is not
covered in one of the “theft” or “shoplifting” categories (below) is categorized here.

Pornography: Possession, sale, or manufacturing of illegal pornography. Since pornography is legal in
Massachusetts, such incidents generally involve minors, either as the subjects or recipients of the pornography.

Property crime: An aggregate category that sums the totals of arson, burglary, thefts from persons, purse
snatching, shoplifting, thefts from buildings, thefts from machines, thefts from vehicles, thefts of vehicle parts,
other theft, auto theft, forgery, fraud, credit card fraud, identity theft, employee theft, extortion, stolen property,
and vandalism.

Prostitution: Promotion or participation of sexual activities for profit. As with drug offenses, most “incidents” of
prostitution are arrests, as the crime is rarely reported except when discovered by the police.

Purse snatching: A theft in which an offender grabs a purse off the arm of the victim. If any significant force,
violence, or threats are employed, this crime becomes a robbery.

Robbery: Taking or attempting to take anything of value from another person by force or violence or threat of force
or violence. "Muggings” and “hold-ups” are examples of robberies. A robbery requires a direct confrontation
between the offender and victim; houses and buildings cannot be “robbed.”

Sexual assault: Any sexual act directed against another person (of either sex), either by force or otherwise against
the person’s will, or non-forcibly but when the victim is incapable of giving consent because of temporary or
permanent mental or physical incapacity. This category combines rapes, indecent assaults, molestation, and sexual
penetration with an object.

Shoplifting: Thefts of items offered for sale at retail establishments.

Simple assault: An assault that does not involve a dangerous weapon and does not result in significant injury.

Statutory rape: Nonforcible sexual activity with an individual who is unable to give legal consent because of age.

74



Stolen property offenses: Possession or sale of property previously stolen including motor vehicles and personal
property. Often, the person possessing the property is the one who stole it in the first place, but this category is
used when the actual thief cannot be determined.

Thefts from buildings: Thefts of items from commercial or government buildings open to the public, where such
entry does not constitute burglary. This often takes the form of thefts of employees’ property at businesses open
to the public.

Thefts from machines: Thefts from coin-operated machines, either for the coins or for the products inside.

Thefts from persons: Thefts of personal property from the direct control of the owner. These often take the form
of pocket-pickings or thefts of or from diners’ purses at restaurants. If any force, violence, or threats are employed,
this crime becomes a robbery.

Thefts from vehicles: Thefts of items from motor vehicles. The category includes breaking into vehicles (e.g.,
smashing a window), unlocked entry, and thefts of items from a vehicle’s exterior, such as pickup truck beds. Note
that thefts of vehicle parts are in a separate category.

Thefts of vehicle parts: Theft of parts or accessories from motor vehicles, including wheels, license plates, and
engine parts.

Threats: Threats to commit physical violence by one person against another. If any weapon is actually displayed or
employed, or if an assault is actually attempted, the crime is categorized as a simple or aggravated assault instead.

Trespassing: lllegal entry to a non-public part of a residence or business. Such entry is rarely to the interior of the
property, or it would be coded as burglary instead. Most reportable incidents of trespassing are either after notice
(e.g., a repeat shoplifter who is ordered not to return to a store) or at posted locations (e.g., construction sites,
abandoned buildings).

Vandalism: Destruction or defacement of public property, buildings, vehicles, or personal property.

Violent crime: An aggregate category that sums totals for murder, sexual assault, kidnapping, robbery, aggravated
assault, simple assault, and threats.

Weapon offenses: Possession, sale, or manufacturing of illegal weapons. This is often an additional offense
discovered by police during arrests for other crimes.

Call for service definitions

Calls for service include both criminal and noncriminal police incidents and activities. In the case of criminal
activities, such incidents receive a longer, more detailed report in the police records management system, and it so
it makes more sense to analyze them using the crime categories above than in their original call-for-service form.
Thus, the only incident types we have selected for analysis in this report are noncriminal. Definitions of those types
appear below. Because the police officer does not usually write a full report for calls for service, the dataset available
for analysis is more limited.

Administrative: A wide variety of call types that have to do with the administration of a police department, such as
delivery of documents to businesses or other government facilities, attendance at meetings, vehicle maintenance,
or even meal breaks. Agencies use their call-for-service systems to document such activities so that, later, they can
determine what a particular officer or unit was doing at a particular time, although the incidents are not truly “calls

75



for service.” Practices differ significantly between police agencies as to what is reported under this category, and it
is generally not useful for analysis.

Alarm: A burglar, panic, or medical alarm that required a response but (probably) turned out to be false or would
have a different final code.

Animal complaint: Calls involving sick, dangerous, or wild animals, animals in danger (e.qg., leftin a hot or cold car),
or loose or noisy pets.

Assist other agency: A call type that involves rendering aid to a neighboring police or other government agency
for any number of purposes, including serious crimes, fire and medical issues, and traffic issues.

Crime enforcement: Any number of pro-active police activities meant to deter crime, generally taking the form of
a“directed patrol” to a particular location during a peak time for criminal activity (based either on citizen complaints
or internal analysis). Though not a technical “call for service,” such incidents are recorded in the CAD database to
document the officer’s activity.

Disabled vehicle: A call for service for a vehicle suffering physical or mechanical trouble, usually broken down in an
active roadway.

Disturbance: Any of a variety of types of disorderly conduct, disputes, fights, and excessive noise.

Domestic dispute: A dispute between family members, spouses, or intimate partners that has not risen to the level
of physical violence.

General service: Minor calls for service that involve rendering aid to residents and visitors for a variety of issues
such as giving directions, installing car seats, dealing with lockouts, and providing physical aid.

Gunshots: Reports of gunshots fired, whether phoned in by a resident or received from automatic detection
services.

Hunting: Reports of hunters hunting off-season, in protected areas, with illegal gear, or in an unsafe manner.

Lost property: Calls for service involving lost personal property such as wallets and mobile phones. If there is any
indication of theft, these incidents are typically reported under the appropriate crime category.

Medical aid: All calls for medical aids except unattended deaths and overdoses. Police responses only are included
in the figures in this report.

Missing person: a runaway or other missing person.

Prisoner transport: documentation of a police agency transporting an arrested person from one facility to another.
Psychological issue: Calls for service involving individuals with mental health issues.

Suspicious activity: Any suspicious person, vehicle, or other activity, whether identified by an officer or citizen.
Traffic collision: A collision involving at least one motor vehicle.

Traffic complaint: Complaint about reckless driving, illegal or unsafe parking, or other traffic issues.

Trespassing: Trespassing on private or public property.

76



Vehicle stop: An officer pulls over a vehicle for a moving or equipment violation.

Warrant service: a call type that documents the service, or attempted service, of an arrest warrant or search
warrant. The category is entirely police-directed.

Youth disorder: Disorderly incidents involving youths congregating, skateboarding, making noise, and so forth.

Offense types by associated crime category

Offense Category Offense Category
Aggravated Assault Violent Crime Liquor Law Violations Drug/Alcohol Crime
All Other Other Crime Murder Violent Crime
Arson Property Crime Other Thefts Property Crime
Auto Theft Property Crime Peeping Tom Other Crime
Bad Checks Property Crime Pornography Societal Crime
Burglary Property Crime Prostitution Societal Crime
Credit Card Fraud Property Crime Robbery Violent Crime
Disorderly Societal Crime Runaway Other Crime
Drug Equipment | Drug/Alcohol Crime Sexual Assault Violent Crime
Offense Shoplifting Property Crime
Drug Offense Drug/Alcohol Crime Simple Assault Violent Crime
Drunk Driving Drug/Alcohol Crime Statutory Rape Other Crime
Drunkenness Drug/Alcohol Crime Stolen Property Offense | Property Crime
Employee Theft Property Crime Thefts from Buildings Property Crime
Extortion Property Crime Thefts from Vehicles Property Crime
Family Offenses Other Crime Thefts of Vehicle Parts Property Crime
Forgery Property Crime Threats Violent Crime
Fraud/Con Games Property Crime Trespassing Other Crime
Gambling Societal Crime Vandalism Property Crime
Identity Theft Property Crime Weapon Offenses Societal Crime
Kidnapping Violent Crime

77



Division of Racing

TO: Cathy Judd-Stein, Chair
Gayle Cameron, Commissioner
Eileen O’Brien, Commissioner
Enrique Zuniga, Commissioner

FROM: Alexandra Lightbown, Director of Racing

CC: Karen Wells, Executive Director
Todd Grossman, General Counsel

DATE: March 25, 2021

RE: Plainridge Key Operating Personnel and Racing Officials

Dear Commissioners:

Plainridge Park Casino Director of Racing Steve O'Toole has submitted a request for
approval of their Key Operating Personnel and Racing Officials dated March 16, 2021. They
are in the process of applying for their 2021 licenses. The State police will conduct their
background checks.

Recommendation: That the Commission approve the request of Plainridge Park
Casino to approve their March 16, 2021 list of Key Operating Personnel and Racing
Officials, pending satisfactory completion of licensure by the Massachusetts Gaming
Commission Racing Division and satisfactory completion of their background checks
by the Massachusetts State Police.

* % %k Kk
Massachusetts Gaming Commission
101 |‘1ttt{(fl';|| Hh'(f(‘.l‘, 1'.)."' |‘\[|'u'ar', Hrmmn, Mier;lL‘]'lllr:(“t'l'&Q 02110 | TEL 617.979.8400 | FAX 617.725.0258 | W \\4'.I(('\lf'\;l‘-‘;_:‘ﬁlltlaI:I:“,_"‘.&‘HEH




P

PLAINRIDGE PARK
CASINO

March 16, 2021

Alexandra Lightbown

Director of Racing

Massachusetts Gaming Commission
101 Federal St.

Boston, MA 02110

Dear Director Lightbown,

Plainridge Park Casino respectfully requests approval of the following operating personnel and racing officials
for the 2021 racing season;

OPERATING PERSONNEL

Steve O’Toole Director of Racing

Lenny Calderone Racing Services Manager

Jason Savastano Mutuel Manager

Andrew Tavares Assistant Racing Services Manager
Kelly Cavaco Assistant Racing Services Manager
RACING OFFICIALS

AnnMarie Mancini Presiding Judge

Paul Verrette Racing Secretary

John Mattero Clerk of Course

Gregory Brewster Paddock Judge

Richard Flanders Starter / Patrol Judge

Lenny Calderone Announcer

Dr. Jeremy Murdock Racing Veterinarian

Chrissy Nadeau Identifier

Kelly Cavaco Photo Finish / Timing

Thomas Ryan Marshall / Outrider

Steve O’Toole Back up Presiding Judge & Starter / Patrol Judge
Andrew Tavares Back up Photo Finish / Timing
Brenda Faffard Back up Photo Finish / Timing

Sincerel;y""&-' / /_w

“Steve O’Toole
Director of Racing
Plainridge Park Casino
Plainville Gaming and Redevelopment, LLC

Plainridge Park Casino . 301 Washington Street Plainville, MA 02762 ’ 508.576.4500

www.plainridgeparkcasino.com




Division of Racing

TO: Cathy Judd-Stein, Chair
Gayle Cameron, Commissioner
Eileen O’Brien, Commissioner
Enrique Zuniga, Commissioner

FROM: Alexandra Lightbown, Director of Racing

CC: Karen Wells, Executive Director
Todd Grossman, General Counsel

DATE: March 25, 2021

RE: Plainridge Waiver Request of 205 CMR 3:12 (6)

Dear Commissioners:

Plainridge Park Casino Director of Racing Steve O'Toole has submitted a request for
approval of a waiver of 205 CMR 3:12 (6) for the 2021 racing season at Plainridge Park
Casino.

205 CMR 3:12 (6) reads: The Judges shall require all horses not showing a satisfactory
racing line during the previous 30 days to go a qualifying mile in a race before the Judges.
The Association may request a waiver of this requirement.

The requested waiver would change the requirement from 30 days to 45 days. Plainridge
requested this same waiver in 2018, 2019, and 2020 and the Commission approved it.
There have been no issues with this waiver.

Recommendation: That the Commission approve the request of Plainridge Park
Casino of a waiver for the 2021 racing season with respect to 205 CMR 3:12 (6) which
would require all horses not showing a satisfactory racing line during the previous
45 days to go a qualifying mile in a race before the Judges.

* % %k Kk
Massachusetts Gaming Commission
101 I“t‘.t{(‘l".l‘ Hrruur, 1'.)."' I‘\Il'll'll', Hrmmn, ]V[:lriﬂ;lt‘]'lllri(?t‘l‘&i 02110 | TEL 617.979.8400 | FAX 617.725.0258 | WW w.Hmw-!‘:.l'.uiil:;_:.a‘wtrx

o —




P

PLAINRIDGE PARK
CASINO

[ e R e ——— - = S

March 16, 2021

Alexandra Lightbown

Director of Racing

Massachusetts Gaming Commission
101 Federal St.

Boston, MA 02110

Dear Director Lightbown,

Plainridge Park Casino respectfully requests approval of a waiver for the 2021 racing season with respect to 205
CMR 3:12 (6) which would require all horses not showing a satisfactory racing line during the previous 45 days
to go a qualifying mile in a race before the Judges.

205 CMR 3:12 (6) reads as follows;

(6) The Judges shall require all horses not showing a satisfactory racing line during the previous 30 days to go a
qualifying mile in a race before the Judges. The Association may request a waiver of this requirement.

Sincerely

“Steve O’Toole
Director of Racing
Plainridge Park Casino
Plainville Gaming and Redevelopment, LLC

Plainridge Park Casino ’ 301 Washington Street Plainville, MA 02762 ’ 508.576.4500

www.plainridgeparkcasino.com




	0) Cover Page 3-25-21
	3-25-21 Commission Meeting Agenda FINAL
	2a) 12-03-2020 Meeting Minutes (final)
	2b) 12-17-2020 Meeting Minutes (final)
	4a1) PS presentation
	4a2) MGM18MonthEvaluationv15
	4b) Encore1YearReportv11
	7ai) Plainridge Racing Officials request 2021
	7aii) Plainridge Racing Officials Request
	7bi) Plainridge Waiver 205 CMR 312 6 Request 2021
	7bii) Plainridge Request  Qualifying Waiver

